
 

   
 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 
  

 
NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING AND AGENDA 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission  
 

December 12th, 2024, ▪ 6:30 PM 
 Marin Wildfire Prevention Authority Meeting Room | Suite 335 | 1600 Los Gamos Drive, San 

Rafael, CA (Use the Main Lobby (Lobby A) entrance, which is located on the freeway side of the 
building.) 

 
PUBLIC ACCESS AND PUBLIC COMMENT INSTRUCTIONS 

 FOR HYBRID ATTENDEES 
 
In addition to in-person attendance, as a courtesy, and technology permitting, members of the public 
may also attend by virtual teleconference. However, LAFCo cannot guarantee that the public’s access 
to teleconferencing technology will be uninterrupted, and technical difficulties may occur from time 
to time. Unless required by the Brown Act, the meeting will continue despite technical difficulties for 
participants using the teleconferencing option. Members of the public may access and watch a live 
stream of the meeting on Zoom at https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81565499122. Alternatively, the public 
may listen in to the meeting by dialing +1 669 444 9171 and entering Meeting ID 815 6549 9122# 
when prompted.   
 
SPOKEN PUBLIC COMMENTS FOR HYBRID ATTENDEES: 
Spoken comments will be accepted through the teleconference meeting. To address the Commission, 
click on the link  https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81565499122  to access the Zoom-based meeting. 

1. You will be asked to enter an email address and name. We request that you identify yourself 
by name, as this will be visible online and will be used to notify you that it is your turn to 
speak. 

2. When the Commission calls for the item on which you wish to speak, click on the “raise hand” 
icon. Speakers will be notified shortly before they are called to speak. 

3. When called, please limit your remarks to the time limit allotted (3 minutes). 

CALL TO ORDER BY CHAIR   

ROLL CALL BY CLERK 

AGENDA REVIEW 
The Chair or designee will consider any requests to remove or rearrange items by members.  

PUBLIC OPEN TIME 
This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Commission on any 
matter not on the current agenda. All statements that require a response will be referred to staff for 
reply in writing or will be placed on the Commission’s agenda for consideration at a later meeting. 
Speakers are limited to three minutes.  

CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS (discussion and possible action)     
All items calendared as consent are considered ministerial or non-substantive and subject to a single 
motion approval. The Chair or designee will also consider requests from the Commission to pull an 
item for discussion. 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81565499122
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81565499122
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81565499122


MARIN LAFCo 
December 12th, 2024, Regular Meeting Agenda 

Page 2 of 3 

1. Approval of Minutes for October 10, 2024, Regular Meeting

2. Commission Ratification of Payments from October 1, 2024, to November 30, 2024

3. Approval of 2025 Commission Calendar

PUBLIC HEARING 

4. Approval or Resolution 24-10, Annexation of 335 Highland Ave., San Rafael (015-241-12)
into San Rafael Sanitary District. (LAFCo File #1386) with Waiver of Notice, Hearing, and
Protest Proceedings and Finding it Exempt from CEQA pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines
Section 15319

5. Approval or Resolution 24-11, Annexation of 260 Highland Ave., San Rafael (016-021-64)
into San Rafael Sanitary District. (LAFCo File #1387) with Waiver of Notice, Hearing, and
Protest Proceedings and Finding it Exempt from CEQA pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines
Section 15319

6. Presentation of the Central Marin Wastewater Municipal Service Review Public Draft. This is
a hearing for the commission to review and make recommendations. (The hearing will be 
continued to the next meeting.) 

BUSINESS ITEMS (discussion and possible action)  
Business Items involve administrative, budgetary, legislative, or personnel matters and may or may 
not be subject to public hearings. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT 
a) Budget Update 2024-2025
b) Current and Pending Proposals
c) Marin LAFCo Work Plan
d) CALAFCO Update
e) Deputy Executive Officer Job Description

COMMISSIONER ANNOUNCEMENTS AND REQUESTS 

ADJOURNMENT TO NEXT MEETING 
February 13th, 2024, at 6:30 P.M. | Marin Wildfire Prevention Authority 

Attest:   Claire Devereux 
Clerk/Jr. Policy Analyst 



MARIN LAFCo 
December 12th, 2024, Regular Meeting Agenda 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 

 

Any writings or documents pertaining to an open session item provided to a majority of the Commission less than 72 hours prior to a regular meeting 
shall be made available for public inspection at Marin LAFCo Administrative Office, 1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220, San Rafael, CA 94903, 
during normal business hours. 
 
Pursuant to GC Section 84308, if you wish to participate in the above proceedings, you or your agent are prohibited from making a campaign contribution 
of $250 or more to any Commissioner. This prohibition begins on the date you begin to actively support or oppose an application before LAFCo and 
continues until 3 months after a final decision is rendered by LAFCo. If you or your agent have made a contribution of $250 or more to any Commissioner 
during the 12 months preceding the decision, in the proceeding that Commissioner must disqualify himself or herself from the decision. However, 
disqualification is not required if the Commissioner returns that campaign contribution within 30 days of learning both about the contribution and the 
fact that you are a participant in the proceedings. Separately, any person with a disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) may receive 
a copy of the agenda or a copy of all the documents constituting the agenda packet for a meeting upon request. Any person with a disability covered 
under the ADA may also request a disability-related modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, in order to participate in a 
public meeting. Please contact the LAFCo office at least three (3) working days prior to the meeting for any requested arraignments or accommodations.   
 
Marin LAFCo  
Administrative Office 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael California 94903 
 
T: 415-448-5877 
E: staff@marinlafco.org  
W: marinlafco.org  



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   

 

m 

Barbara Coler, Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Vacant, Alternate  
City/Town 

Lew Kious, Regular 
Almonte Sanitary District 
 

Craig Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

Cathryn Hilliard, Alternate 
Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

 

Larry Chu, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Roger Smith, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Vice-Chair 
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  

County of Marin 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT  

December 12th, 2024 

Item No. 1 (Consent Item) 

 

TO:   Local Agency Formation Commission   

FROM:  Claire Devereux, Clerk/Junior Analyst    

SUBJECT:  Approval of Minutes for October 10th, 2024, Regular Meeting  

 

Background  

The Ralph M. Brown Act was enacted by the State Legislature in 1953 and establishes standards 

and processes therein for the public to attend and participate in meetings of local government bodies 

as well as those local legislative bodies created by State law; the latter category applying to 

LAFCos.   

 

Discussion  

The action minutes for the October 10th regular meeting accurately reflect the Commission’s 

actions as recorded by staff. A video recording of the meeting is also available online for viewing 

at https://www.marinlafco.org/meetings 

 

Staff Recommendation for Action 

1. Staff recommendation – Approve the draft minutes prepared for the October 10th, 2024, meeting 

with any desired corrections or clarifications. 

 

2. Alternative option – Continue consideration of the item at the next regular meeting and provide 

direction to staff, as needed.  

 

Procedures for Consideration 

This item has been placed on the agenda as part of the consent calendar. Accordingly, a successful 

motion to approve the consent calendar will include taking affirmative action on the staff 

recommendation as provided unless otherwise specified by the Commission. 

 

Attachment: 

1) Draft Minutes for October 10th, 2024 

  

 

 

https://www.marinlafco.org/meetings


 

   
 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 
   

DRAFT 
NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING MINUTES  

 
Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 

 
Thursday, October 20th, 2024 

 
CALL TO ORDER  
Chair Coler called the meeting to order at 6:35 P.M. 
 
ROLL CALL BY COMMISSION CLERK 
Roll was taken and quorum was met. The following were in attendance:  
 
Commissioners Present:     Barbara Coler 
   Dennis Rodoni 
   Steve Burdo 
   Eric Lucan 
   Craig Murray 
   Larry Chu 

 
Alternate Commissioners Present:   Cathryn Hilliard (as a voting member) 
 
Marin LAFCo Staff Present:    Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
          Jeren Batchelder-Seibel, Deputy Executive Officer 
          Claire Devereux, Clerk/Jr. Policy Analyst 
 
Marin LAFCo Counsel Present:    Malathy Subramanian 
 
Commissioners Absent:     Lew Kious 
 
Alternate Members Absent:     Roger Smith 
          Stephanie Moulton-Peters 
           
 
AGENDA REVIEW 
 
No comments or changes were made to the agenda. 
 
Chair Coler opened public comment. Seeing no one wished to speak public comment was closed. 
 
CLOSED SESSION  
 
Conference with Labor Negotiators (Gov. Code 54957.6) 
Agency Designated Representative: Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
Unrepresented employees: Deputy Executive Officer 
 
 
PUBLIC OPEN TIME 
Chair Coler opened the public open time. Hearing no request to speak, the Chair closed the public open time.  
 
 



MARIN LAFCo 
October 10th, 2024, Regular Meeting Minutes 

Page 2 of 5 
 

 

 

CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS   
1. Approval of Minutes for October 10, 2024, Regular Meeting  

 
2. Commission Ratification of Payments from October 1, 2024, to November 30, 2024 

 
Approved: M/S by Commissioners Murray and Lucan to approve consent calendar items 
Ayes: Commissioners Coler, Chu, Murray, Lucan, Hilliard, Rodoni and Burdo 
Nays:   
Abstain:  
Absent:  
Motion approved unanimously.  
 
 
BUSINESS ITEMS 
 

3. Discussion and Possible Changes to Personnel Handbook 
 
Commissioner Chu presented topics discussed at the personnel committee meeting. 
 
Chair Coler asked the commission if there were any questions or comments for Commissioner Chu or EO Fried. 
 
Chair Coler expressed gratitude to committee members, staff, and Laura Fowler with BBK on the work done during 
the meeting and on the handbook.  
 
Chair Coler opened public comment. Seeing no one wished to speak public comment was closed. 
 
Approved: M/S by Commissioners Hilliard and Burdo to approve changes made to the personnel handbook. 
Ayes: Commissioners Coler, Chu, Murray, Lucan, Hilliard, Rodoni and Burdo 
Nays:   
Abstain:  
Absent:  
Motion:  
 

4. Discussion on Future Municipal Service Review and Sphere of Influence Study Format 
 
DEO Seibel presented the staff Report. 
 
Commissioner Murray asked if there are some other ways to figure out population counts for unincorporated areas if 
census data cannot be used. 
 
DEO Seibel stated that first census block groups will be used, and closest estimations are used around the state. An 
exact number will not be used if it is not available. 
 
Chair Coler stated she likes the new work plan, especially with the separation of CSA’s and Flood Control Districts.  
 
Chair Coler opened public comment. Seeing no one wished to speak public comment was closed. 
 
Approved: M/S by Commissioners Hilliard and Burdo to approve future Municipal Service Review and Sphere of 
Influence Format 
Ayes: Commissioners Coler, Chu, Murray, Lucan, Hilliard, Rodoni and Burdo 
Nays:   
Abstain:  
Absent:  
Motion approved unanimously. 
 



MARIN LAFCo 
October 10th, 2024, Regular Meeting Minutes 

Page 3 of 5 
 

 

 

5. Shared Cost Agreement between Marin LAFCo, Tiburon Fire Protection District and the City of Belvedere 
and issuance of RFP on financial feasibility and impacts of possible annexation of Belvedere into the 
District 

 
EO Fried Presented on the Staff Report 
 
Chair Coler opened it up to the commission. 
 
Commissioner Murray stated he saw we are the lead agency and inquired if that would change at any point.  
 
EO Fried stated once we receive the report back conversations between the agencies will ensue and discussions of 
financial responsibilities will begin with Fried leading the process with the two agencies driving the discussion.  
 
Commissioner Murray inquired on financial feasibility and outcomes. 
 
EO Fried stated that is what the consultant will provide, and that the City has no assets and already contracts with 
Tiburon Fire so in those regards it is different to past consolidations and simpler.  
 
Commissioner Hilliard stated this is a great start and mentioned the contract between Tiburon Fire Protection 
District Department and Marin County Fire. 
 
Commissioner Chu inquired about any financial ramifications for Marin LAFCo since we are the lead agency. 
 
EO Fried stated that based on the contract there will be no financial ramifications for Marin LAFCo. 
 
Vice-Chair Rodoni inquired if there is reimbursement for staff time.  
 
EO Fried stated no because they are a member agency and a recommendation was made in the MSR to take this type 
of action, so in that regard, we will not charge.  
 
Chair Coler opened public comment. Seeing no one wish to speak public comment was closed. 
 
Approved: M/S by Commissioners Chu and Murray to approve the Executive Officer to sign the shared cost 
agreement and authorize issuance of RFP on financial feasibility and impacts of annexation of Belvedere into the 
District 
Ayes: Commissioners Coler, Chu, Murray, Lucan, Hilliard, Rodoni and Burdo 
Nays:   
Abstain:  
Absent:  
Motion approved unanimously. 

 
6. Discussion and Possible Addition to LAFCo Work Plan on Possible Need to Update Government Code 

66412(d) as it Pertains to Lot Line Adjustments That Cross Jurisdictional Boundaries to include LAFCo 
coordination. 

 
EO Fried gave the Staff Report 
 
Commissioner Murray stated Marin LAFCo has a long history of board members sitting on LAFCo and inquired if 
there will be any opposition. 
 
EO Fried stated not much research has been done yet but does not see too much opposition. 
 
Commissioner Lucan asked if we would be proactive or reactive. 
 
EO Fried stated based on what gets placed something administrative would be good if not it would be based on 
jurisdiction or property owners.  



MARIN LAFCo 
October 10th, 2024, Regular Meeting Minutes 

Page 4 of 5 

Commissioner Lucan stated that if we are proactive to tread lightly with property owners who may not understand 
what LAFCo is.  

EO Fried stated that legislation will come first and the “how to” after.  

Chair Coler stated she wanted to see us working with other LAFCos but not have us lobbying in the capital. 

EO Fried stated that it would be CALAFCo Lobbyists taking the lead. 

Chair Coler opened public comment. Seeing no one wished to speak public comment was closed. 

Approved: M/S by Commissioners Murray and Chu to authorize the Addition to LAFCo Work Plan on Possible 
Need to Update Government Code 66412(d) as it Pertains to Lot Line Adjustments That Cross Jurisdictional 
Boundaries to include LAFCo coordination 
Ayes: Coler, Chu, Murray, Lucan, Hilliard, Rodoni and Burdo 
Nays:   
Abstain:  
Absent:  
Motion approved unanimously. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT (discussion and possible action) 

All items below had Staff Report presented by EO Fried.  

a) Budget Update FY 2024-2025`
b) Current and Pending Proposals
c) Marin LAFCo Workplan
d) CALAFCO Update (Verbal Report)
e) Correspondence

Chair Coler stated that credits were given for these two awards. 

COMMISSIONER ANNOUNCEMENTS AND REQUESTS 

Commissioner Murray stated that CSDA will be having a conference in San Rafael the first week of November. 
Chair Coler adjourned the meeting at 8:10 P.M. 

ADJOURNMENT TO NEXT MEETING 
Thursday, December 12th, 2024  
Marin Wildfire Prevention Authority Board Room 

Attest: Claire Devereux 
Clerk/Junior Analyst 



MARIN LAFCo 
October 10th, 2024, Regular Meeting Minutes 

Page 5 of 5 
 

 

 

   
Any writings or documents pertaining to an open session item provided to a majority of the Commission less than 72 
hours prior to a regular meeting shall be made available for public inspection at Marin LAFCo Administrative 
Office, 1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220, San Rafael, CA 94903, during normal business hours. 
 
Pursuant to GC Section 84308, if you wish to participate in the above proceedings, you or your agent are prohibited 
from making a campaign contribution of $250 or more to any Commissioner. This prohibition begins on the date you 
begin to actively support or oppose an application before LAFCo and continues until 3 months after a final decision 
is rendered by LAFCo. If you or your agent have made a contribution of $250 or more to any Commissioner during 
the 12 months preceding the decision, in the proceeding that Commissioner must disqualify himself or herself from 
the decision. However, disqualification is not required if the Commissioner returns that campaign contribution within 
30 days of learning both about the contribution and the fact that you are a participant in the proceedings. Separately, 
any person with a disability under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) may receive a copy of the agenda or a 
copy of all the documents constituting the agenda packet for a meeting upon request. Any person with a disability 
covered under the ADA may also request a disability-related modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids 
or services, in order to participate in a public meeting. Please contact the LAFCo office at least three (3) working days 
prior to the meeting for any requested arraignments or accommodations.    
 
Marin LAFCo  
Administrative Office 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael California 94903 
 
T: 415-448-5877 
E: staff@marinlafco.org  
W: marinlafco.org  
 
 
 
 



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   

 

m 

Barbara Coler, Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Vacant, Alternate  
City/Town 

 

Lew Kious, Regular 
Almonte Sanitary District 
 

Craig Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

Cathryn Hilliard, Alternate 
Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

Larry Chu, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Roger Smith, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Vice-Chair  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  

County of Marin 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT  

December 12, 2024 

Item No. 2 (Consent Item) 

 

TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 

FROM: Jason Fried, Executive Officer   

SUBJECT: Commission Ratification of Payments from October 1, 2024, to November 30, 2024. 

 

Background  

 

Marin LAFCo adopted a Policy Handbook delegating the Executive Officer to make purchases 

and related procurements necessary in overseeing the agency's day-to-day business. The Policy 

Handbook also directs all payments made by the Executive Officer to be reconciled by LAFCo’s 

contracted bookkeeper. Additionally, all payments will be reported to the Commission at the next 

Commission meeting for formal ratification.  

 

The following item is presented for the Commission to consider the ratification of all payments 

made by the Executive Officer between October 1, 2024, to November 30, 2024, totaling 

$87,462.10. The payments are detailed in the attachment. 

 
Staff Recommendation for Action 

1. Staff Recommendation - Ratify the payments made by the Executive Officer between 
October 1, 2024, to November 30, 2024, as shown in the attachment. 

2. Alternate Option - Continue consideration of the item at the next regular meeting and 
provide directions to staff as needed. 

 

Procedures for Consideration 

 

This item has been placed on the agenda as part of the consent calendar. Accordingly, a successful 

motion to approve the consent calendar will include taking affirmative action on the staff 

recommendation unless otherwise specified by the Commission. 
 

Attachment: 

1) Payments from October 1 to November 30 



Type Date Num Memo Account Amount Balance

BANK OF MARIN CC
Check 11/13/2024 eft bank fee 50 · Office Supplies ... 7.97 7.97

Total BANK OF MARIN CC 7.97 7.97

BURDO, STEVE
Check 10/22/2024 21076 Oct 2024 Co... 05 · Commissioner ... 125.00 125.00

Total BURDO, STEVE 125.00 125.00

CA SPECIAL DISTRICT ASSOCIATION
Check 10/22/2024 21075 2025 Member... 30 · Memberships &... 1,808.00 1,808.00

Total CA SPECIAL DISTRICT ASSOCIATION 1,808.00 1,808.00

Cardmember Services
Credit Card Charge 10/18/2024 adobe 20 · IT & Communic... 71.97 71.97
Credit Card Charge 10/18/2024 mac tech 20 · IT & Communic... 1,013.70 1,085.67
Credit Card Charge 10/18/2024 marin ij 50 · Office Supplies ... 17.78 1,103.45
Credit Card Charge 10/18/2024 streamline 20 · IT & Communic... 126.00 1,229.45
Credit Card Charge 10/18/2024 zoom 20 · IT & Communic... 15.99 1,245.44
Credit Card Charge 10/18/2024 krieger 25 · Legal Services 664.40 1,909.84
Credit Card Charge 10/18/2024 verizon 20 · IT & Communic... 105.85 2,015.69
Credit Card Charge 10/18/2024 tenaya 10 · Conferences 21.00 2,036.69
Credit Card Charge 10/18/2024 comcast 20 · IT & Communic... 130.02 2,166.71
Credit Card Charge 10/18/2024 dine marin 50 · Office Supplies ... 56.76 2,223.47
Credit Card Charge 10/18/2024 usps 50 · Office Supplies ... 73.00 2,296.47

Total Cardmember Services 2,296.47 2,296.47

CHU, LAURENCE
Check 10/22/2024 21077 Aug 2024 Poil... 05 · Commissioner ... 250.00 250.00

Total CHU, LAURENCE 250.00 250.00

Cinquini & Passarino Inc
Check 10/01/2024 21070 Invoice # 11730 55 · Professional Se... 1,920.00 1,920.00

Total Cinquini & Passarino Inc 1,920.00 1,920.00

Coler, Barbara
Check 10/22/2024 21082 Aug 2024 Poli... 05 · Commissioner ... 250.00 250.00

Total Coler, Barbara 250.00 250.00

COMMUNITY MEDIA CENTER OF MARIN
Check 11/20/2024 21088 Invoice # 190... 55 · Professional Se... 1,025.00 1,025.00
Check 11/26/2024 21090 Invoice # 190... 55 · Professional Se... 253.50 1,278.50

Total COMMUNITY MEDIA CENTER OF MARIN 1,278.50 1,278.50

CONNECT YOUR CARE
Check 10/18/2024 eft COBRA ADMIN 126 · Health Insuran... 1.11 1.11

Total CONNECT YOUR CARE 1.11 1.11

Delta Dental of California
Check 10/09/2024 eft 122 · Dental Insuran... 72.63 72.63
Check 10/23/2024 eft 122 · Dental Insuran... 72.63 145.26
Check 11/06/2024 eft 122 · Dental Insuran... 72.63 217.89

Total Delta Dental of California 217.89 217.89

Hilliard, Cathryn
Check 10/22/2024 21078 Oct 2024 Co... 05 · Commissioner ... 125.00 125.00

Total Hilliard, Cathryn 125.00 125.00

9:27 AM Marin Local Agency Formation Commission
11/26/24 Expenses by Vendor Detail
Accrual Basis October through November 2024

Page 1



Type Date Num Memo Account Amount Balance

Kaiser Foundation Health Plan
Check 10/02/2024 eft 126 · Health Insuran... 474.40 474.40
Check 10/16/2024 eft 126 · Health Insuran... 474.40 948.80

Total Kaiser Foundation Health Plan 948.80 948.80

LUCAN, ERIC
Check 10/22/2024 21079 Oct 2024 Co... 05 · Commissioner ... 125.00 125.00

Total LUCAN, ERIC 125.00 125.00

MURRAY, CRAIG K
Check 10/22/2024 21080 Oct 2024 Co... 05 · Commissioner ... 125.00 125.00
Check 11/20/2024 21089 2024 CALAF... 05 · Commissioner ... 344.94 469.94

Total MURRAY, CRAIG K 469.94 469.94

PAYCHEX
Check 10/09/2024 eft 35 · Misc Services 76.45 76.45
Check 10/25/2024 eft 35 · Misc Services 76.45 152.90
Check 11/08/2024 eft 35 · Misc Services 69.80 222.70
Check 11/08/2024 eft 35 · Misc Services 76.45 299.15

Total PAYCHEX 299.15 299.15

PAYROLL
Check 10/11/2024 eft 9/15-9/28/24 105 · Sal - Regular ... 14,494.69 14,494.69
Check 10/11/2024 eft 9/15-9/28/24 124 · Auto Allowance 350.00 14,844.69
Check 10/11/2024 eft 9/15-9/28/24 125 · Unused Fringe... 100.00 14,944.69
Check 10/11/2024 eft 9/15-9/28/24 131 · Co Ret Cont Ti... 2,053.89 16,998.58
Check 10/25/2024 eft 9/29-10/12/24 105 · Sal - Regular ... 14,494.69 31,493.27
Check 10/25/2024 eft 9/29-10/12/24 124 · Auto Allowance 0.00 31,493.27
Check 10/25/2024 eft 9/29-10/12/24 125 · Unused Fringe... 100.00 31,593.27
Check 10/25/2024 eft 9/29-10/12/24 131 · Co Ret Cont Ti... 2,053.89 33,647.16
Check 11/08/2024 eft 10/13-10/26/24 105 · Sal - Regular ... 14,494.69 48,141.85
Check 11/08/2024 eft 10/13-10/26/24 124 · Auto Allowance 350.00 48,491.85
Check 11/08/2024 eft 10/13-10/26/24 125 · Unused Fringe... 100.00 48,591.85
Check 11/08/2024 eft 10/13-10/26/24 131 · Co Ret Cont Ti... 2,053.89 50,645.74
Check 11/22/2024 EST 10/27-11/9/24... 105 · Sal - Regular ... 14,494.69 65,140.43
Check 11/22/2024 EST 10/27-11/9/24... 124 · Auto Allowance 0.00 65,140.43
Check 11/22/2024 EST 10/27-11/9/24... 125 · Unused Fringe... 100.00 65,240.43
Check 11/22/2024 EST 10/27-11/9/24... 131 · Co Ret Cont Ti... 2,053.89 67,294.32

Total PAYROLL 67,294.32 67,294.32

PAYROLL TAXES
Check 10/11/2024 eft 9/15-9/28/34 111 · Medicare Tax 217.33 217.33
Check 10/25/2024 eft 9/29-10/12/24 111 · Medicare Tax 212.26 429.59
Check 11/08/2024 eft 10/13-10/26/ 111 · Medicare Tax 217.33 646.92
Check 11/22/2024 EST 10/27-11/9/24... 111 · Medicare Tax 217.33 864.25

Total PAYROLL TAXES 864.25 864.25

RODONI, DENNIS JAMES
Check 10/22/2024 21081 Oct 2024 Co... 05 · Commissioner ... 125.00 125.00

Total RODONI, DENNIS JAMES 125.00 125.00

SCHIFFMANN, ALYSSA
Check 10/01/2024 21069 Invoice # 263 55 · Professional Se... 988.00 988.00
Check 11/20/2024 21087 Invoice # 267 55 · Professional Se... 722.00 1,710.00

Total SCHIFFMANN, ALYSSA 1,710.00 1,710.00

SECURITY MORTGAGE GROUP 2
Check 10/01/2024 21068 Oct 2024 Rent 45 · Office Lease/Rent 3,074.00 3,074.00
Check 11/05/2024 21084 Nov 2024 Rent 45 · Office Lease/Rent 3,074.00 6,148.00

Total SECURITY MORTGAGE GROUP 2 6,148.00 6,148.00

9:27 AM Marin Local Agency Formation Commission
11/26/24 Expenses by Vendor Detail
Accrual Basis October through November 2024

Page 2



Type Date Num Memo Account Amount Balance

SPECIAL DISTRICT RISK MANAGEMENT AUTHORIT
Check 10/09/2024 21074 Invoice 76424 15 · General Insuran... 69.18 69.18

Total SPECIAL DISTRICT RISK MANAGEMENT AUTHORIT 69.18 69.18

Teamsters Local 856 Health & Welfare
Check 10/15/2024 eft 126 · Health Insuran... 944.08 944.08

Total Teamsters Local 856 Health & Welfare 944.08 944.08

The Hartford
Check 10/09/2024 eft 121 · Life Insurance 89.78 89.78
Check 10/31/2024 eft 121 · Life Insurance 89.78 179.56

Total The Hartford 179.56 179.56

VSP
Check 11/06/2024 eft 123 · Vision Service ... 4.88 4.88

Total VSP 4.88 4.88

TOTAL 87,462.10 87,462.10

9:27 AM Marin Local Agency Formation Commission
11/26/24 Expenses by Vendor Detail
Accrual Basis October through November 2024

Page 3



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   

 

m 

Barbara Coler, Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Vacant, Altermate 
City/Town 

 

Lew Kious, Regular 
Almonte Valley Sanitary District 
 

Craig Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

Cathryn Hilliard, Alternate 
Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

Larry Chu, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Roger Smith, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Vice-Chair  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  

County of Marin 

 
 

AGENDA REPORT  

December 12, 2024 

Item No.  3 (Consent Item) 

 

TO:   Local Agency Formation Commission  

  

FROM:   Claire Devereux, Clerk/Policy Analyst  

   

SUBJECT:  Approval of the 2025 Commission Calendar 

__________________________________________________________________________________ 

Background  

Per Marin LAFCo’s policy, the regular meeting schedule must be approved annually. LAFCo holds regular 

meetings on the second Thursday of even-numbered months at 6:30 P.M. at the Marin Wildfire Prevention 

Authority. MWPA has confirmed that the meeting room is available for the same time in 2025. We will 

return to using that room for meetings in February unless the Commission wants to look for other locations 

that can fit our needs.  Listed below is the schedule for the 2025 Commission meetings. 

  

The 2025 spring break dates are April 7th through the 11th, which conflicts with our April Regular 

Commission Meeting. Please remove the item from the consent calendar if anybody wants to discuss 

changing dates.  

 

Meeting Dates for 2024: February 13; April 10; June 12; August 14; October 9; December 11 

 

Procedures for Consideration 

This item has been placed on the agenda as part of the consent calendar.  Accordingly, a successful motion 

to approve the consent calendar will include taking affirmative action on the staff recommendation as 

provided unless otherwise specified by the Commission. 

 

Staff Recommendation for Action 

Staff Recommendation - Approve the meeting dates mentioned above.   

Alternate Option – Make changes to the proposed schedule of meetings. 

 



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   

 

m 

Barbara Coler, Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Vacant, Alternate  
City/Town 

 

Lew Kious, Regular 
Almonte Valley Sanitary District 
 

Craig Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

Cathryn Hilliard, Alternate 
Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

Larry Chu, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Roger Smith, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Vice-Chair  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  

County of Marin 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT  

December 12th, 2024 

Item No. 4 (Public Hearing) 

 

TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 

 

FROM: Claire Devereux, Clerk/Jr. Policy Analyst 

     

SUBJECT:  Approval of Resolution 24-10, Annexation of 335 Highland Ave. into San Rafael 

Sanitary District. (LAFCo File #1386)with Waiver of Notice, Hearing, and Protest 

Proceedings and finding it Exempt from CEQA pursuant to state CEQA guideline 

Section 15319 

 _____________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Background  

Marin LAFCo has received an application from Ronald Lambson (“applicant”) requesting 

approval to annex the affected territory of approximately .26 acres in size and includes 1 

developed, unincorporated property located at 335 Highland Ave, San Rafael.  The property is 

identified by the County of Marin Assessor’s Office as APN 015-241-12 and reflected in the 

accompanying map.). The proposal, as stated by the applicant, is to move from its current septic 

system and connect to the San Rafael Sanitary District. Staff has requested comments from 

SRSD, along with other interested agencies. All comments received were in support or neutral.   

Staff has reviewed the submitted petition for accuracy and considered all factors pursuant to 

§56668 and §56668.3 of Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg.   

 
Staff Recommendation for Action 

Staff Recommendation 1 – Approve the requested annexation of 335 Highland Ave. and 
approve the attached Resolution No. 24-10 with conditions.   

Alternate Option 2 – Continue considering the item for a future regular meeting and provide 
direction to staff, as needed.  

Alternate Option 3 – Deny the request 

Attachment 

1. Resolution #24-10 
2. Application Packet 
3. Section 56668 and 56668.3 Checklist 



1 | P a g e  
 

 

MARIN LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

RESOLUTION 24-10 

 

Resolution Approving the Annexation of 335 Highland Ave. into San Rafael Sanitary 

District with Waiver of Notice, Hearing, and Protest Proceedings and finding it Exempt 

from CEQA pursuant to state CEQA guideline Section 15319 

 

“Annexation of 335 Highland Ave. (APN 015-241-12 ) into San Rafael Sanitary District. 

(LAFCo File #1386)” 

 

WHEREAS Ronald K. and Diana D. Lamson, hereinafter referred to as “Property Owner,” 

has filed a validated landowner petition with the Marin Local Agency Formation Commission, a 

petition with the Marin Local Agency Formation Commission, hereinafter referred to as 

“Commission,” pursuant to the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act 

of 2000; and 

 

WHEREAS the reorganization proposal seeks Commission approval to annex approximately 

0.26 acres of land in unincorporated Marin County into the the Ross Valley Sanitary District; and 

 

WHEREAS the affected territory represents developed land located 335 Highland Ave, San 

Rafael identified by the County of Marin Assessor’s Office as APN: 015-241-12; and 

WHEREAS the Commission’s staff has reviewed the proposal and prepared a report with 

recommendations; and 

 

WHEREAS the staff’s report and recommendations on the proposal have been presented to 

the Commission in the manner provided by law; and 

 

WHEREAS the Commission considered all the factors required by law under Government 

Code Section 56668 and 56668.3 and adopted local policies and procedures as provided for in the 

staff report and oral and written testimony. 

 

WHEREAS the proposal is for a reorganization of territory that is uninhabited, and no 

affected local agency has submitted a written demand for notice and hearing as provided for in 

Government Code section 56662(a).   

 

NOW THEREFORE, the Marin Local Agency Formation Commission DOES HEREBY 

RESOLVE, DETERMINE AND ORDER as follows: 

Section 1. Approve the proposed annexation of APN: 015-241-12 to San Rafael Sanitary 

District (File #1386) as shown and with the boundaries as depicted and described in Exhibits 

“A” and “B” attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 

 



2 | P a g e

Section 2. The territory includes 0.26 acres, is found to be uninhabited, and is assigned the 

following distinctive short form designation: “Annexation of 335 Highland Ave. (APN 015-

241-12 ) into San Rafael Sanitary District. (LAFCo File #1386)”

Section 3. The proposal is consistent with the adopted sphere of influence of the San Rafael 

Sanitary District 

Section 4. The Executive Officer is hereby authorized to waive notice and hearing, and 

protest proceedings and complete organization proceedings. 

Section 5. As Lead Agency under CEQA for the proposed annexation into San Rafael 

Sanitary District, LAFCo finds that the Project is categorically exempt from the provisions of 

CEQA pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15319(a). 

Section 6. As a condition of final approval, the applicant must submit the Agreement 

Regarding Annexation of Real Property to LAFCo attached here to as Exhibit “C” and 

incorporated herein by reference, clearly stating that they shall not protest any future 

application to LAFCo to annex their property to the City of San Rafael, as part of an island 

annexation. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Marin Local Agency Formation Commission on 

December 12, 2024, by the following vote: 

AYES:  

NOES:       

ABSTAIN:       

ABSENT:       

____________________________________ 

Barbara Coler, Chair 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

____________________________________ _______________________________ 

Jason Fried, Executive Officer Malathy Subramanian, LAFCo Counsel 

Attachments to Resolution No. 23-10 

a) Exhibit A – Map
b) Exhibit B – Legal Description
c) Exhibit C – Delayed Dual Annexation





Cinquini & Passarino, Inc.   CPI No.: 10643-24 

1804 Soscol Ave., Ste 202  Tel: (707) 690-9025 Fax: (707) 542-2106 

Napa, CA 94559 Page 1 of   3 www.cinquinipassarino.com 

 

CINQUINI & PASSARINO, INC. 

Professional Land Surveyors 

1360 No. Dutton Avenue, Suite 150 

Santa Rosa, CA 95401 

(707) 542-6268 

Job #10643-24 

 

Exhibit “B” 
 

Lamson Annexation 

San Rafael Sanitation District 

LAFCo File No. 1386 

 

All that certain real property, situated in portion of Section 34, Township 2 North, Range 6 

West, Mount Diablo Base and Meridian, in the County of Marin, State of California, being 

more particularly described as a whole as follows: 
 
 

BEGINNING at the westernmost corner of “Wiskemann and Bruscherra Annexation to San 

Rafael Sanitary District Resolution Number 87-14, dated June 12, 1987”, said corner also 

being an angle point on the southerly right-of-way of a 40-foot road herein called Highland 

Avenue;  

 

thence leaving said Annexation boundary and along said southerly right-of-way the following 

6 (six) courses and distances: 

 

(1) North 81°10’ West 37.3 feet; 

 

(2) South 16°39’ West 83.4 feet; 

 

(3) South 40°38’ West 76.9 feet; 

 

(4) South 82°43’ West 81.0 feet; 

 

(5) North 52°25’ West 173.6 feet; 

 

(6) South 60°15’ West 24.1 feet to an angle point; 

 

thence leaving said southerly right-of-way, 

 

(7) North 61°44’ West 47 feet more or less to an angle point on the northerly right-of-way of 

Highland Avenue; 

 

thence leaving said northerly right-of-way and along the northerly lines of said lands of 

Lamson the following 3 (three) courses and distances: 

 

(8) North 16°40’ West 80.50 feet; 



Cinquini & Passarino, Inc.   CPI No.: 10643-24 

1804 Soscol Ave., Ste 202  Tel: (707) 690-9025 Fax: (707) 542-2106 

Napa, CA 94559 Page 2 of   3 www.cinquinipassarino.com 

 

 

(9) North 73°20’ East 256.20 feet; 

 

(10) South 53°35’10” East 125 feet more or less to an angle point on said northerly right-of-

way of Highland Avenue; 

 

(11) thence leaving said northerly lines of Lamson and along said northerly right-of-way South 

81°02’ East 100 feet more or less to a point on westerly boundary of the “Annexation of 

345 Highland Avenue to San Rafael Sanitary District Resolution Number 21-05, dated 

June 10, 2021”; 

 

(12) thence along said westerly boundary South 28° 21’ West 8 feet more or less to an angle 

point on said westerly boundary; 

 

thence continue along said westerly boundary of said Annexation boundary the following 2 

(two) courses and distances: 

 

(13) South 81° 10’ East 9.10 feet; 

 

(14) South 3° 11’ East 15.01 feet to an angle point common to said Annexation boundaries of 

said Resolution No. 87-14 and said Resolution No. 21-05; 

 

(15) thence leaving said Annexation boundary of said Resolution 21-05 and along the 

northwest line of said Resolution 87-14 Annexation boundary South 74° West 42.0 feet 

more or less to the POINT OF BEGINNING.  

 

 

Containing 1.52 acres of land more or less. 

 

APN 015-241-12 and a portion of Highland Avenue 

 

For annexation purposes only.  This description of land is not a legal property 

description as defined in the Subdivision Map Act and may not be used as the basis for an 

offer for sale of the land described. 

 

 

 

Prepared by Cinquini & Passarino, Inc. 

 

 

 

_______________________________                                              11/04/2024 

Davit Can Sulam, PLS 8224        Date 



AGREEMENT REGARDING ANNEXATION OF REAL PROPERTY TO MARIN 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION

This agreement is made and entered into on this 24 day of September 2024, by and between the Marin Local Agency Formation 
Commission, (�LAFCo� hereafter), and Ronald Lamson (�Owner� hereafter) and is based upon the following 
facts:

(a) Owner holds title to that certain real property (�the Property� hereafter) described in Exhibit 
�A� attached hereto and shown for illustrative purposes only on the attached Exhibit 
�B�; and
Owner desires annexation to the San Rafael Sanitation District provided by the San Rafael Sanitary District. LAFCo 
recognizes that at this time, annexation of this property would result in inefficient provision of services to 
the property, but that at some point in the future, the LAFCo may desire annexation.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY AGREED BY AND BETWEEN THE PARTIES HERETO 
AS FOLLOWS:

Owner agrees on behall of himsell, his heirs, successors and assigns that, in the event any future proceedings 
for annexation of the property to the City of San Rafael shall be initiated by LAFCo, Owner shall 
neither directly nor indirectly oppose or protest such annexation.

Owner agrees that his obligations hereunder shall run with the Property and that the Property shall be held, conveyed, hypothecated, 
encumbered, leased, rented, used and occupied subject to the provisions of this Agreement and that the obligations 
undertaken by Owner hereunder shall be binding on all parties having or acquiring any right, title, or interest in the 
Property.



MARIN LAFCO |. PETITION FOR PROCEEDING PURUSANT 
TO THE CORTESE-KNOX-HERTZBERG ACT

The undersigned hereby petition(s) the Marin Local Agency Formation Commissior of a proposed change 
or organization or reorganization and stipulates as follows:

This proposal is made pursuant to Part 3, Division 3, and Title 5 of the California Government Code (commencing 
with Section 56000, Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000).

The specific change(s) of organization proposed (i.e. Reorganization, etc.) is/are annexation 
of 335 Highland Ave into San Rafael Saniitary

The boundaries of the territory(ies) included in the proposal are as described in Exhibits �A� and �B� attached 
hereto and by this reference incorporated herein.

The territory(ies) included in the proposal is/are: Inhabited (12 
or more registered voters) X Uninhabited (11 or fewer registered 
voters)

This proposalis X orisnot_ city and/or district(s).

The reason(s) for the proposed  Reorganization, etc.) is/are  to get off septic and onto sewer

The proposal is requested to be made subject to the following terms and conditions:

The persons signing this petition have signed as:

_ Registered voters _X_Owners 
of the land

On behalf of the Board, City, District, or Agency



Il. LANDOWNERS SIGNATURES 
(ﾧ56700, et seq.)

We the undersigned landowners hereby request proceedings be initiated pursuant to Government Code ﾧ56000, et 
seq. for the change(s) of organization described on the attached Proposal Application.

Name and Address of Applicant:

Contact Number: (415) 720-3632 Email: rrrddd@icloud.com

Agent Representatlve (optional) I|/We hereby authorize Benjamin Franklin to act as my/our 
agent to proccess all phases of the LAFCo action relating to the parcels listed 
below.

Name and Address of Agent:

Contact Number:



Additional Notification Approval (Optional)

I/we herby authorize, that in addition to the application representative, the persons listed below are granted permissio 
to recieve copiie of application notices, and reports

Property owner signature

please provide the names, email addresses, an phone numbers of any persons who are to be furnished copies of the 
agenda, executive officer;s report and notice of hearings. this includes name, title, email, address and phone number 
of key staff yuo've worked with/talked to. This allos LAFCo to send information directly to the key person in 
each agency who is relevant to the application



MARIN LAFCO III. APPLICATION 
QUESTIONNAIR

In accordance with requirements set forth in the California Government Code, the Commission must 
review specific factors in its consideration of this proposal. In order to facilitate the Commission�s 
review, please respond to the following questions:

GENERAL INFORMATION

Please check the method by which this application was initiated: X 
__Petition (Landowner) Resolution of Application (City/Town or District)

1.

Does the application possess 100% written consent of each property owner in the subject territory? 
Yes ﾥ No

2.

A. This application is being submitted for the following boundary change:  "o  (BE SPECIFIC: 
For example, �annexation, reorgzization") n P,

3.

The reason for the proposed action(s) being requested: 
Annexation to get off septic

4. State general location of proposal: located in the country club 
neighborhood of unincorporated San Rafael

Marin LAFCo Application Revised 2021 og



5. Is the proposal within a city�s boundaries? Yes ___Which 
city?  No _ X If the proposal is adjacent to a city, provide 
city name: San Rafael

6. Is the subject territory located within an island of unincorporated territory? 
 Yes_X_No__If applicable, indicate city

7. Would this proposal create an island of unincorporated territory? Yes No _ X_ If 
yes, please justify proposed boundary change:

8.  Provide the following information regarding the area proposed for 
annexation: (Attach additional if needed)

A. Assessor�s Parcel Number(s) 015-241-12
Site Address(es) ) 335 Highland Ave San Rafael 94901

B. Total number of parcels included in this application: 1

9. Total land area in acres:



LAND USE AND DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL

1. Describe any special land use concerns: 
N/A

2. Indicate current land use: (such as: number of dwellings, permits 
currently held, etc.)  one single family home

Indicate the current zoning (either city/toewn or county) title and densities permitted: Single-Residential Imrpoved

4. Has the area been prezoned? No N/A X Yes  What is the prezoning 
classification, title and densities permitted?

5. Describe the specific development potential of the property: (Number of units allowed 
in zoning) n/a



ENVIRONMENT

1. Is the site presently zoned, or designated for, or engaged in agricultural 
use?  Yes No % If yes, explain:

2. Will the proposal result in a reduction of public or private open space?

Yes No X  If yes, explain:

3. Will service extension accomplished by this proposal induce growth in:

A. This Site? Yes___ No _X_ N/A ___

B. Adjacent sites? Yes No  x N/A
C. Unincorporated? Yes No x

D. Incorporated? Yes No_x_
4. State general description of site topography: hillside

5. Indicated Lead Agency for this project: Marin  LAFCo

6. Indicate Environmental Determination by Lead Agency: CEQA Exempt  with 
respect to (indicate project) CEQA Guidelines Section 15319(A)
Dated:

(COPY OF ENVIRONMENTAL DOCUMENTS MUST BE SUBMITTED WITH APPLICATION.)



IV. INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT

As part of this Application, Applicant and its successors and assigns, shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless, LAFCo, 
its officials, officers, employees, agents, representatives, contractors and assigns from and against any and 
all claims, demands, liability, judgments, damages (including consequential damages), awards, interests, attorneys� 
fees, costs and expenses of whatsoever kind or nature, at any time arising out of, or in any way connected 
with any legal challenges to or appeals associated with LAFCo�s review and/or approval of the Application 
(collectively, �Indemnification Costs�). Applicant�s obligation to indemnify, defend and hold harmless 
LAFCo, its officials, officers, employees, agents, representatives, contractors and assigns under this Agreement 
shall apply regardless of fault, to any acts or omissions, or negligent conduct, whether active or passive, 
on the part of the Applicant, LAFCo, its officials, officers, employees, agents, representatives, contractor or 
assigns. Applicant�s obligation to defend LAFCo, its officials, officers, employees, agents, representatives, contractor 
or assigns under this Agreement shall be at Applicant�s sole expense and using counsel selected or approved 
by LAFCo in LAFCo�s sole discretion.  In the event of a lawsuit, Applicant will be notified by LAFCo within 
three (3) business days of being served. An invoice will be submitted to the Applicant by LAFCo for an amount 
between $10,000 and $25,000 to cover a portion of the Indemnification Costs (�Reserve�), which shall depend 
upon the estimated cost to resolve the matter and shall be determined in LAFCo's sole discretion. Applicant 
shall pay the Reserve to LAFCo within seven (7) calendar days of LAFCo�s request. The Reserve shall be 
applied against LAFCo�s final bill for the Indemnification Costs, with any unused portion to be returned to Applicant. 
LAFCo shall bill Applicant month for the Indemnification Costs, which shall be paid to LAFCo no later than 
15 calendar days after receipt of LAFCO's bill. LAFCo may stop defending the matter, if at any time LAFCo has 
not received timely payment of the Reserve and/or the Indemnification Costs. This will not relieve Applicant of any 
of its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

As the Applicant |I hereby attest with signature,



V. PLAN FOR PROVIDING SERVICES 
(For City/Town or District 
Only)

This section to be completed by a city/town or district representative for all applications 
initiated by resolution or as required by Executive Officer

1. Enumerate and describe services to be extended to the affected territory:

Police:

Fire:

Sewer:

Water:

Other:

2. Advise whether any of the affected agencies serving or expected to serve this site are current 
operating at or near capacity:

3. Describe the level and range of services:

4. Indicate when services can/will be extended to the affected territory:

5. Note any improvements or upgrading of structures, roads, sewer or water facilities, or other 
conditions required within the affected territory:



6. Describe financial arrangements for construction and operation of services extended to the affected 
territory. Will the territory be subject to any special taxes, charges or fees? (If so, please specify.)

This section completed by:

Signature Title

Print Name Agency

Contact Email Contact Number



Sections 56668 Sections 566682 Response

a

Population and population density; land area and land use; *** assessed 
valuation; topography, natural boundaries, and drainage basins; proximity to 
other populated areas; the likelihood of significant growth in the area, and in 
adjacent incorporated and unincorporated areas, during the next 10 years.

will have no significant 
change for area

b

The need for organized community services; the present cost and adequacy of 
governmental services and controls in the area; probable future needs for 
those services and controls; probable effect of the proposed incorporation, 
formation, annexation, or exclusion and of alternative courses of action on 
the cost and adequacy of services and controls in the area and adjacent 
areas. "Services," as used in this subdivision, refers to governmental services 
whether or not the services are services which would be provided by local 
agencies subject to this division, and includes the public facilities necessary 
to provide those services.

will have no significant 
impact

c

The effect of the proposed action and of alternative actions, on adjacent 
areas, on mutual social and economic interests, and on the local 
governmental structure of the county.

will have no significant 
impact

d

The conformity of both the proposal and its anticipated effects with both the 
adopted commission policies on providing planned, orderly, efficient patterns 
of urban development, and the policies and priorities in Section 56377.

conforms with local 
policy and 56377

e
The effect of the proposal on maintaining the physical and economic integrity 
of agricultural lands, as defined by Section 56016.

This is not an AG 
designated area

f

The definiteness and certainty of the boundaries of the territory, the 
nonconformance of proposed boundaries with lines of assessment or 
ownership, the creation of islands or corridors of unincorporated territory, 
and other similar matters affecting the proposed boundaries.

all boundaries conform 
properly

g A regional transportation plan adopted pursuant to Section 65080

This has no impact on 
regional transportation 
plan because of the 
small scale of item

h The proposal's consistency with city or county general and specific plans.
Is consistent with all 
plans

i
The sphere of influence of any local agency which may be applicable to the 
proposal being reviewed.

Is within SOI of 
jurisidication being 
annexed into

  j The comments of any affected local agency or other public agency.
See comments in staff 
memo

k

The ability of the newly formed or receiving entity to provide the services 
which are the subject of the application to the area, including the sufficiency 
of revenues for those services following the proposed boundary change.

Agency has capacity to 
serve

l
Timely availability of water supplies adequate for projected needs as 
specified in Section 65352.5.

 MMWD MSR shows 
they have capacity

m

The extent to which the proposal will affect a city or cities and the county in 
achieving their respective fair shares of the regional housing needs as 
determined by the appropriate council of governments consistent with Article 
10.6 (commencing with Section 65580) of Chapter 3 of Division 1 of Title 7.

This project is too small 
to have an impact

n
Any information or comments from the landowner or ***landowners, voters, 
or residents of the affected territory.

They have signed 
consent form

o Any information relating to existing land use designations.
No changes to land use 
needed

p

The extent to which the proposal will promote environmental justice. As used 
in this subdivision, "environmental justice" means the fair treatment of 
people of all races, cultures, and incomes with respect to the location of 
public facilities and the provision of public services.

This application will have 
no impact on EJ 

q

 Information contained in a local hazard mitigation plan, information 
contained in a safety element of a general plan, and any maps that identify 
land as a very high fire hazard zone pursuant to Section 51178 or maps that 
identify land determined to be in a state responsibility area pursuant to 
Section 4102 of the Public Resources Code, if it is determined that such 
information is relevant to the area that is the subject of the proposal.

Not relevant to this 
proposal.

 Section 56668.3 parts a and b

a

If the proposed change of organization or reorganization includes a city 
detachment or district annexation, except a special reorganization, and the 
proceeding has not been terminated based upon receipt of a resolution 
requesting termination pursuant to either Section 56751 or Section 56857, 
factors to be considered by the commission shall include all of the following: see comments below

a1

In the case of a district annexation, whether the proposed annexation will be 
for the interest of landowners or present or future inhabitants within the 
district and within the territory proposed to be annexed to the district.

Is in the interest of 
landowner and 
inhabitants

a2

In the case of a city detachment, whether the proposed detachment will be 
for the interest of the landowners or present or future inhabitants within the 
city and within the territory proposed to be detached from the city. n/a

a3
Any factors which may be considered by the commission as provided in 
Section 56668. see comments above

a4
Any resolution raising objections to the action that may be filed by an 
affected agency. no resolution received

a5 Any other matters which the commission deems material.

staff addressed any 
issues if any in staff 
report

b

The commission shall give great weight to any resolution raising objections 
to the action that is filed by a city or a district. The commission's 
consideration shall be based only on financial or service related concerns 
expressed in the protest. Except for findings regarding the value of written 
protests, the commission is not required to make any express findings 
concerning any of the other factors considered by the commission no resolution received



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   

 

m 

Barbara Coler, Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Vacant, Alternate  
City/Town 

 

Lew Kious, Regular 
Almonte Valley Sanitary District 
 

Craig Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

Cathryn Hilliard, Alternate 
Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

Larry Chu, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Roger Smith, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Vice-Chair  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  

County of Marin 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT  

December 12th, 2024 

Item No. 5 (Public Hearing) 

 

TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 

 

FROM: Claire Devereux, Clerk/Jr. Policy Analyst 

     

SUBJECT:  Approval of Resolution 24-11, Annexation of 260 Highland Ave. into San Rafael 

Sanitary District. (LAFCo File #1387) with Waiver of Notice, Hearing, and Protest 

Proceedings and finding it Exempt from CEQA pursuant to state CEQA guideline 

Section 15319 

  

 

Background  

Marin LAFCo has received an application from Margreat Peirsol (“applicant”) requesting 

approval to annex the affected territory of approximately 1.49 acres in size and includes one 

developed, unincorporated property located at 260 Highland Ave, San Rafael. The property is 

identified by the County of Marin Assessor’s Office as APN 016- 021-64 and reflected in the 

accompanying map.). The proposal, as stated by the applicant, is to move from its current septic 

system and connect to the San Rafael Sanitary District. Staff have requested comments from 

SRSD, along with other interested agencies. All comments received were in support or neutral.  

Staff has reviewed the submitted petition for accuracy and considered all factors pursuant to 

§56668 and §56668.3 of Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg.  

 
Staff Recommendation for Action 

Staff Recommendation 1 – Approve the requested annexation of 260 Highland Ave. and 
approve the attached Resolution No. 24-11 with conditions.  

Alternate Option 2 – Continue consideration of the item at a future regular meeting, and 
provide direction to staff, as needed.  

Alternate Option 3 – Deny the request. 

Attachment 

1. Resolution #24-11 
2. Application Packet 
3. Section 56668 and 56668.3 Checklist 

 



1 | P a g e  
 

 

MARIN LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

RESOLUTION 24-11 

 

Resolution Approving Annexation of 260 Highland Ave., San Rafael into San Rafael 

Sanitary District with Waiver of Notice, Hearing, and Protest Proceedings and finding it 

Exempt from CEQA pursuant to state CEQA guideline Section 15319 

 

“Annexation of 260 Highland Ave., San Rafael (016- 021-64 ) into San Rafael Sanitary District. 

(LAFCo File #1387) 

 

WHEREAS John M. and Margreat M Piersol, hereinafter referred to as “Property Owner,” 

has filed a validated landowner petition with the Marin Local Agency Formation Commission, a 

petition with the Marin Local Agency Formation Commission, hereinafter referred to as 

“Commission,” pursuant to the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act 

of 2000; and 

 

WHEREAS the reorganization proposal seeks Commission approval to annex approximately 

0.26 acres of land in unincorporated Marin County into the the Ross Valley Sanitary District; and 

 

WHEREAS the affected territory represents developed land located 260 Highland Ave, San 

Rafael identified by the County of Marin Assessor’s Office as APN: 016-012-64; and 

WHEREAS the Commission’s staff has reviewed the proposal and prepared a report with 

recommendations; and 

 

WHEREAS the staff’s report and recommendations on the proposal have been presented to 

the Commission in the manner provided by law; and 

 

WHEREAS the Commission considered all the factors required by law under Government 

Code Section 56668 and 56668.3 and adopted local policies and procedures as provided for in the 

staff report and oral and written testimony. 

 

WHEREAS the proposal is for a reorganization of territory that is uninhabited, and no 

affected local agency has submitted a written demand for notice and hearing as provided for in 

Government Code section 56662(a).   

 

NOW THEREFORE, the Marin Local Agency Formation Commission DOES HEREBY 

RESOLVE, DETERMINE AND ORDER as follows: 

Section 1. Approve the proposed annexation of APN: 016- 021-64  to San Rafael Sanitary 

District (File #1387) as shown and with the boundaries as depicted and described in Exhibits 

“A” and “B” attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 

 



2 | P a g e  
 

Section 2. The territory includes 1.49 acres, is found to be uninhabited, and is assigned the 

following distinctive short form designation: “Annexation of 260 Highland Ave., San Rafael 

(016- 021-64) into San Rafael Sanitary District. (LAFCo File #1387)” 

 

Section 3. The proposal is consistent with the adopted sphere of influence of the San Rafael 

Sanitary District 

 

Section 4. The Executive Officer is hereby authorized to waive notice and hearing, and 

protest proceedings and complete organization proceedings. 

 

Section 5. As Lead Agency under CEQA for the proposed annexation into San Rafael 

Sanitary District, LAFCo finds that the Project is categorically exempt from the provisions of 

CEQA pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15319(a). 

 

Section 6. As a condition of final approval, the applicant must submit the Agreement 

Regarding Annexation of Real Property to LAFCo attached here to as Exhibit “C” and 

incorporated herein by reference, clearly stating that they shall not protest any future 

application to LAFCo to annex their property to the City of San Rafael, as part of an island 

annexation. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Marin Local Agency Formation Commission on 

December 12, 2024, by the following vote: 

AYES:   

 

NOES:        

 

ABSTAIN:        

 

ABSENT:        

 

 

____________________________________ 

             Barbara Coler, Chair 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

____________________________________  _______________________________ 

Jason Fried, Executive Officer   Malathy Subramanian, LAFCo Counsel 

 
Attachments to Resolution No. 23-11 

 

a) Exhibit A – Legal Description 

b) Exhibit B – Map  

c) Exhibit C – Delayed Dual Annexation 



GEOGRAPHIC DESCRIPTION

260 HIGHLAND AVENUE ANNEXATION  TO SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT (FILE 
1387) Lands of Peirsol, APN 016-021-64 and a portion of Highland Avenue

All that certain real property, situate in a portion of Section 34, Township 2 North, Range 6 West, Mount Diablo Base 
and Meridian, in the County of Marin, State of California, being more particularly described as a whole as follows:

BEGINNING at the northwesterly corner of �Annexation of the Lands of Capon to San Rafael Sanitation District (File 
1182)� per Marin Local Agency Formation Commission Resolution Number 00-18 dated September 14, 2000, 
said corner also being on the southerly right-of-way line of a 40 foot road herein called Highland Avenue;

thence leaving said southerly right-of-way and along the westerly boundary of said Annexation,

(1) South 3ﾰ36ﾰ53� West 487.49 feet to the southwesterly corner of said Annexation boundary, said 
corner also being the southeasterly corner of Parcel 2 as shown on the Parcel Map filed in Book 
15 of Parcel Maps at Page 35, Marin County Records:

(2) thence leaving said Annexation boundary and along the southerly line of said Parcel 2, South 
68ﾰ54ﾰ39� West 70.00 feet to the southwesterly corner of said Parcel 2:

(3) thence along the westerly line of said Parcel 2 and its northwesterly prolongation thereof, North 10ﾰ57ﾰ06� 
West 422.32 feet, more or less, to the northwesterly right of way line of said Highland Avenue 
and the southeasterly boundary of the �Reorganization of the Lands of Dominican Sisters Including 
Annexations to the City of San Rafael and San Rafael Sanitation District (File 1196)� per Marin 
Local Agency Formation Commission Resolution Number 01- 09 dated May 10, 2001;

thence along said Annexation (File 1196) boundary the following 3 (three) courses and distances:

(4) North 48ﾰ36ﾰ00� East 2.08 feet, more or less, to an angle point in said Annexation (File 1196) 
boundary,

(5) North 19ﾰ46ﾰ00�

(6) North 11ﾰ48ﾰ00� West 54.98 feet, more or less, to the southwesterly boundary of �Reorganization 
of the Lands of 411 Margarita LP Including Annexations to the City of San Rafael 
and San Rafael Sanitation District (File #1230)� per Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Resolution Number 04-10 dated August 12, 2004,

Cinquini & Passarino, Inc. 1804 Soscol 
Ave.. Ste 202 Napa, CA 94559

CPI No.: 10663-24 Tel: (707) 690-9025 Fax: (707) 542-2106 
WWW.cInquinipassarino.com

Page 1 of 3



thence along said Annexation (File #1230) boundary the following three courses and distances:

(7) South 31ﾰ29ﾰ00� East 16.69 feet, more or less, to an angle point in said Annexation (File #1230) 
boundary,

(8) North 81ﾰ34'00 East 95.37 feet, and

(9) South 75ﾰ08ﾰ00" East 66.20 feet, more or less, to the POINT OF BEGINNIN

Containing 1.49 acres of land, more or less.

For assessment purposes only. This description of land is not a legal property 
description as defined in the Subdivision Map Act and may not 
be used as the basis for an offer for sale of the land described.

Prepared by Cinquini & Passarino, Inc.

Cinquini & Passarino, Inc. 1804 Soscol 
Ave., Ste 202 Napa, CA 94559

CPI No.: 10663-24 Tel: (707) 690-9025 Fax: (707) 542-2106 
WWW.cInquinipassarino.com

Page 2 of 3





AGREEMENT REGARDING ANNEXATION OF REAL PROPERTY TO MARIN LOCAL 
AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION

This agreement is made and entered into on this ____ day of October 2024, by and between the Marin Local Agency Formation 
Commission, (�LAFCo� hereafter), and Margaret M. Peirsol (�Owner� hereafter) and is based upon the 
following facts:

Owner holds title to that certain real property (�the Property� hereafter) described in Exhibit �A� attached hereto and shown for 
illustrative purposes only on the attached Exhibit �B;� and

(a)

Owner desires annexation to the San Rafael Sanitation District provided by San Rafael Sanitary District. LAFCo 
recognizes that at this time, annexation of this property to The City of San Rafael would result in inefficient 
provision of services to the property, but that at some point in the future, the LAFCo may desire annexation.

(b)

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY AGREED BY AND BETWEEN THE PARTIES HERETO 
AS FOLLOWS:

Owner agrees on behalf of their heirs, successors and assigns that, in the event any future proceedings for annexation 
of the property to The City of San Rafael shall be initiated by LAFCo, Owner shall neither directly nor 
indirectly oppose or protest such annexation.

1.

Owner agrees that their obligations hereunder shall run with the Property and that the Property shall be held, conveyed, 
hypothecated, encumbered, leased, rented, used and occupied subject to the provisions of this Agreement 
and that the obligations undertaken by Owner hereunder shall be binding on all parties having or acquiring 
any right, title, or interest in the Property.

2.



MARIN LAFCO 1. PETITION FOR PROCEEDING PURUSANT TO THE CORTESE-KNOX-HERTZBERG 
ACT LOCAL GOVERNMENT REORGANIZATION ACT 
OF 2000

The undersigned hereby petition(s) the Marin Local Agency Formation Commission for approval of a proposed 
change or organization or reorganization and stipulates as follows:

1. This proposal is made pursuant to Part 3, Division 3, and Title 5 of the California Government Code (commencing 
with Section 56000, Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000).

2. The specific change(s) of organization proposed (i.e. Annexation, Detachment, 
    Reorgamzatlop, etc) is/are annexation for change from septic 
to sewer

3. The boundaries of the territory(ies) included in the proposal are as described in Exhibits �A� and 
�B� attached hereto and by this reference incorporated herein.

4. The territory(ies) included in the proposal is/are:  ___ inhabited 
(12 or more registered voters) _X_Uninhabited (11 or 
fewer registered voters)

5. This proposal is _X_ is not, consistent with the sphere(s) of influence of the affected city 
and/or district(s).

6. The reason(s) for the proposed annexatuib (i.e.Detachment Reorganization, etc) is/are 
to get off septic and onto sewer

7. The proposal is requested to be made subject to the following terms and conditions:

8. The persons signing this petition have signed as:__  Registered voters_X_owners of the land __ On behalf of 
the Board, City, District, or Agency



Il. LANDOWNERS SIGNATURES 
(ﾧ56700, et seq.)

We the undersigned landowners hereby request proceedings be initiated pursuant to Government 
Code ﾧ56000, et seq. for the change(s) of organization described on the attached 
Proposal Application.  -

Name and Address of Applicant: Margret Piersol 
260 Highlan ave SRF, CA 94901

Agent Representative (optional) I/We hereby authorize Benjamin Franklin act as my/our agent to 
process all phases of the LAFCo action relating to the parcels listed below.

Contact Number: (415)456-1666 Emaili:None

Name and Address of Agent: & ���j�lvwf,./ f{&&d ;?

Contact Number: 4152334850 Email: None

Property Owner Signature Date



Additional Notification Approval (Optional)

1/We hereby authorize, that in addition to the application representative, the persons listed below are granted permission 
to receive copies of application notices, and reports.

Please provide the names, email addresses, and phone numbers of any persons who are to be furnished copies of the 
Agenda, Executive Officer�s Report, and Notice of Hearings. This includes name, title, email address, and phone 
number of key staff you've worked with/talked to. This allows LAFCo to send information directly to the key person 
in each agency who is relevant to the application:



MARIN LAFCO III. APPLICATION 
QUESTIONNAIRE

In accordance with requirements set forth in the California Government Code, the Commission must 
review specific factors in its consideration of this proposal. In order to facilitate the Commission�s 
review, please respond to the following questions:

GENERAL INFORMATION

1. Please check the method by which this application was 
initiated: Petition (Landowner) Resolution of Application 
(City/Town or District)

3. A. This application is being submitted for the following boundary change:  (BE SPECIFIC: 
For example, �annexation, reorgamzatlon")  Annexation to Marin Sanitary 
District

2. Does the applicatjon possess 100% written consent of each property owner in the subject territory? 
Yes x No

4. State general locatipn of proposal: unincorporated 
neighborhhod of san rafael country 
club

B. The reason for the proposed action(s) being requested: (BE SPECIFIC: For 
example, �Annexation to sewer disfrict for construction of three homes�)Annexation 
to Sanitary District for Connection



5. Is the proposal within a city�s boundaries? Yes Which city?  No _X_ Ifthe proposal is adjacent 
to a city, provide city name: San Rafael

6. Is thie subject territory located within an island of unincorporated territory? Y_X_ No__ 
If applicable, indicate city_____

7. Would this proposal create an island of unincorporated territory? Yes No X If yes, 
please justify proposed boundary change:

8. Provide the following information regarding the area proposed for annexation. (attatch additional if needed)

A. Assessor�s Parcel Number(s) 016-021-64 Site Address(es) 260 Highlan Ave. San Rafael, CA 94901

B. Total number of parcels included in this application: 1

9. Total land area in acres: _



LAND USE AND DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL

1. Describe any special land use concerns: 
N/A

2. Indicate current land use: (such as: nrmber of dwellings, permits currently 
held, etc.)
Single-Residential Improved one house

Indicate the current zoning (either city/town or country) title and densities 
permitted

4. Has the area been prezoned? No N/A_ X Yes  What is the prezoning 
classification, title and densities permitted?

5. Describe the specific development potential of the property: (number of units allowed in zoning) R1-Residential 
Single-Family



ENVIRONMENT
1. Isthe site presently zoned, or designated for, or engaged in agricultural use?

Yes  If yes, explain:  No Z

2. Will the proposal result in a reduction of public or private open space?

Yes  If yes, explain:  No _X_

3. Will service extension accomplished by this proposal induce growth in:

A. This site?  Yes  No X  N/A
B. Adjacent sites? Yes No__ X N/A

C. Unincorporated? Yes No X

D. Incorporated? Yes - No X

4. state general description of site topography on a hillside

5. Indicated Lead Agency for this project: Marin_ (L Q� o

6. Indicate Environmental Determination by Lead Agency: CEQA Exepmt with 
respect to (indicate project) 1CEQA Guidelines Section 15319(a)

(COPY OF ENVIRONMENTAL DOCUMENTS MUST BE SUBMITTED WiTH APPLICATION.)



IV. INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT

As part of this Application, Applicant and its successors and assigns, shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless, LAFCo, 
its officials, officers, employees, agents, representatives, contractors and assigns from and against any and 
all claims, demands, liability, judgments, damages (including consequential damages), awards, interests, attorneys� 
fees, costs and expenses of whatsoever kind or nature, at any time arising out of, or in any way connected 
with any legal challenges to or appeals associated with LAFCo�s review and/or approval of the Application 
(collectively, �Indemnification Costs�). Applicant�s obligation to indemnify, defend and hold harmless 
LAFCo, its officials, officers, employees, agents, representatives, contractors and assigns under this Agreement 
shall apply regardless of fault, to any acts or omissions, or negligent conduct, whether active or passive, 
on the part of the Applicant, LAFCo, its officials, officers, employees, agents, representatives, contractor or 
assigns. Applicant�s obligation to defend LAFCo, its officials, officers, employees, agents, representatives, contractor 
or assigns under this Agreement shall be at Applicant�s sole expense and using counsel selected or approved 
by LAFCo in LAFCo�s sole discretion.  In the event of a lawsuit, Applicant will be notified by LAFCo within 
three (3) business days of being served. An invoice will be submitted to the Applicant by LAFCo for an amount 
between $10,000 and $25,000 to cover a portion of the Indemnification Costs (�Reserve�), which shall depend 
upon the estimated cost to resolve the matter and shall be determined in LAFCo�s sole discretion. Applicant 
shall pay the Reserve to LAFCo within seven (7) calendar days of LAFCo�s request. The Reserve shall 
be applied against LAFCo�s final bill for the Indemnification Costs, with any unused portion to be returned to 
Applicant. LAFCo shall bill Applicant month for the Indemnification Costs, which shall be paid to LAFCo no later 
than 15 calendar days after receipt of LAFCo�s bill. LAFCo may stop defending the matter, if at any time LAFCo 
has not received timely payment of the Reserve and/or the Indemnification Costs. This will not relieve Applicant 
of any of its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

As the Applicant | hereby attest with signature,



V. PLAN FOR PROVIDING SERVICES (For 
City/Town or District Only)

This section to be completed by a city/town or district representative for all the applications 
initatiate by resolutioin or as required by Executive Officer

1. Enumerate and describe services to be extended to the affected territory:

Police

Sewer
Water:

Other:

2. Advise whether any of the affected agencies serving or expected to serve this site are 
current operating at or near capacity:

3. Describe the level and range of services:

4. Indicate when services can/will be extended to the affected territory:

5. Note any improvements or upgrading of structures, roads, sewer or water facilities, or 
other conditions required within the affected territory:

Marin LAFCo Application Revised 2021 og



6. Describe financial arrangements for construction and operation of services extended to the affected territory. Will the 
territory be subject to any special taxes, charges or fees? (If so, please specify.)

This section completed by:

Signature Title

Print Name Agency

Contact Email Contact Number



Sections 56668 Sections 566682 Response

a

Population and population density; land area and land use; *** assessed 
valuation; topography, natural boundaries, and drainage basins; proximity to 
other populated areas; the likelihood of significant growth in the area, and in 
adjacent incorporated and unincorporated areas, during the next 10 years.

will have no significant 
change for area

b

The need for organized community services; the present cost and adequacy of 
governmental services and controls in the area; probable future needs for 
those services and controls; probable effect of the proposed incorporation, 
formation, annexation, or exclusion and of alternative courses of action on 
the cost and adequacy of services and controls in the area and adjacent 
areas. "Services," as used in this subdivision, refers to governmental services 
whether or not the services are services which would be provided by local 
agencies subject to this division, and includes the public facilities necessary 
to provide those services.

will have no significant 
impact

c

The effect of the proposed action and of alternative actions, on adjacent 
areas, on mutual social and economic interests, and on the local 
governmental structure of the county.

will have no significant 
impact

d

The conformity of both the proposal and its anticipated effects with both the 
adopted commission policies on providing planned, orderly, efficient patterns 
of urban development, and the policies and priorities in Section 56377.

conforms with local 
policy and 56377

e
The effect of the proposal on maintaining the physical and economic integrity 
of agricultural lands, as defined by Section 56016.

This is not an AG 
designated area

f

The definiteness and certainty of the boundaries of the territory, the 
nonconformance of proposed boundaries with lines of assessment or 
ownership, the creation of islands or corridors of unincorporated territory, 
and other similar matters affecting the proposed boundaries.

all boundaries conform 
properly

g A regional transportation plan adopted pursuant to Section 65080

This has no impact on 
regional transportation 
plan because of the 
small scale of item

h The proposal's consistency with city or county general and specific plans.
Is consistent with all 
plans

i
The sphere of influence of any local agency which may be applicable to the 
proposal being reviewed.

Is within SOI of 
jurisidication being 
annexed into

  j The comments of any affected local agency or other public agency.
See comments in staff 
memo

k

The ability of the newly formed or receiving entity to provide the services 
which are the subject of the application to the area, including the sufficiency 
of revenues for those services following the proposed boundary change.

Agency has capacity to 
serve

l
Timely availability of water supplies adequate for projected needs as 
specified in Section 65352.5.

 MMWD MSR shows 
they have capacity

m

The extent to which the proposal will affect a city or cities and the county in 
achieving their respective fair shares of the regional housing needs as 
determined by the appropriate council of governments consistent with Article 
10.6 (commencing with Section 65580) of Chapter 3 of Division 1 of Title 7.

This project is too small 
to have an impact

n
Any information or comments from the landowner or ***landowners, voters, 
or residents of the affected territory.

They have signed 
consent form

o Any information relating to existing land use designations.
No changes to land use 
needed

p

The extent to which the proposal will promote environmental justice. As used 
in this subdivision, "environmental justice" means the fair treatment of 
people of all races, cultures, and incomes with respect to the location of 
public facilities and the provision of public services.

This application will have 
no impact on EJ 

q

 Information contained in a local hazard mitigation plan, information 
contained in a safety element of a general plan, and any maps that identify 
land as a very high fire hazard zone pursuant to Section 51178 or maps that 
identify land determined to be in a state responsibility area pursuant to 
Section 4102 of the Public Resources Code, if it is determined that such 
information is relevant to the area that is the subject of the proposal.

Not relevant to this 
proposal.

 Section 56668.3 parts a and b

a

If the proposed change of organization or reorganization includes a city 
detachment or district annexation, except a special reorganization, and the 
proceeding has not been terminated based upon receipt of a resolution 
requesting termination pursuant to either Section 56751 or Section 56857, 
factors to be considered by the commission shall include all of the following: see comments below

a1

In the case of a district annexation, whether the proposed annexation will be 
for the interest of landowners or present or future inhabitants within the 
district and within the territory proposed to be annexed to the district.

Is in the interest of 
landowner and 
inhabitants



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   

 

m 

Barbara Coler, Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Vacant, Alternate  
City/Town 

 

Lew Kious, Regular 
Almonte Sanitary District 
 

Craig Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

Cathryn Hilliard, Alternate 
Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

Larry Chu, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Roger Smith, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Vice-Chair  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  

County of Marin 

 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT  

December 12th, 2024 

Item No. 6 (Public Hearing) 

 

TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 

 

FROM: Jeren Batchelder-Seibel, Deputy Executive Officer 

   

SUBJECT: Presentation of the Central Marin Wastewater Municipal Service Review Public Draft 

(Information Only) 

 

Background  

 

On November 27th, 2024, staff released the draft (attached) of the Central Marin Wastewater Municipal 

Service Review (MSR) for public comment.  Upon release, staff sent the draft to staff for all of the 

participating LAFCo jurisdictions with the request that it be passed along to the respective boards and 

councils.  In addition, it was sent to all other LAFCo member agencies.   

LAFCo is accepting public comment on this draft through the end of the day on Friday, January 24th.  As 

of the writing of this staff memo, LAFCo has received no official comments.     

During the December meeting the Commission will hear from staff about what is in the draft report’s 

recommendations of what, if anything, each agency should make an effort to address moving forward.  

Commissioners will be able to ask questions to staff.  In addition, the public will be given time to make 

comments on the draft MSR. 

 

Staff Recommendation for Action 

No formal action is needed for this item at this time but discussion and general direction on any desired 

changes should be given and this item should be continued to the next meeting for final approval. 

Attachment: 

1. Public Draft of Central Marin Wastewater MSR 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo   Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
 

Municipal Service Review 

Central Marin Wastewater Study 

 

PUBLIC DRAFT  

December 2024 



 

Marin LAFCo  i Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

PREFACE 

This Municipal Services Review (MSR) documents and analyzes services provided by local 

governmental agencies that are providing wastewater collection and/or treatment in the central 

corridor of Marin County. Specifically, it evaluates the adequacy and efficiency of local 

government structure and boundaries within the regions and provides a basis for boundary 

planning decisions by the Marin Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo). 

Context  

Marin LAFCo is required to prepare this MSR in accordance with the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg 

Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (Government Code §56000, et seq.), which took 

effect on January 1, 2001. The MSR reviews services provided by public agencies—cities and 

special districts—whose boundaries and governance are subject to LAFCo. The analysis and 

recommendations included herein serve to promote and coordinate the efficient delivery of local 

government services and encourage the preservation of open space and agricultural lands. 

Commissioners, Staff, Municipal Service Review Preparers  

Commissioners    

Barbara Coler – Chair  City    Town of Fairfax 

Dennis Rodoni – Vice Chair County    District 4 Supervisor 

Eric Lucan   County    District 5 Supervisor 

Larry Chu   Public    Commission 

Lew Kious   Special District  Almonte Sanitary District 

Craig Murray   Special District  Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Steve Burdo   City    Town of San Anselmo 

Roger Smith   Public Alternate  Commission 

Cathryn Hilliard  Special District Alternate Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

Vacant    City Alternate    

Stephanie Moulton-Peters County Alternate  District 3 Supervisor 

 

Staff 

Jason Fried   Executive Officer 

Jeren Batchelder-Seibel Deputy Executive Officer 

Claire Devereux  Clerk/Junior Analyst 

MSR Preparers  

Jeren Batchelder-Seibel Deputy Executive Officer 

  



 

Marin LAFCo  ii Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Table of Contents 

1.0 INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................. 7 

1.1 ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITY OF LAFCO ....................................................................................7 
1.2 MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEWS .................................................................................................8 
1.3 MARIN LAFCO COMPOSITION .................................................................................................9 

2.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................................. 10 

2.1 AFFECTED PUBLIC AGENCIES ................................................................................................. 10 
2.2 PLANS, POLICIES, STUDIES ..................................................................................................... 10 
2.3 AGENCY AND PUBLIC PARTICIPATION ..................................................................................... 11 
2.4 WRITTEN DETERMINATIONS................................................................................................... 12 

3.0 DETERMINATIONS ...................................................................................................................... 14 

4.0 RECOMMENDATIONS ................................................................................................................ 18 

5.0 REGIONAL SETTING ................................................................................................................... 21 

6.0 CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY ............................................................................ 22 

6.1 OVERVIEW ............................................................................................................................. 22 
6.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT............................................................................................ 22 
6.3 SERVICE AREA ....................................................................................................................... 24 
6.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION .................................................................................................... 25 
6.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES ............................................................................................................ 25 
6.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE ................................................................................................... 28 
6.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY .................................................................................. 31 
6.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW ........................................................................................................... 31 

7.0 MURRAY PARK SEWER MAINTENANCE DISTRICT ......................................................... 34 

7.1 OVERVIEW ............................................................................................................................. 34 

8.0 ROSS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT ..................................................................................... 35 

8.1 OVERVIEW ............................................................................................................................. 35 
8.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT............................................................................................ 35 
8.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE .................................................................. 38 



 

Marin LAFCo  iii Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

8.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION .................................................................................................... 38 
8.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES ............................................................................................................ 40 
8.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE ................................................................................................... 42 
8.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY .................................................................................. 42 
8.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW ........................................................................................................... 43 

9.0 SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT ................................................................................... 46 

9.1 OVERVIEW ............................................................................................................................. 46 
9.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT............................................................................................ 46 
9.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE .................................................................. 48 
9.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION .................................................................................................... 49 
9.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES ............................................................................................................ 50 
9.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE .................................................................................................. 50 
9.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY .................................................................................. 52 
9.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW ........................................................................................................... 53 

10.0 SANITARY DISTRICT NO. 2 OF MARIN COUNTY ............................................................. 56 

10.1 OVERVIEW ............................................................................................................................ 56 
10.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT .......................................................................................... 56 
10.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ................................................................ 59 
10.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION .................................................................................................. 59 
10.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES .......................................................................................................... 60 
10.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE ................................................................................................ 61 
10.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ................................................................................ 62 
10.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW ......................................................................................................... 62 

11.0 SAN QUENTIN VILLAGE SEWER MAINTENANCE DISTRICT ....................................... 65 

11.1 OVERVIEW ............................................................................................................................ 65 
11.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT .......................................................................................... 65 
11.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ................................................................ 67 
11.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION .................................................................................................. 67 
11.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES .......................................................................................................... 67 
11.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE ................................................................................................. 68 
11.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ................................................................................ 69 
11.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW ......................................................................................................... 69 

12.0 LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT ................................................................ 70 

12.1 OVERVIEW ............................................................................................................................ 70 
12.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT .......................................................................................... 70 



 

Marin LAFCo  iv Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

12.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ................................................................ 73 
12.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION .................................................................................................. 73 
12.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES .......................................................................................................... 74 
12.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE ................................................................................................. 76 
12.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ................................................................................ 77 
12.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW ......................................................................................................... 77 

 

  



 

Marin LAFCo  v Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

List of Figures 

FIGURE 6- 1:CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY SERVICE AREA ............................................................................................ 24 
FIGURE 6- 2: CMSA DISCHARGE MAP ................................................................................................................................. 28 
FIGURE 6- 3: CMSA ORGANIZATION CHART ......................................................................................................................... 29 
FIGURE 6- 4: DRAFT CMSA ORGANIZATION CHART ................................................................................................................ 30 
 

FIGURE 8- 1:ROSS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT JURISDICTIONAL BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ........................................... 37 
 

FIGURE 9- 1: SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT JURISDICTIONAL BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ......................................... 48 
FIGURE 9- 2: DRAFT CMSA ORGANIZATION CHART ................................................................................................................ 52 
 

FIGURE 10- 1: SANITARY DISTRICT NO. 2 OF MARIN COUNTY JURISDICTIONAL BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ....................... 58 
 

FIGURE 11- 1: SAN QUENTIN VILLAGE SEWER MAINTENANCE DISTRICT SERVICE AREA .................................................................. 66 
 

FIGURE 12- 1: LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT JURISDICTIONAL BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE ............................. 72 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  vi Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

List of Tables 

 

TABLE 1-1: LAFCO'S REGULATORY POWERS ................................................................................................................ 7 
TABLE 1-2: MANDATORY DETERMINATIONS.................................................................................................................. 8 
TABLE 1-3: MARIN LAFCO COMMISSION MEMBERSHIP ................................................................................................ 8 

 

TABLE 2-1: CENTRAL MARIN WASTEWATER MSR AGENCY NAMES ........................................................................... 10 

TABLE 2-2: CENTRAL MARIN WASTEWATER MSR AGENCIES' MEETING INFORMATION ............................................. 11 

 

TABLE 6-1: CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY OVERVIEW .................................................................................. 22 
TABLE 6-2: CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS ....................................................... 28 
TABLE 6-3: CMSA REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES..................................................................................................... 32 

 

TABLE 8-1:ROSS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT OVERVIEW ......................................................................................... 35 
TABLE 8-2: POPULATION CHANGES AS SINGLE CENSUS-DESIGNATED AREAS FOR 2010 AND 2024 ............................. 39 
TABLE 8-3: ROSS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS....................................................................... 42 
TABLE 8-4: ROSS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION ................................................................. 44 

 

TABLE 9-1: SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT OVERVIEW ....................................................................................... 46 
TABLE 9-2: SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS ..................................................................... 51 
TABLE 9-3: SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT TOTAL REVENUES AND OPERATING EXPENDITURES DATA .............. 54 

 

TABLE 10-1: SANITARY DISTRICT NO. 2 OF MARIN COUNTY OVERVIEW ..................................................................... 56 
TABLE 10-2: SANITARY DISTRICT NO. 2 BOARD OF DIRECTORS .................................................................................. 61 
TABLE 10-3: SANITARY DISTRICT NO. 2 TOTAL REVENUES AND OPERATING EXPENDITURES DATA ........................... 64 

 

TABLE 11-1: SAN QUENTIN VILLAGE SEWER MAINTENANCE DISTRICT OVERVIEW .................................................... 65 
TABLE 11-2: MARIN COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS ............................................................................................... 68 

 

TABLE 12-1: LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT OVERVIEW ....................................................................... 70 
TABLE 12-2: LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS ..................................................... 77 

TABLE 12-3: LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION ................................................ 79 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  7 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITY OF LAFCO 
Local Agency Formation Commissions (LAFCos) were established in 1963 and are political 

subdivisions of the State of California responsible for providing regional growth management 

oversight in all 58 counties. LAFCos’ authority is currently codified under the Cortese-Knox-

Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (“CKH”), which specifies regulatory, 

and planning powers delegated by the Legislature to coordinate and oversee the establishment, 

expansion, and organization of cities and special districts as well as their municipal service areas. 

Guiding LAFCos’ regulatory and planning powers is to fulfill specific purposes and objectives 

that collectively construct the Legislature’s regional growth management priorities under 

Government Code (G.C.) Section 56301. This statute reads: 

“Among the purposes of the commission are discouraging urban sprawl, 

preserving open space and prime agricultural lands, efficiently providing 

governmental services, and encouraging the orderly formation and development 

of local agencies based upon local conditions and circumstances. One of the 

objects of the commission is to make studies and to obtain and furnish 

information which will contribute to the logical and reasonable development of 

local agencies in each county and to shape the development of local agencies so 

as to advantageously provide for the present and future needs of each county 

and its communities.” 

 

LAFCo decisions are legislative in nature and not subject to an outside appeal process. LAFCos 

also have broad powers with respect to conditioning regulatory and planning approvals so long 

as not establishing terms that directly control land uses, densities, or subdivision requirements. 

Regulatory Responsibilities 
LAFCos’ principal regulatory responsibility involves approving or disapproving all jurisdictional 

changes involving the establishment, expansion, and reorganization of cities and most special 

districts.1 More recently LAFCos have been tasked with also overseeing the approval process for 

cities and districts to provide new or extended services beyond their jurisdictional boundaries by 

existing service. LAFCos generally exercise their regulatory authority in response to applications 

submitted by the affected agencies, landowners, or registered voters. 

Recent CKH amendments, however, now authorize and encourage LAFCos to initiate on their 

own jurisdictional changes to form, consolidate, and dissolve special districts consistent with 

current and future community needs. LAFCo regulatory powers are described in Table 1.1 

below. 

 
1 CKH defines “special district” to mean any agency of the State formed pursuant to general law or special act for the local 
performance of governmental or proprietary functions within limited boundaries. All special districts in California are 
subject to LAFCo with the following exceptions: school districts; community college districts; assessment districts; 
improvement districts; community facilities districts; transportation districts; and air pollution control districts. 



 

Marin LAFCo  8 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Table 1-1: LAFCo's Regulatory Powers 

Regulatory Powers Granted by Government Code (G.C.) Section 56301 

• City Incorporations / Disincorporations • City and District Annexations 

• District Formations / Dissolutions • City and District Detachments 

• City and District Consolidations • Merge/Establish Subsidiary Districts 

• City and District Outside Service Extensions • District Service Activations / Divestitures 

 

Planning Responsibilities 
LAFCos inform their regulatory actions through two central planning responsibilities: (a) making 

sphere of influence (“sphere”) determinations and (b) preparing municipal service reviews. 

Sphere determinations have been a core planning function of LAFCos since 1971 and effectively 

serve as the Legislature’s version of “urban growth boundaries” with regard to cumulatively 

delineating the appropriate interface between urban and non-urban uses within each county. 

Municipal service reviews, in contrast, are a relatively new planning responsibility enacted as 

part of CKH and are intended to inform – among other activities – sphere determinations. The 

Legislature mandates, notably, all sphere changes as of 2001 be accompanied by preceding 

municipal service reviews to help ensure LAFCos are effectively aligning governmental services 

with current and anticipated community needs.  

1.2 MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEWS 
Municipal service reviews were a centerpiece to CKH’s enactment in 2001 and are 

comprehensive studies of the availability, range, and performance of governmental services 

provided within a defined geographic area. LAFCos generally prepare municipal service reviews 

to explicitly inform subsequent sphere determinations. LAFCos also prepare municipal service 

reviews irrespective of making any specific sphere determinations in order to obtain and furnish 

information to contribute to the overall orderly development of local communities. Municipal 

service reviews vary in scope and can focus on a particular agency or governmental service. 

LAFCos may use the information generated from municipal service reviews to initiate other 

actions under their authority, such as forming, consolidating, or dissolving one or more local 

agencies.  

All municipal service reviews – regardless of their intended purpose – culminate with LAFCos 

preparing written statements addressing seven specific service factors listed under G.C. Section 

56430. This includes most notably, infrastructure needs or deficiencies, growth and population 

trends, and financial standing. The seven mandated service factors are summarized in the 

following table.      



 

Marin LAFCo  9 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Table 1-2: Mandatory Determinations 

Mandatory Determinations / Municipal Service Reviews 

(Government Code Section 56430) 

1. Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

2. Location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within or contiguous 

to affected spheres of influence. 

3. Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and infrastructure 

needs or deficiencies. 

4. Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

5. Status and opportunities for shared facilities. 

6. Accountability for community service needs, including structure and operational efficiencies. 

7. Matters relating to effective or efficient service delivery as required by LAFCo policy. 

1.3 MARIN LAFCO COMPOSITION 
Marin LAFCo is governed by a 7-member board comprised of two county supervisors, two city 

council members, two independent special district members, and one representative of the 

general public. Each group also gets to appoint one “alternate” member.  Each member must 

exercise their independent judgment, separate from their appointing group, on behalf of the 

interests of all residents, landowners, and the public. Marin LAFCo is independent of local 

government and employs its own staff.  Marin LAFCo’s current commission membership is 

provided below in Table 1-3. 

Table 1-3: Marin LAFCo Commission Membership 

Name Position Agency Affiliation 

Lew Kious Special District Almonte Sanitary District 

Barbara Coler, Chair City Town of Fairfax 

Eric Lucan County District 5 Supervisor 

Dennis Rodoni, Vice Chair County District 4 Supervisor 

Steve Burdo City Town of San Anselmo 

Craig Murray Special District Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Larry Chu Public Commission 

Roger Smith Public Alternate Commission 

Cathryn Hilliard Special District Alternate Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

Vacant City Alternate  

Stephanie Moulton-Peters County Alternate District 3 Supervisor 

Marin LAFCo offices are located at 1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 in San Rafael. 

Information on Marin LAFCo’s functions and activities, including reorganization applications, 

are available by calling (415) 448-5877 by e-mail to staff@marinlafco.org or by visiting 

www.marinlafco.org.  

  

http://www.marinlafco.org/


 

Marin LAFCo  10 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

2.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

This study represents Marin LAFCo’s scheduled regional municipal service review of local 

agencies that provide wastewater services in the region of central Marin County. The underlying 

aim of the study is to produce an independent assessment of the municipal services provided by 

the agencies over the next five to ten years relative to the Commission’s regional growth 

management duties and responsibilities. The information generated as part of the study will be 

directly used by the Commission in (a) guiding subsequent sphere of influence updates, (b) 

informing future boundary changes, and – if merited – (c) initiating government reorganizations, 

such as special district formations, consolidations, and/or dissolutions. 

2.1 AFFECTED PUBLIC AGENCIES 
This report focuses on two independent special districts, four dependent special districts, and one 

joint powers authority (JPA) operating in the central corridor of Marin County as listed below 

and shown in Figure 2.1.  

 

Table 2-1: Central Marin Wastewater MSR Agencies 

Central Marin Wastewater MSR Agency Names 

Ross Valley Sanitary District 

Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County 

Central Marin Sanitation Agency 

San Rafael Sanitation Agency 

San Quentin Village Sewer Maintenance District 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Murray Park Sewer Maintenance District 

2.2 PLANS, POLICIES, STUDIES 
Key references and information sources for this study were gathered for each agency considered. 

The references utilized in this study include published reports; review of agency files and 

databases (agendas, minutes, budgets, contracts, audits, etc.); Master Plans; Capital Improvement 

Plans; engineering reports; EIRs; finance studies; general plans; and state and regional agency 

information (permits, reviews, communications, regulatory requirements, etc.). Additionally, the 

LAFCo Executive Officer and Deputy Executive Officer contacted each agency with requests for 

information.   

The study area for this MSR includes eight cities/towns, multiple census-designated 

unincorporated communities, as well as a number of unincorporated neighborhoods adjacent to 

the cities. In the areas entirely outside of the cities, Marin County has the primary authority over 

local land use and development policies (and growth).  The eight respective municipalities have 

authority over land use and development policies within their distinct jurisdictions.  City, 

County, and Community plans were vital for the collection of baseline and background data for 

each agency.  The following is a list of documents used in the preparation of this MSR:  



 

Marin LAFCo  11 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

• County General Plans 

• Housing Elements 

• Specific Plans  

• Community Plans 

• Sewer System Master Plans 

• Wastewater Treatment Plant Master Plan 

• Previous municipal service reviews 

• Agency databases and online archives (agendas, meeting minutes, website information)  

2.3 AGENCY AND PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
Within the approved scope of work, this study has been prepared with an emphasis on soliciting 

outside public review and comment as well as multiple opportunities for input from the affected 

agencies. This included an agency startup meeting with Marin LAFCo, information requests sent 

to individual agencies, draft agency profiles also sent to agencies, and a review of the draft report 

prior to Commission action.  

This MSR is posted on the Commission’s website (www.marinlafco.org). It may also be 

reviewed at the LAFCo office located at 1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 in San Rafael during 

open hours. 

 

Table 2-2:  Central Marin Wastewater MSR Agencies’ Meeting Information 

Central Marin Wastewater Municipal Service Review – Agency Transparency 

Agency Governing 

Body 

Meeting 

Date/Time 

Meeting Location Televised/ 

Streaming 

Website 

Ross Valley 

Sanitary 

District 

Board of 

Directors 

3rd Wednesday 

at 5:00 p.m. 

RVSD Admin Building 

1111 Anderson Drive 

San Rafael, CA 

No https://www.rvsd.org/1

98/Board-of-Directors 

Central 

Marin 

Sanitation 

Agency 

Board of 
Commissioners 

2nd Tuesday at 

6:00 p.m. 

CMSA Board Room 

1301 Andersen Drive 

San Rafael, CA 

No https://www.cmsa.us/b

oard/agendas-and-

minutes 

San Rafael 

Sanitation 

District 

Board of 

Directors 

3rd Friday at 

9:00 a.m. 

San Rafael City Hall 

1400 5th Avenue 

San Rafael, CA 

Yes https://www.cityofsanr

afael.org/sanitation-

district-board-of-

directors/ 

Las Gallinas 

Valley 

Sanitary 

District 

Board of 

Directors 

1st and 3rd 

Thursday at 

4:00 p.m. 

LGVSD Office 

101 Lucas Valley Road 

San Rafael, CA 

No https://www.lgvsd.org/

board-meetings 

San Quentin 

Village 

Sewer 

Maintenance 

District 

Board of 

Directors 

Scheduled 

Tuesdays 9:00 

a.m. 

Marin County Civic Center 

3501 Civic Center Drive 

San Rafael, CA 

Yes marincounty.gov/depar

tments/board 

https://www.rvsd.org/198/Board-of-Directors
https://www.cmsa.us/board/agendas-and-minutes
https://www.cityofsanrafael.org/sanitation-district-board-of-directors/?filter_categories%5b%5d=643
https://www.lgvsd.org/board-meetings
https://www.marincounty.gov/departments/board/board-supervisors-meetings#meetingagendasandvideos


 

Marin LAFCo  12 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

 

2.4 WRITTEN DETERMINATIONS 
The Commission is directed to prepare written determinations to address the multiple governance 

factors enumerated under G.C. Section 56430 anytime it prepares a municipal service review. 

These determinations are similar to findings and serve as independent statements based on 

information collected, analyzed, and presented in this study’s subsequent sections. The 

underlying intent of the determinations is to identify all pertinent issues relating to the planning, 

delivery, and funding of municipal services as they relate to the Commission’s role and 

responsibilities. An explanation of these seven determination categories is provided below. 

1. Growth and Population 

This determination evaluates existing and projected population estimates for each of the 

unincorporated communities within the study area.   

2. Location and Characteristics of any Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities 

Within or Contiguous to the Sphere of Influence. 

This determination was added by Senate Bill (SB) 244, which became effective in 

January 2012. A disadvantaged community is defined as an inhabited community of 12 or 

more registered voters having a median household income of 80 percent or less than the 

statewide median household income. 

3. Capacity and Infrastructure 

Also discussed is the adequacy and quality of the services provided by each agency, 

including whether sufficient infrastructure and capital are in place (or planned for) to 

accommodate planned future growth and expansions.  

4. Financing 

This determination provides an analysis of the financial structure and health of each 

service provider, including the consideration of rates and service operations, as well as 

other factors affecting the financial health and stability of each provider. Other factors 

considered include those that affect the financing of needed infrastructure improvements 

and compliance with existing requirements relative to financial reporting and 

management. 

5. Shared Facilities 

Opportunities for districts to share facilities are described throughout this MSR. Practices 

and opportunities that may help to reduce or eliminate unnecessary costs are examined, 

Sanitary 

District No. 2 

of Marin 

County 

Board of 

Directors 

1st and 3rd 

Tuesday at 

6:45 p.m. 

Corte Madera Town Hall 

300 Tamalpais Drive 

Corte Madera, CA 

No https://www.cortema

dera.gov/600/Counci

lmembers 

Murray Park 

Sewer 

Maintenance 

District 

Board of 

Directors 

3rd Wednesday 

at 5:00 p.m. 

RVSD Admin Building 

1111 Anderson Drive 

San Rafael, CA 

No https://www.rvsd.org/1

98/Board-of-Directors 



 

Marin LAFCo  13 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

along with cost avoidance measures that are already being utilized. Occurrences of 

facilities sharing are listed and assessed for more efficient delivery of services. 

6. Government Structure and Local Accountability 

This subsection addresses the adequacy and appropriateness of existing boundaries and 

spheres of influence and evaluates the ability of each service provider to meet its 

demands under its existing government structure. Also included is an evaluation of 

compliance by each provider with public meeting and records laws (Brown Act). 

7. Other Matters Related to Effective or Efficient Service Delivery, as Required by 

Commission Policy 

Marin LAFCo has specified the sustainability of local agencies as a priority matter for 

consideration in this MSR. Sustainability is not simply about the environment but can 

consider the sustainability of an organization and its ability to continue to provide 

services efficiently for many years to come. Sustainable local governments that take 

practical steps to protect the environment and our natural resources through land 

conservations, water recycling and reuse, preservation of open space, and opting to use 

renewable energy are the key players in determining the sustainability of the region.  

In addition, other matters for consideration could relate to the potential future SOI 

determination and/or additional effort to review potential advantages or disadvantages of 

consolidation or reorganization. 

A summary of determinations regarding each of the above categories is provided in Chapter 3 

of this document and will be considered by Marin LAFCo in assessing potential future changes 

to an SOI or other reorganization. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  14 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

3.0 DETERMINATIONS 

Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

 

a) Despite an annual population decline since 2017 of -0.48%, the Association of Bay Area 

Governments (ABAG) projects the population of Marin County to grow by 12% by 2040 to a 

total population of 283,000.  While the current development potential within the multiple 

planning areas throughout the County is fairly minimal, ABAG’s Regional Housing Needs 

Allocation plan has required the addition of 3,569 housing units in unincorporated Marin 

County, and 9,971 units within all of the incorporated cities and towns throughout the 

County.  Using the baseline of the average persons per household captured by the 2020 

Census for Marin County of 2.4, if the full RHNA allocation were to be met, it could 

reasonably be assumed to add approximately 32,000 people to the current population 

estimate of 252,959. 

 

Within the affected agencies in the study area, the total estimated population is 129,282.  

Each of the agencies among LGVSD, RVSD, SD2, SQVSMD, and SRSD have seen minimal 

growth since 2010, with SD2 having the highest annual growth rate during this stretch of 

0.66%.  As each of the areas within the affected agencies is essentially built out, additional 

growth over the next ten years is expected to be minimal and on par with what has been 

experienced over the past decade.  Despite the Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) 

housing mandates within each of the affected agencies’ jurisdictions, the anticipated growth 

impacts from these prospective developments are anticipated to be dispersed well beyond the 

current planning cycle due in part to the nature of development difficulties in Marin County, 

the current costs of development in correlation to the requirement of affordable housing, and 

the cost of living in the area.  

 

The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within 

or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 

a) One census tract block group (Tract 1121, Block Group 1) that has been designated by 

Marin LAFCo as a disadvantaged unincorporated community (DUC) based on 2023 

American Community Survey data has been identified within the study area.  The block 

group is situated within the northern section of the California Park unincorporated island in 

the southern San Rafael area.  A disadvantaged community is defined in Water Code Section 

7905.5(a) as a community with an annual median household income of less than 80 percent 

of the statewide median household income.  The statutory definition of DUCs comes from 

Government Code Section 56033.5, which defines DUCs as “inhabited territory” that 

constitutes all or a portion of a disadvantaged community.  “Inhabited territory” may be 

defined by Government Code Section 56046 as having at least 12 registered voters, or it can 

be determined by “commission policy”. 



 

Marin LAFCo  15 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Per Marin LAFCo’s policy, Marin LAFCo will include considerations of disadvantaged 

unincorporated communities within a city or district sphere of influence in statements of 

written determinations of municipal service reviews.  Marin LAFCo will prohibit the 

approval of city annexations greater than 10 acres that are contiguous to a disadvantaged 

unincorporated community unless the city applies to annex the disadvantaged unincorporated 

community as well.  At this time Marin LAFCo has no applications for annexation for any 

lands contiguous to the identified DUC.  Should LAFCo in the future get such a request then 

it will work with the community to determine if it is in the best interest of those living within 

the DUC to be annexed.  If it is not in the community's best interest, then they would not be 

included in that application.  

 

Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and 

infrastructure needs or deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, 

municipal and industrial water, and structural fire protection in any disadvantaged 

unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 

 

a)  All of the affected agencies with collection systems and/or treatment facilities in Central 

Marin are accounting for and funding therein replacement of their capital infrastructure, 

albeit to different degrees and accordingly producing a sizeable range in equipment age 

among the agencies.  Each of the agencies over the course of the study window has 

accelerated its approach to infrastructure rehabilitation in comparison to the previous study 

window.  All of the wastewater collection systems within Central Marin appear adequately 

sized in accommodating current and projected flow demands.  This comment is substantiated 

given none of the affected agencies’ collection systems' peak-day demands generated during 

the study period exceeded 74% of estimated capacity. 

 

LGVSD is the entity responsible for treating and disposing of all wastewater generated 

within the Las Gallinas Watershed portion of Central Marin and has adequate capacity to 

accommodate current and projected flows through the next 5 years.  CMSA is the entity 

responsible for treating and disposing of all wastewater generated within the Ross Valley and 

San Rafael Creek Watersheds portion of Central Marin and has adequate capacity to 

accommodate current and projected flows through the next 5 years. 

 

 Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 

a) The Central Marin Sanitation Agency, Ross Valley Sanitary District, San Rafael Sanitation 

District, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County, and 

San Quentin Village Sewer Maintenance District all prepare annual budgets and financial 

statements in accordance with established governmental accounting standards.  The Boards 

of Directors, Boards of Commissioners, and the County Board of Supervisors acting as the 



 

Marin LAFCo  16 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Board for SQVSMD, may amend their budgets by resolution during the fiscal year in order to 

respond to emerging needs, changes in resources, or shifting priorities.  Expenditures may 

not exceed appropriations at the fund level, which is the legal level of control. 

 

b) The special district General Managers and County Administrative Officer are authorized 

to transfer budgeted amounts between accounts, departments, or funds under certain 

circumstances, however; the Special District Boards, JPA Commission, and County Board of 

Supervisors acting as the Board for the SQVSMD, must approve any increase in the 

operating expenditures, appropriations for capital projects, and transfers between major funds 

and reportable fund groups.  Audited financial statements are also prepared for each agency 

by independent certified public accounting firms.   

 

c)  While additional revenues are needed to provide some services and maintain 

infrastructure covered in this MSR, each agency meets its current and projected financial 

responsibilities to provide services.  While SQVSMD creates sufficient annual revenue to 

meet current expense trends, a rate increase would be necessitated in the case that the 

District’s residents were charged for CMSA treatment services that are currently being 

received.  Each of the affected agencies within the study area has demonstrated strong 

financial health over the study window.  All of the agencies, with the exception of SQVSMD 

due to its minimal infrastructure and focus on the proactive maintenance of that infrastructure 

as opposed to large-scale replacement, have been proactive in ensuring rates are adjusted to 

ensure that both current and future capital improvement plans are attainable while continuing 

to provide the same level of uninterrupted service to its user base.  Each of the agencies has 

shown consistent growth in net position, significant investment in capital assets, and 

budgetary management that has shown revenues outpacing operating expenditures on an 

annual basis.  

Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 

 

a) No opportunities were identified for the sharing specifically of constructed facilities 

between any of the agencies reviewed within the study. 

Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and 

operational efficiencies. 

 

a) SRSD’s dependent governance structure would be enhanced by formally designating the 

lone board seat dedicated to a member of the County of Marin to the incumbent holding 

Supervisor District 1 given it covers a vast majority of the jurisdictional boundary and 

approximately 70% of all unincorporated ratepayers.  This designation would provide a more 

logical and direct match between SRSD voters and their appointed representatives.   

b) Given the contiguous nature of the three single-service wastewater collection agencies 

within CMSA as well as the significant possibility of the pending consolidation of services 

between SRSD and CMSA, the Commission as well as the affected agencies should continue 



 

Marin LAFCo  17 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

to evaluate options to potentially reorganize and consolidate public wastewater services in 

Central Marin among agencies in the Ross Valley and San Rafael Creek Watersheds.  Should 

the consolidation efforts between SRSD and CMSA be completed, an annual evaluation of 

not just cost savings but also employee retention and service delivery efficiency should be 

completed in order to further examine whether further consolidation efforts throughout the 

region could produce greater accountability and efficiency within the combined watershed.  

 

c)  The reorganization of SQVSMD by dissolving the District and concurrently placing its 

respective service area into RVSD by annexation appears readily merited to improve local 

accountability and service efficiencies.  This reorganization would eliminate a seemingly 

superfluous dependent special district governed by the County of Marin in favor of 

recognizing RVSD as the preferred and more capable service provider moving forward. 

 

d)  Corrective action is needed to appropriately amend jurisdictional boundaries to better 

align service areas with existing property lines within the Ross Valley and San Rafael Creek 

Watersheds.  Similarly, boundary clean-ups are needed to correct instances where actual 

service provision in this region does not match up with assigned jurisdictional boundaries.    

 

Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by 

commission policy 

 

a) During the course of this municipal service review, Marin LAFCo requested information 

from the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District regarding the area that is currently outside of 

its jurisdictional boundary just to the southwest of its treatment plant.  The area in question 

holds the McInnis Park Golf Center, the San Rafael Airport, and two recently completed 

developments of Gravity Vault Marin and Flyte Racquet Club.  Given that this area is 

essentially surrounded by LGVSD lands and is in such close proximity, Marin LAFCo 

inquired as to whether the District was providing wastewater collection/treatment to these 

high-use facilities.  District staff was unable to provide Marin LAFCo with the requested 

information within the allotted time available.  As such, LGVSD staff should complete the 

necessary testing to assess whether service is currently being provided to this area and report 

back to Marin LAFCo with the findings.  If service is currently being provided, the District 

should submit an application for annexation to Marin LAFCo in a timely manner. 

 

b) During the course of this study, staff discovered that SQVSMD ratepayers do not receive 

charges for the treatment of their wastewater from CMSA.  It appears that this has been 

occurring due to the SQVSMD system feeding into the San Quentin Rehabilitation Center, 

which then mixes with that facility’s wastewater flows, and the facility being charged a fixed 

annual fee under the current contractual agreement.  In addition, the Caltrans Maintenance 

yard which is just outside of SQVSMD boundaries has been sending wastewater flows 

through SQVSMD to CMSA without payment to SQVSMD for collection or to CMSA for 

treatment.   



 

Marin LAFCo  18 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

4.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

The following recommendations call for specific action either from the Commission and/or 

by the affected agencies based on information generated as part of this study.  

Recommendations for Commission action are dependent on a subsequent directive from the 

membership and through the adopted work plan. 

1. Representatives from the County of Marin, acting on behalf of the San Quentin 

Village Sewer Maintenance District, and staff from the Ross Valley Sanitary District 

should continue to explore the feasibility of the reorganization of the area of 

SQVSMD into RVSD.  Should an agreement be reached, any application for 

annexation of SQVSMD should also include the annexation of assessor parcel 

number 018-154-11.  This parcel lies adjacent to SQVSMD on the eastern side of 

Main Street and is approximately 11.43 acres.  It contains a California Department of 

Transportation (Caltrans) maintenance station.  The wastewater from this parcel flows 

into the SQVSMD system on it way to the Central Marin Sanitation Agency 

treatment plant and should be subject to the respective collection and treatment fees 

associated.  Should an agreement between SQVSMD and RVSD not be forthcoming 

in the near future then SQVSMD and Caltrans should work to submit an application 

for the Caltrans parcel to be annexed into SQVSMD so it can pay for its use of the 

systems. 

 

2. Given the contiguous nature of the three single-service wastewater collection 

agencies within CMSA as well as the significant possibility of the pending 

consolidation of services between SRSD and CMSA, the Commission as well as the 

affected agencies should continue to evaluate options to potentially reorganize and 

consolidate public wastewater services in Central Marin among agencies in the Ross 

Valley and San Rafael Creek Watersheds.  Should the consolidation efforts between 

SRSD and CMSA be completed, an annual evaluation of not just cost savings but also 

employee retention and service delivery efficiency should be completed in order to 

provide a clearer analysis of whether further consolidation efforts throughout the 

region could produce greater accountability and efficiency within the combined 

watershed. 

 

3. Though not a legislatively mandated requirement of public agency websites, the San 

Rafael Sanitation District should add information to its website regarding its current 

rates, rate schedule, the most recent Prop 218 process it completed, and any rate study 

that was completed as this has become standard operating procedure and a generally 

accepted best practice amongst public wastewater agencies. 

 

4. During the course of this municipal service review, Marin LAFCo requested 

information from the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District regarding the area that is 

currently outside of its jurisdictional boundary just to the southwest of its treatment 

plant.  The area in question holds the McInnis Park Golf Center, the San Rafael 



 

Marin LAFCo  19 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Airport, and two recently completed developments of Gravity Vault Marin and Flyte 

Racquet Club.  Given that this area is essentially surrounded by LGVSD lands and is 

in such close proximity, Marin LAFCo inquired as to whether the District was 

providing wastewater collection/treatment to these high-use facilities.  District staff 

was unable to provide Marin LAFCo with the requested information within the 

allotted time available.  As such, LGVSD staff should complete the necessary testing 

to assess whether service is currently being provided to this area and report back to 

Marin LAFCo with the findings.  If service is currently being provided, the District 

should submit an application for annexation to Marin LAFCo in a timely manner.   

 

5. In the same manner that staff from RVSD and SD2 worked collaboratively and 

proactively to test and confirm which district was providing service to each of the 

properties along their shared boundary area, SRSD, LGVSD, and RVSD should make 

an effort to perform a similar analysis in order to ensure boundary lines are correct 

and that customers are receiving billing from the correct agency. In addition any 

district that has island(s) of areas within their broader boundary that do not show as 

being serviced and in one of these smaller island should determine if they are getting 

service and then work with LAFCo to fix the situation.      

 

6. Through the course of this study, LAFCo staff determined that a sphere of influence 

was never formally established for SQVSMD.  It appears, though not substantiated in 

any identified document, this is the result of previous notions that SQVSMD falls 

outside of the Commission’s authority due to its size and the principal act under 

which it was formed.  Commission staff has revisited this matter as part of this study 

and, after conferring with both other LAFCos around the state as well as State 

Government Code, conclude that SQVSMD and more specifically sewer maintenance 

districts formed under Public Health and Safety Code Section 4860-4927 are subject 

to LAFCo and as such a sphere designation is ultimately required.  Marin LAFCo 

staff recommends the Commission adopt a zero sphere of influence in order to 

indicate the Commission’s stance that the District should be reorganized in the future. 

 

7. Land use authorities in Central Marin should work proactively to match the affected 

wastewater service provider with sites that have been identified for potential 

development opportunities in their recently updated housing elements as a means to 

better sync land use and service planning in the region. 

 

8. SRSD should designate the lone board seat statutorily dedicated to a member of the 

County of Marin to the incumbent holding Supervisor District 1 given it covers the 

vast majority of the jurisdictional boundary and approximately 70% of the District’s 

unincorporated ratepayers.  This designation would provide a more logical and direct 

match between SRSD voters and their appointed representatives.  Given the 

approaching change in the District 2 Supervisor who currently sits on the District’s 

board, this currently presents itself as an opportune change. 



 

Marin LAFCo  20 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

 

9. SQVSMD, CMSA, the San Quentin Rehabilitation Center, and Caltrans should all 

work together to ensure each is paying its proper share for both the collections and 

treatment of wastewater in that area.  RVSD may also need to be included in 

discussions if it is determined that in the near future, a consolidation of the SQVSMD 

into RVSD could occur. 

 

10. Given the apparent and continually evolving impacts of climate change on local 

precipitation totals, CMSA should continue to explore the feasibility of the 

production of both recycled water and direct potable reuse in order to aid in the 

sustainability of Central Marin’s future water supplies. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  21 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

5.0 REGIONAL SETTING 

 

The Central Marin Wastewater Municipal Service Review (MSR) study area consists of the 

Central Marin County Highway 101 Corridor encompassing an area that is approximately 60 

square miles.  Seven public agencies, including one joint powers authority (JPA), are reviewed 

within this document.  Many distinct communities lie within and adjacent to the Study Area.  

These communities are served by a number of municipal service providers that have been 

established over time to meet local conditions and needs.  While jurisdictional boundaries define 

the geographical extent of an agency’s authority and responsibility to provide services, there are 

several instances of overlapping service responsibilities in the Study Area both by contractual 

and informal agreements.  These service arrangements and relationships for providing municipal 

services within the Study Area are described in this report. 

Within the study area, all incorporated and unincorporated communities are within the current 

boundary or service area of a fire protection and emergency medical service provider.  While 

there are several small pockets of development in the study area that are not currently provided 

sanitary sewer service by a local agency, the vast majority are within the jurisdictional boundary 

of one of the sanitary sewer agencies.  The Marin Municipal Water District provides water for 

domestic use and fire-flow to the entire study area. 



 

Marin LAFCo  22 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

6.0 CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY 
 

6.1 OVERVIEW 
The Central Marin Sanitation Agency (CMSA) was established in 1979 as a joint powers 

authority (JPA) under Section 6500 of the California State Government Code.  The JPA provides 

wastewater treatment and disposal to the three member agencies that comprise the authority: 

Ross Valley Sanitary District, San Rafael Sanitation District, and Sanitary District #2. CMSA is 

also contracted by the State of California to treat and dispose of wastewater received from the 

San Quentin Rehabilitation Center, and also by the County of Marin for the treatment and 

disposal of wastewater from the San Quentin Village Sewer Maintenance District.  The JPA’s 

service area encompasses approximately 36.5 square miles.  The last municipal service review 

that included CMSA was conducted in 2017. 

Table 6-1:  Central Marin Sanitation Agency Overview 

Central Marin Sanitation Agency 

Primary Contact: Jason Dow Phone: (415)-388-2402 

Mailing Address: 1301 Anderson Drive, San Rafael 

Formation Date: October 15, 1979 

Services Provided: Wastewater Treatment/Disposal 

Service Area: 23,350 acres Population Served: ≈105,000 

 

6.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
The Central Marin Sanitation Agency was formed in October of 1979 for the purpose of carrying 

out the construction and installation of advanced wastewater treatment and disposal facilities to 

serve the Central Marin area.  The initial agreement included four member agencies:  the City of 

Larkspur, San Rafael Sanitation District, Sanitary District #1 of Marin County2, and Sanitary 

District #2 of Marin County.  The agreement provided for the planning, acquisition, financing, 

construction, maintenance, and operation of a regional wastewater treatment facility, and 

maintenance of certain facilities already in place, as well as responsibility for all functions 

pertaining to the treatment, reclamation, and disposal of sewage and other wastewater. 

The service areas that would eventually make up CMSA’s contracted service area were primarily 

agricultural hubs in the early 1900s, with a population totaling just over 6,000 residents in 1900.  

Over the course of the following 40 years however, significant increases in accessibility to the 

region such as multiple rail lines, ferry services, and the completion of the Golden Gate Bridge in 

1937 would all contribute to this population total ballooning to just under 21,000 in 1940.  As the 

growth continued into the 1950s, multiple agencies were necessitated for wastewater collection 

to accommodate the current and anticipated growth.  The four that provided wastewater 

collection service within what would become CMSA’s service area were Sanitary District #1 of 

 
2 Sanitary District #1 of Marin County adopted a resolution changing the District’s name to the Ross Valley Sanitary 
District (RVSD) in February of 2018 and will be referred to as such throughout this document. 



 

Marin LAFCo  23 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Marin County (SD1), Sanitary District #2 of Marin County (SD2), San Rafael Sanitation District, 

and the City of Larkspur.  SD1 also had a treatment facility and contracted with SD2 and the 

City of Larkspur to provide treatment and disposal of the three agencies’ wastewater.  San Rafael 

Sanitation District owned and operated its own two treatment plants.   

Between 1940 and 1970, the population within the CMSA service area grew by nearly four times 

to just over 81,000 residents.  This rapid population growth, not just in this service area but 

throughout the greater Bay Area at the time, began to raise significant concerns about the manner 

in which agencies were handling wastewater discharges.  New federal and state water pollution 

laws, such as the Clean Water Act of 1972 with its National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 

System (NPDES) permit requirements added much-needed regulations to help improve the 

quality of wastewater discharges into surface waters.  The new legislation simultaneously 

provided a grant funding mechanism for local agencies to receive monies to construct the new 

treatment facilities that would be necessary to meet the new regulations that required all 

wastewater discharges to meet enhanced quality standards. 

Soon after the official formation of CMSA on October 15, 1979, the newly formed Joint Powers 

Agency (JPA) applied for grant funding for the construction of numerous wastewater system 

improvements in central Marin County, such as pump stations, interceptors, a new regional 

treatment plant, and wastewater outfall.  Of what would eventually amount to a total construction 

cost of $84 million for the new facilities, approximately 87.5% of the total cost was funded by 

federal and state clean water grants.  The new treatment plant, located on San Quentin Point, 

began operation in January of 1985 with a permitted average dry weather flow capacity of 10 

million gallons per day3 and a sustained peak secondary treatment design capacity of 30 million 

gallons per day.   

In 1993, Marin LAFCo approved the annexation of the territory of the City of Larkspur by SD1 

and the transfer of responsibility for sewer service provided by Larkspur to the Sanitary District.  

LAFCo, however, did not attach terms and conditions of approval requiring the alteration of 

representation on the CMSA governing board.  As a result, the City of Larkspur continued to 

appoint a representative to the CMSA board despite having no role in services provided by 

CMSA. 

In May 2012, the County of Marin entered into an agreement with CMSA for the operation and 

maintenance of the San Quentin Village Sewer Maintenance District’s (SQVSMD) sewer system 

assets.  The County owns and had previously been operating the SQVSMD sewer collection 

system, which had been using the CMSA treatment plant through an agreement with the San 

Quentin State Rehabilitation Center. 

At its December 12, 2018, meeting, the Larkspur City Council approved a resolution to withdraw 

the City from CMSA due to its wastewater operations having been annexed by the Ross Valley 

Sanitary District (formerly SD1).  The withdrawal agreement and revised JPA both reflected the 

 
3 CMSA Facilities Master Plan Pg. 1-1 

https://www.cmsa.us/assets/documents/administrative/2017FacilitiesMasterPlan_FINAL.pdf


 

Marin LAFCo  24 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

City of Larkspur’s removal from representation on the CMSA board.  The updated JPA 

agreement was approved by the CMSA member agencies in January 2020. 

Figure 6- 1: Central Marin Sanitation Agency Service Area 

 

6.3 SERVICE AREA 
There is no formal jurisdictional boundary set by the Commission for CMSA, as would be the 

case for other agencies under LAFCo oversight such as cities, towns, and special districts, due to 

the agency’s formation as a joint powers authority.  CMSA’s service area is statutorily bound to 

match its three member agencies’ jurisdictional boundaries.  This area covers 23,350 acres (36.5 

square miles), within which there are nine distinct land use authorities.  The County of Marin 

accounts for approximately 40% of the CMSA service area and includes the census-designated 

places of Kentfield, Greenbrae, and Sleepy Hollow, as well as the unincorporated areas 

surrounding the City of San Rafael, the Town of Tiburon, and the Town of Fairfax, and also 

CMSA’s largest single customer, the San Quentin State Rehabilitation Center.  Approximately 

19% of the CMSA service area is within the city limits of San Rafael (approximately two-thirds 

of the City of San Rafael in total), 15% within the Town of San Anselmo, 12% in the Town of 



 

Marin LAFCo  25 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Fairfax, 3% in the Town of Corte Madera, 4% in the Town of Ross, 6% in the City of Larkspur, 

2% in the Town of Tiburon, and the City of Mill Valley makes up slightly less than 1%.  As joint 

powers authorities are not assigned spheres of influence within the California State Government 

Code, CMSA in and of itself has no assigned sphere of influence. 

6.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
The service area of the Central Marin Sanitation Agency is coterminous with the jurisdictional 

boundaries of its three member agencies.  The growth and population data for those three 

districts within this study (San Rafael Sanitation District, Ross Valley Sanitary District, and 

Sanitary District No. 2) can be found in those district’s respective agency profiles within this 

study.  CMSA also contracts with the County of Marin to provide service to the San Quentin 

Village Sewer Maintenance District.  The growth and population data for that district can be 

found in that agency’s profile within this study.  Lastly, CMSA contracts with the State of 

California Department of Corrections to provide service to the San Quentin Rehabilitation 

Center.  As of June 2024 (the most recent data publicly available) the total population of the San 

Quentin Rehabilitation Center4 was 3,361. 

6.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 

Wastewater Collection and Treatment 
CMSA provides wastewater treatment and disposal to each of the three collection agencies that 

create the JPA’s service area, as well as the San Quentin Rehabilitation Center and the San 

Quentin Village.  The wastewater treatment plant treats raw wastewater from its members 

through a process consisting of screening and grit removal, followed by primary and secondary 

treatment processing, after which the processed wastewater is disinfected and dechlorinated 

before ultimately being discharged into the San Francisco Bay. Figure 6-2 shows a satellite view 

of the location of the wastewater treatment plant as well as the effluent outflow and discharge 

areas.  CMSA operates under the permit provisions of the California Regional Water Quality 

Control Board – San Francisco Bay Region (RWQCB) with respect to discharge allowances. 

This permit5 was most recently renewed on May 10, 2023, and extends through June 30, 2028.   

Biosolids removed from the wastewater stream are treated by sludge thickening, anaerobic 

digestion, biosolids dewatering, and the biogas generated in the digesters is used as fuel in a 

cogeneration system that produces renewable power.  Biosolids are reused at the Redwood 

Landfill, land application sites in Sacramento County and the Organic Materials Recovery 

Center in Fairfield. 

 

In 2010, CMSA completed a $58 million upgrade to the facility known as the Wet Weather 

Improvements Project to expand treatment and storage facilities to accommodate intense wet 

weather events and better protect against inflow and infiltration during wet weather flows from 

its collection agencies.  Among other significant improvements, the project included two new 

primary clarifiers to increase the primary treatment capacity to 125 million gallons per day 

 
4 California Department of Corrections Office of Research Statistical Reports (SB601) 
5 Reference to RWQCB National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Permit No. CA0038628 

https://public.tableau.com/app/profile/cdcr.or/viz/SB601/Statewide
https://www.cmsa.us/assets/documents/permits/NPDES.pdf


 

Marin LAFCo  26 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

(previously 90 million gallons per day) and a new 155 million gallons per day effluent pumping 

station.  While the agency is no longer reliant upon it, CMSA maintains a storage pond for 

effluent flow shaving with the ability to hold 7.2 million gallons in the case of emergencies or to 

allow for facility shutdowns to accommodate maintenance and construction activities.    

 

In 2023, CMSA provided treatment and disposal within its service area in the total amount of 

51,268 equivalent dwelling units (EDU).  CMSA’s definition of an EDU is “A unit of 

wastewater discharge that is the estimated volume and strength generated by a single-family 

residence.”  In that same year, the wastewater treatment plant had an average dry weather flow of 

8.3 million gallons per day and a total average daily wastewater treatment of 13.3 million gallons 

per day.  The total annual flow for the facility for the year was approximately 4.8 billion gallons.  

These totals were all in line with the averages throughout the course of the study window. 

 

CMSA reported zero sanitary sewer overflows (SSO) from its treatment facility during the 

course of the study window.  In the event of an SSO occurrence, CMSA has established 

protocols such as contacting the RWQCB within two hours of a spill being identified as well as 

notifying Marin County Environmental Health Services and the Office of Emergency Services.  

Final effluent exceedances of compounds specified in CMSA’s NPDES permit must be followed 

by a notification to RWQCB within 24 hours of discovery.  Samples must also be collected to 

quantify any environmental safety impacts.  CMSA has not experienced an exceedance of its 

NPDES permit during the course of the study window. 

 

CMSA bills its JPA member agencies an annual regional sewer service charge that is from a 

CMSA Board adopted 5-year Revenue Plan, and a semi-annual debt service charge pursuant to 

revenue bond payment agreements.  CMSA bills San Quentin Rehabilitation Center a monthly 

service fee for wastewater treatment, debt service, and operation and maintenance of the 

facility’s main pump station. CMSA allocates sewer service charges to each of its member 

agencies based on a three-year rolling average of the volume and strength of delivered 

wastewater.  This methodology allows for the calculation of a cost per equivalent dwelling unit.  

Beginning in fiscal year 2018, the annual debt service charges have been billed to member 

agencies based upon fixed EDU counts (totaling 52,044 EDUs) assigned to each member in an 

effort to avoid fluctuations in debt service allocation.  In FY 2023, the regional sewer service 

charge was $278.59 per EDU and the debt service charge was $108.61 per EDU.  Ross Valley 

Sanitary District produced the most EDUs at 22,114, followed by San Rafael Sanitation District 

at 19,334, and Sanitary District No 2 at 5,815.  San Quentin Rehabilitation Center has a fixed 

EDU total of 4,005 annually.  Over the course of the 5-year study window, the regional service 

charge has increased 17.6%6.  

 

The CMSA treatment facility is equipped with two 261,381 cubic foot capacity anaerobic 

digesters that are fed wastewater sludge from the primary and secondary clarifiers, 

 
6 CMSA FY 2023 ACFR; Pg. 120 



 

Marin LAFCo  27 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

fats/oils/grease (FOG)7, liquid organic wastes, and food wastes from private haulers.  The 

agency’s organic waste program, known as the Central Marin Food-to-Energy (F2E) program, 

was instituted in 2014 in partnership with Marin Sanitary Service.  Marin Sanitary Service 

collects pre-consumer food waste from restaurants, markets, and other small businesses in its 

service area and after being processed at the Marin Sanitary Service Facility, a truck transports 

the processed food waste to CMSA’s organic waste facility.  Organic wastes are mixed with the 

wastewater sludges in the digesters and produce enough biogas to power the CMSA facility an 

average of 19.6 hours per day over the past year, and for several days each week, CMSA is 

energy independent and exports excess to Marin Clean Energy.  The organic waste receiving 

program and cogeneration system have been so successful that in FY 2021, CMSA received 

permission from Pacific Gas and Electric (PG&E) to export excess power to its electrical grid, 

and CMSA has exported and sold renewable power to Marin Clean Energy through a Power 

Purchase Agreement.  CMSA brought a new 995kW cogeneration system online in 2023 that 

allowed for even greater renewable energy production capacity.   

 

CMSA maintains multiple contractual agreements for service with local agencies that offer such 

services as operating, maintaining, and monitoring wastewater pump stations and force mains, 

operating and maintaining sewer collection systems, and regulating commercial and industrial 

businesses that discharge to the sewer system.  The first of these such agreements is with 

Sanitary District No. 2.  CMSA and SD2 entered into this agreement in 1985 for CMSA to 

operate and maintain SD2’s 19 pump stations and provide maintenance to the District’s force 

mains.  In 2012, CMSA entered into an agreement with the California Department of Corrections 

to operate and maintain the San Quentin Rehabilitation Center’s main pump station and force 

main that transports wastewater to CMSA’s treatment plant, as well as the treatment and disposal 

of the facility’s wastewater.  Additionally, in 2012 CMSA and the County of Marin entered into 

an agreement for the operation and maintenance of the County’s sewer collection system and 

pump station in the San Quentin Village Sewer Maintenance District. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
7 In 2006, the SWRCB issued a statewide general waste discharge requirement for all collection system agencies 
within the State that requires each to prepare a Sewer System Master Plan and a source control program for FOG, 
if FOG is determined by the collection system agency to be a contributor to sewer overflows.  CMSA has 
agreements with each of its member agencies as well as the Tamalpais Community Services District and the 
Almonte Sanitary District to administer a FOG source control program. 



 

Marin LAFCo  28 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Figure 6- 2: CMSA Discharge Map 

 

6.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 

 

Board of Commissioners 
The Central Marin Sanitation Agency receives oversight and policy direction by way of a five-

member Board of Commissioners.  Their governance authority is established under the Joint 

Exercise of Powers Act which authorizes two types of joint powers authority arrangements.  The 

first type consists of two or more public agencies that jointly contract to exercise common 

service powers, and the second type consists of two or more public agencies that jointly contract 

to form a separate legal entity to provide common service powers.  CMSA was formed under the 

latter structure as a legally autonomous agency.  Each of the three member agencies appoints one 

member of its governing body as a delegate to serve on the CMSA Board of Commissioners, 

with the larger two agencies – SRSD and RVSD – each appointing two members.   

 

Table 6-2:  Central Marin Sanitation Agency Board of Commissioners 

Member Position Member Agency 

Eli Beckman Chair SD2 

Dean DiGiovanni Vice-Chair SRSD 

Mary Sylla Secretary RVSD 

Maribeth Bushey Commissioner SRSD 

Doug Kelly Commissioner RVSD 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  29 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Administration 
CMSA appoints an at-will General Manager to oversee all agency operations.  The current 

General Manager, Jason Dow, was hired as an engineer in June 1993 and later was appointed to 

the General Manager position by the Commission in 2002 and is full-time.  The General 

Manager currently oversees 48 other full-time employees, and this includes four senior 

management support positions:  Safety Specialist/Manager, Administrative Service Manager, 

Treatment Plant Manager, and Technical Services Manager.  The JPA’s current org chart can be 

seen below in Figure 6-3. 

Figure 6- 3: CMSA Organization Chart 

 

CMSA is currently in advanced discussions with the San Rafael Sanitation District towards a 

service agreement for CMSA to “provide all staffing, regulatory compliance, Board support 

coordination and services necessary for the proper management, administration, and operation of 

SRSD including all owned and operated SRSD assets.”  Due to the manner in which SRSD’s 

labor contract is currently structured, the District has experienced significant difficulty over 

recent years in recruiting and retaining employees.  This difficulty led the District to exploring 

options to ensure a high level of service would be maintained throughout its service area.  Under 

the most recent iteration of the proposed service agreement between the two agencies, CMSA 

would agree to hire all of SRSD’s 17 current employees who would continue working in their 

current capacity within the SRSD service area.  Preliminarily, the agreement would be set up so 



 

Marin LAFCo  30 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

that SRSD would fully reimburse CMSA for all services provided including all overhead costs 

for CMSA general services by way of monthly invoices provided to SRSD from CMSA.  The 

agreement also states that “The services provided to SRSD shall not result in increased costs to 

other JPA members”.  SRSD would also agree to remit payment to CMSA for any of the 

unfunded pension liabilities for the transferring employees prior to the employees' transfer to 

CMSA.  The two agencies have enlisted the services of an independent consultant as well as 

created an ad-hoc Service Contract Development Committee to continue to pursue this endeavor.  

To date, the Committee has held four public meetings to discuss the subject matter, fine-tune the 

proposed agreement, and continue to try to mitigate any possible disruptions that could arise.  

The proposed agreement would hold an initial 5-year term.  The preliminary proposed org chart 

for what this agreement would entail in the initial phase can be seen below in Figure 6-4.  

Figure 6- 4: Draft CMSA Organization Chart 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  31 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

6.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
The Central Marin Sanitation Agency makes a concerted effort to maintain high accountability 

and transparency in all of its activities.  The Agency’s website maintains a robust web presence 

with multiple pages dedicated to the JPA (cmsa.us).  The CMSA web pages provide extensive 

documentation and information on Board meetings, financial reports, services, projects, studies, 

and more.  Additionally, CMSA has been awarded recognition from the Government Finance 

Officers Association (GFOA) for its financial reporting, and a Platinum Peak Performance 

Award from the National Association of Clean Water Agencies for an exceptional NPDES 

permit compliance record.  At this time, CMSA is meeting all of the transparency requirements 

of a public agency for the State of California. 

Meeting and Agendas 

The CMSA Board of Commissioners meets regularly on the 2nd Tuesday of each month at 6:00 

p.m. at the CMSA office at 1301 Andersen Drive in San Rafael.  Special meetings are held as 

needed to go over specific topics.  Meeting agendas and minutes can be found on the CMSA 

website. 

 

6.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
Over the course of the study window (past 5 fiscal years), CMSA has maintained increases in 

total net position each year, with the exception of fiscal year 2019-20.  The Agency implemented 

a two-year budget cycle format beginning in FY 2020.  All operating and capital activities of 

CMSA are included in the approved biennial budget, along with a 10-year capital improvement 

program and a 10-year financial forecast model.  The FY 2024 and 2025 budgets were crafted 

through the incorporation of a 5-year revenue plan that currently forecasts through FY 2028.  

Strictly operationally, CMSA’s revenues have outpaced expenditures in each of the past five 

fiscal years, by an annual average of approximately $1,783,176.  The average annual operating 

revenues for the Agency over the 5-year period were $19,765,119.  The most significant 

apportionment (approximately 89% annually) of the Agency’s revenue comes from service 

charges paid to the Agency by its members.  An additional eight percent comes from CMSA’s 

contract maintenance with local agencies for collection system operation and source control 

services.  The remaining amounts are produced from fees charged for permitting and site 

inspections, organic waste and septage tipping fees, and renewable energy sales.  The primary 

annual operating expenses for CMSA are Salaries and Benefits (53%), and Operations Supplies 

and Services (9%).  The projected total revenue for the Agency for fiscal year 2024-25 is 

$23,518,1008.  A breakdown of the past 5 years of operational revenues and expenses can be 

seen below in Table 6-3. 

 

 

 
8 CMSA Operating and Capital Budget; Pg 47 

../CMSA/cmsa.us
https://www.cmsa.us/board/agendas-and-minutes
https://www.cmsa.us/assets/documents/administrative/budget/FY24%20&%20FY25%20BUDGET%20ADOPTED%202023%2006-22%20GFOA%20WEBSITE.pdf


 

Marin LAFCo  32 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Table 6-3: CMSA Revenues and Expenditures from the Past Five Fiscal Years 

 

 

 

Debt 
As of June 30, 2023, CMSA was carrying $60,086,943 in long-term liabilities.  This amount is 

inclusive of net pension and other post-employment benefits (OPEB) liabilities as well as 

compensated absences.  The sources of the Agency’s long-term liabilities are outlined below. 

• 2015 Refunding Revenue Bonds - In March of 2015, CMSA issued $49,310,000 in Series 

2015 revenue Bonds.  The Bonds were used to refund the Series 2006 Revenue Bonds 

whose proceeds were used to finance improvements to the wastewater treatment and 

disposal system to increase capacity for wet weather flows, to pay costs of issuance of the 

Bonds and for certain other capital projects to provide treatment capacity, replace capital 

assets at the end of service life, and to make other capital improvements. 

• 2020 Revenue Bonds – In November of 2020, CMSA issued $9,115,000 in Series 2020 

Revenue Bonds.  The Bonds were used primarily for improvements to the treatment plant 

and for certain other capital improvements. 

Operating 

Revenue 

FY2018-19 FY2019-20 FY2020-21 FY2021-22 FY2022-23 Averages 

Service 

Charges 

$16,400,143 $16,974,164 $17,578,817 $18,183,132 $18,819,541 $17,591,159.40 

Contract 

Maintenance 

$1,067,515 $1,401,010 $1,670,204 $2,126,787 $1,856,889 $1,624,481.00 

Other 

Revenues 

$434,012 $427,699 $602,417 $556,030 $727,233 $549,478.20 

Total $17,901,670 $18,802,873 $19,851,438 $20,865,949 $21,403,663 $19,765,118.60 

Operating 

Expenses 

FY2018-19 FY2019-20 FY2020-21 FY2021-22 FY2022-23 Averages 

Salaries and 

Benefits 

$8,486,703 $9,925,545 $9,679,736 $8,619,869 $11,105,246 $9,563,419.80 

Operations 

Supplies and 

Services 

$1,436,895 $1,638,012 $1,364,543 $1,510,280 $2,098,928 $1,609,731.60 

Repairs and 

Maintenance 

$1,034,818 $588,963 $654,095 $1,344,474 $650,455 $854,561.00 

Permit Testing 

and 

Monitoring 

$144,968 $178,099 $176,099 $198,248 $204,105 $180,303.80 

Insurance $111,545 $134,522 $380,764 $445,916 $410,435 $296,636.40 

Utilities and 

Telephone 

$454,082 $495,207 $263,560 $591,547 $446,020 $450,083.20 

General and 

Administrative 

$774,050 $736,513 $647,269 $840,867 $792,304 $758,200.60 

Depreciation 

and 

Amortization 

$4,110,575 $4,128,150 $4,221,630 $4,299,319 $4,585,208 $4,268,976.40 

Total $16,553,636 $17,825,011 $17,387,846 $17,850,520 $20,292,701 $17,981,942.80 



 

Marin LAFCo  33 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

• 2022 Pension Obligation Bonds – In April of 2022, CMSA issued $9,432,000 in private 

placement Series 2022 taxable pension Obligation Bonds.  The bonds were used solely for 

reducing the Agency’s unfunded actuarial pension liability by paying off a significant 

portion of the balance. 

• Net Pension Liability – CMSA provides a pension plan for employees and is part of the 

California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS).  CalPERS provides 

retirement, disability, and death benefits based on the employee’s years of service, age, and 

final compensation.  As of measurement year ended June 30, 2022, CMSA’s Net Pension 

Liability is $6,951,524.  CMSA’s pension-funded ratio is approximately 87.3%.  The 

Agency further funds an Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 115 pension trust to prefund 

its pension liability.  As of fiscal year, ended June 30, 2023, the balance within the 

Agency’s pension trust is $207,709, which adds to the Agency’s pension-funded ratio to 

87.7%.  The Agency expects to continue funding its IRC Section 115 trust in future years 

to manage its pension liability. 

• Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) – CMSA provides other post-employment 

benefits to its retirees.  As of measurement year ended June 30, 2022, the Agency’s Net 

OPEB liability is $1,569,984, with a funding ratio of 65.9%. The OPEB Plan provides 

retiree medical reimbursement to eligible employees either at both the single payer Kaiser 

medical rate and required CalPERS medical contribution rate, or the required CalPERS 

medical contribution rate and 1.5% contribution to a health reimbursement trust account.  

Employees hired after January 1, 2010, are to receive the required CalPERS medical 

contribution rate and 1.5% contribution to a health reimbursement trust account.  The 

health reimbursement account contributions are performed on a pay-as-you-go basis and 

are excluded from the actuarial figure. The Net OPEB Liability is expected to significantly 

decrease by 2039 as a result of the health reimbursement account update and the Agency 

prepares an OPEB funding plan to manage its expected funding ratio by contributing to or 

withdrawing from its IRC Section 115 OPEB trust fund.  There are 82 total employees, 

both active and inactive, within the District’s OPEB plan. 

 

While technically not yet on the books, CMSA is planning in FY 20269 to issue $13 million in 

revenue bonds to continue the financing of its 10-year capital improvement program which 

currently contains 46 projects carrying an estimated total cost of $75.8 million. 

 

  

 

 

 

 
9 CMSA ACFR 2023; Pg 40 



 

Marin LAFCo  34 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

7.0 MURRAY PARK SEWER MAINTENANCE DISTRICT 
 

7.1 OVERVIEW 
In December of 2019, Marin LAFCo approved the annexation10 of the Murray Park Sewer 

Maintenance District (MPSMD) to the Ross Valley Sanitary District (RVSD).  Information 

regarding MPSMD can be found within the RVSD agency profile section of this study. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
10 Marin LAFCo Resolution 19-08 



 

Marin LAFCo  35 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

8.0 ROSS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
 

8.1 OVERVIEW 
The Ross Valley Sanitary District was formed in 1899 as an independent special district under 

Section 6400 of the California State Health and Safety Code.  The District provides wastewater 

collection to the Town of Fairfax, the Town of Ross, the Town of San Anselmo, the City of 

Larkspur, and the unincorporated communities11 of Sleepy Hollow, Kentfield, and Greenbrae.  

The District is one of three member agencies that comprise the Central Marin Sanitation Agency 

which is a joint powers authority (JPA).  The District’s jurisdictional boundary encompasses just 

under 27 square miles.  The last municipal service review that included Ross Valley Sanitary 

District was conducted in 2017. 

Table 8-1:  Ross Valley Sanitary District Overview 

Ross Valley Sanitary District 

Primary Contact: Steve Moore Phone: (415)-259-2949 

Mailing Address: 1111 Andersen Drive, San Rafael 

Formation Date: May 27, 1899 

Services Provided: Wastewater Collection 

Service Area: 17,120 acres Population Served: ≈47,000 

 

8.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
The Ross Valley Sanitary District’s service area was originally a sparsely developed rural area 

that was home to a handful of ranchers and loggers in the early 1800s.  The land that Marin 

County residents now refer to as the Ross Valley, originally owned by Mexico, was gifted in 

1840 to an English settler by the name of John Rodgers Cooper as part of a 9,000-acre land grant 

referred to as the Rancho Punta de Quentin Canada de San Anselmo.  In 1857, James Ross 

purchased a significant apportionment of the land grant for $50,000.  Upon Ross’s passing in 

1862, the majority of his land holdings were sold off to newer settlers in the area and it would 

thus garner its name as Ross Valley. 

The initial urban development in the area began in 1875 with the completion of the North Pacific 

Railroad that connected the area that is now the City of Sausalito to the City of San Rafael.  At 

the time of the railroad’s completion, there was an estimated total of residents throughout the 

Ross Valley of less than 1,000.  A main hub for the railroad was located in the Town of San 

Anselmo.  This station allowed passengers less than an hour-long journey to San Francisco by 

way of connecting to the ferry station to the south.  This new accessibility led to an increase in 

demand to settle in the area and the corresponding subdividing of lots to meet the demand.  By 

the latter stages of the 1890s, the population in the area had grown to just under 2,000, and the 

added wastewater runoff was becoming problematic for the local creeks to handle.  In addition, 

 
11 While not a formally census-designated place, the District also provides service to the unincorporated 
developments outside of the jurisdictional boundary of the Town of Fairfax and the Town of San Anselmo. 



 

Marin LAFCo  36 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

the local water quality – particularly that of the San Anselmo Creek, which had become a 

primary source for the region’s growing water provider, Marin County Water Company – was 

seeing an increase in adverse effects.  This led local landowners to petition the State Legislature 

to utilize the recently established Sanitary District Act of 1891 to create a solution.  In 1899, the 

petition was confirmed by the voters, and the Ross Valley Sanitary District12 was formed even 

before a single sewer main had been constructed.  Not long after the formation, work began to 

construct the District’s first 10-inch trunk line that would stretch from the community of Fairfax 

south to the community of Greenbrae, allowing wastewater discharge into a deep-water slough of 

Corte Madera Creek. 

The Ross Valley continued to grow in the early 1900s, with the Town of San Anselmo formally 

incorporating in 1907, followed by the incorporation of the Town of Ross and the City of 

Larkspur in 1908.  With this steady growth, the practice of discharging untreated wastewater into 

the San Francisco Bay became untenable, and in 1922 a bond measure was passed to release 

$450,000 to the District for the construction of an additional 7.5 miles of sewer line as well as a 

wastewater treatment facility in Greenbrae to provide basic screening of wastewater before 

discharging.   

The Town of Fairfax was incorporated in 1931 and, not long after in 1937, the completion of the 

Golden Gate Bridge connecting the City of San Francisco north to Marin County created an 

influx of development demand throughout the Ross Valley.  The population of approximately 

2,000 in 1900 ballooned to over 12,000 by 1940.  In order to meet the increasing demands, in 

194513 RVSD, in collaboration with the City of Larkspur and the Sanitary District No. 2 of 

Marin County, constructed a second wastewater facility at Larkspur Landing to provide 

secondary treatment before discharging into the Corte Madera estuary.  This facility would 

undergo several expansions over the following decades until its decommissioning in 1984. 

As populations continued to grow, not just in RVSD’s service area but throughout the greater 

Bay Area at the time, significant concerns began to arise surrounding the manner in which 

agencies were handling wastewater discharges.  Resulting regulations such as the Clean Water 

Act of 1972 and the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) added much-

needed restrictions to help regulate the treatment of wastewater discharges into surface waters.  

The new legislation simultaneously provided a funding mechanism for local agencies to receive 

monies to construct the new facilities that would be necessary to meet the updated regulations 

that required all discharges to meet enhanced standards.  Given these circumstances, in 1979 

RVSD – along with Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County, the City of Larkspur, and the San 

Rafael Sanitation District – formed the Joint Powers Authority (JPA) known as the Central 

Marin Sanitation Agency.  Soon after the official formation of CMSA in October of 1979, the 

newly formed agency applied for grant funding for the construction of a new treatment plant 

 
12 The Ross Valley Sanitary District was originally formed as the Sanitary District No. 1 of Marin County.  It was not 
until February of 2018 that the District adopted a resolution to formally change its name.  For the sake of 
uniformity, the District will be referred to as Ross Valley Sanitary District (RVSD) throughout the course of this 
section. 
13 This facility was completed and began operating in 1948. 



 

Marin LAFCo  37 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

facility.  Of what would eventually amount to a total construction cost of $84 million for the new 

facility, approximately 87.5% of the total cost was funded by federal and state clean water 

grants.  The new treatment plant, located on San Quentin Point, began operation in January of 

1985.  At this time RVSD deactivated the Larkspur Landing treatment facility and redirected all 

wastewater flows to the CMSA wastewater facility. 

On April 1st, 1993, Marin LAFCo approved14 the annexation of the City of Larkspur Sanitation 

Area to the Ross Valley Sanitary District.  The City of Larkspur would retain its voting 

membership status within CMSA until December 2018, at which time the Larkspur City Council 

approved a resolution to withdraw the City from CMSA.  The updated JPA agreement was 

approved by the CMSA member agencies in January 2020. 

In December of 2019, Marin LAFCo approved the annexation15 of the Murray Park Sewer 

Maintenance District (MPSMD) to RVSD.  MPSMD is a small residential area of just under 60 

acres between the City of Larkspur and Kent Woodlands.  The District was created by the Marin 

County Board of Supervisors in 1949 and includes about 6,000 feet of sewer pipelines and serves 

91 living units.   

Figure 8- 1:Ross Valley Sanitary District Jurisdictional Boundary and Sphere of Influence 

 

 
14 Marin LAFCo Resolution 92-7 
15 Marin LAFCo Resolution 19-08 



 

Marin LAFCo  38 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

8.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
The Ross Valley Sanitary District’s jurisdictional boundary encompasses approximately 26.75 

square miles of both incorporated and unincorporated Marin County.  The District’s service area 

includes five land use authorities within the jurisdictional boundary.  The County of Marin 

accounts for approximately 41% of all RVSD lands and includes the communities of Kentfield, 

Sleepy Hollow, Greenbrae, and all of the unincorporated lands surrounding the Town of Fairfax.  

The municipalities of the Town of San Anselmo, the Town of Fairfax, the City of Larkspur, and 

the Town of Ross comprise the remainder16 of the District’s jurisdictional lands.   

While not yet formally approved, through a collaborative effort between Sanitary District No 2., 

RVSD, and Marin LAFCo, a tentative agreement is in place pending approvals for a total of 7 

parcels that are currently within the jurisdictional boundary of SD2 to be transferred to RVSD 

due to RVSD being the agency that is providing service to those parcels.  Through the work of a 

multi-year dye testing project by both SD2 and RVSD staff, it was determined that these parcels 

were not receiving service from the jurisdiction in which they resided.  The collaborative effort 

between the three agencies has allowed for the development of a tax exchange agreement in 

order to reorganize the parcels into their proper jurisdiction.  The formal reorganization requires 

a sphere of influence update.  This update coincided with the timeline of this study, and as such 

the formal approval of this reorganization is tentatively planned for the early part of 2025. 

The District’s sphere of influence was established in 1985 as part of Marin LAFCo’s initial 

sphere of influence studies for special districts throughout Marin County.  The sphere was 

subsequently amended in 2006 following the Ross Valley Area Municipal Service Review to be 

coterminous with the District’s boundaries with the addition of the Murray Park Sewer 

Maintenance District area and the San Quentin Village Sewer Maintenance District/San Quentin 

Rehabilitation Center.  This amendment included the Commission labeling this as an “interim 

sphere of influence” in order to signify its support of the ongoing exploration of the 

consolidation of the collection agencies in Central Marin.  The most recent update of the sphere 

of influence occurred in 2017 and added all of the area of 238 Summit Drive to the District’s 

sphere following a reorganization of a number of parcels between the District and SD2. 

8.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
The Ross Valley Sanitary District provides service to four of the eleven incorporated towns/cities 

in Marin County (Fairfax, Larkspur, Ross, San Anselmo) as well as the two census-designated 

places of Kentfield and Sleepy Hollow. The District also provides service to the community of 

Greenbrae as well as the unincorporated developments surrounding the Town of Fairfax.  While 

the communities of Kentfield and Greenbrae may have local distinctions separating one from the 

other, the US Census Bureau recognizes both of these spaces as a single census-designated place 

for population data.  The population change data for the cities, towns, and census-designated 

places within the District’s boundary from 2010 and 202417 can be seen below in Table 8-2. 

 
16 The District also has approximately 15 parcels in the City of San Rafael currently within its jurisdictional 
boundary.  
17 2024 data is based upon State of California Department of Finance 2024 Estimates. 



 

Marin LAFCo  39 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Table 8-2: Population Changes as Single Census-Designated Areas for 2010 and 2024 

Community Name 2010 2024 

Sleepy Hollow 2,384 2,401 

Kentfield/Greenbrae 6,485 6,808 

Town of Fairfax 7,441 7,371 

Town of Ross 2,415 2,272 

Town of San Anselmo 12,336 12,426 

City of Larkspur 11,926 12,655 

 

The remaining development potential within each of the planning areas within the District’s 

boundary (both incorporated and unincorporated), while relatively minimal based upon the 

number of remaining undeveloped parcels zoned for residential development, has experienced 

recent changes with the majority of Cities/Towns as well as Marin County itself having adopted 

updated housing elements that included planning for accommodations of the housing mandates 

from the State.  The Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) has designated a need for a 

total of 3,569 additional housing units in unincorporated Marin County by 2031 within the 

Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) plan.  This number is 907 units shy of what Marin 

County had deemed as the total buildout for unincorporated Marin County.  Of those 3,569 units, 

35318 of those have identified sites for development within the unincorporated spaces in Ross 

Valley Sanitary District’s sphere of influence.  Meanwhile, the additional housing unit mandates 

for each of the incorporated spaces within the District’s sphere of influence create a sum total of 

2,41319 and are as follows: 

• Town of Fairfax – 490 

• City of Larkspur – 979 

• Town of San Anselmo – 833 

• Town of Ross – 111 

The current projection in the hypothetical scenario that each of the member agencies (including 

RVSD) within the Central Marin Sanitation Agency were to be developed to their maximum 

buildout potential, the additional dry weather flow would be approximately 0.18 million gallons 

per day20.  Given its current average dry weather flows as well as the permitted allowances for 

flows, CMSA has the capacity to accommodate this level of growth.  As far as growth within 

strictly RVSD, the District’s EDU levels have seen a minimal increase over the past 10 years, 

with a total EDU count of 21,940 in 2014 and 22,114 in 2023.  In that same time frame, the 

District maintained an average annual wastewater flow to CMSA of 1,995.7 million gallons. 

Over the course of the study window, the District’s total number of service connections has 

increased by 71. 

 
18 Marin Countywide Plan; 2023-2031 Housing Element; Pg. 210 
19 ABAG Final RHNA Plan 
20 Marin Countywide Plan; 2023-2031 Housing Element; Pg. 115 

https://www.marincounty.org/-/media/files/departments/cd/housing/housing-element/2024-2032-he-docs/certified-housing-element/clean-version/20232031_marincountyhousingelement.pdf?la=en
https://abag.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-12/Final_RHNA_Allocation_Report_2023-2031-approved_0.pdf
https://www.marincounty.org/-/media/files/departments/cd/housing/housing-element/2024-2032-he-docs/certified-housing-element/clean-version/20232031_marincountyhousingelement.pdf?la=en


 

Marin LAFCo  40 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

8.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 
 

Wastewater Collection 
Ross Valley Sanitary District provides wastewater collection to all residents and businesses 

within its jurisdictional boundary.  The District has a total of 15,999 service connections.  In 

total, the District’s sewer infrastructure is composed of approximately 199 miles of mainline and 

trunk line and 7.3 miles of force main pipe with approximately 66% of all the pipes being 6” 

diameter or less, 20% being 8”, 9% ranging from 9”-18”, and 5% being greater than 18” in 

diameter.  The pipes throughout the District vary between vitrified clay (VCP), high-density 

polyethylene (HDPE), ductile iron (DI), cast iron (CIP), and polyvinyl chloride (PVC) among 

others.  There are 5 major pump stations owned and operated by the District, as well as 14 

smaller pump and lift stations. The District’s sewer service rates were last adjusted on July 1, 

2024, as the first year of what is to be a 5-year rate schedule following a service rate study that 

was presented to the RVSD Board in May of 2024.  The District has two distinct service rate 

zones:  the Ross Valley zone and the Larkspur zone.  The Larkspur zone is administered higher 

rates as the District does not receive any of the ad-valorem from property taxes in that area as 

part of the annexation agreement.  The Ross Valley rate zone does provide ad-valorem to the 

District, so in order to achieve equitable costs to all of its customers, the District utilizes this 

two-rate zone structure.  The updated rate schedule calls for a 4% annual increase from 2024 to 

2026, followed by a 3.8% increase in 2027, and 3,5% in 2028.  For FY 2024-25, a single-family 

home in the Ross Valley rate zone could expect to see a sewer service charge of $1,238, while 

the same home in the Larkspur rate zone would see a charge of $1,773. 

 

Over the past five fiscal years, the District has replaced a total of approximately 17 miles of pipe 

within its boundary as a product of its Capital Improvement Plan.  The District maintains a ten-

year capital improvement plan, with the current plan running through fiscal year 2033-34.  

Within that span, the District has plotted capital improvements that include funding allocations 

of $66.4 million for gravity sewer improvements, $9.8 million for force main sewer 

improvements, $18.7 million for pump station improvements, and $12.9 million for upgrades to 

the District’s facilities, vehicle fleet, and other capital assets.   

 

In May of 2013, the Regional Water Board issued a Cease-and-Desist Order (CDO) to the 

District in response to annually reoccurring excessive sewer system overflows (SSO).  The CDO 

contained a list of specific actions and best practices for the District to implement in order to 

minimize the number of future SSOs.  One of the requirements was the development of an 

Infrastructure Asset Management Plan (IAMP).  Through the implementation of the IAMP, 

which was updated in 2021, the District has made significant improvements in both 

infrastructure and operations.  The risk points identified in the IAMP aid the district in 

developing its Capital Improvement Plan (CIP).  In FY 2023, the District’s Capital Budget 

expenditures totaled $10,733,288.  Over the course of the past five fiscal years, the District has 

experienced a total of 63 sanitary sewer overflows (25 dry weather and 38 wet weather) totaling 

approximately 172,187gallons.  While a number of the sewer collection agencies throughout 



 

Marin LAFCo  41 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Marin County contract with private contractors for sewer system overflow response, the 

District’s in-house staff are trained and respond to all incident reports within the District’s 

boundaries.  The District is making continual efforts to upgrade the infrastructure throughout its 

service area in order to minimize inflow and infiltration as well as other structural defects.  In the 

past 5 years, the District has restored 34.3 miles of pipe and has cleaned 910 miles of pipes. 

 

Murray Park Sewer Maintenance District 
In December of 2019, Marin LAFCo approved the annexation21 of the Murray Park Sewer 

Maintenance District (MPSMD) to RVSD.  The MPSMD’s jurisdictional boundary spanned 

approximately 60 acres with a population of 193 and is generally considered part of the 

unincorporated community of Kentfield.  MPSMD’s formation was approved by the County of 

Marin’s Board of Supervisors in 1949 as a means for landowners to self-tax themselves for 

purposes of constructing and operating a community wastewater collection system.  The initial 

collection system for MPSMD was constructed in early 1951 with the County of Marin’s Public 

Works Department overseeing all operational and maintenance activities.  In March of 1975, 

MPSMD entered into a service agreement with the City of Larkspur.  This agreement transferred 

operational management of MPSMD’s collection system and wastewater flows to Larkspur in 

exchange for an annual service fee based on the number of dwelling units within the District.  

Following the annexation of the City of Larkspur to RVSD in 1993, RVSD became the successor 

to the City of Larkspur’s agreement to provide operational management of MPSMD’s collection 

system and wastewater flows in August 1993. 

 

The MPSMD collection system includes approximately 6,000 feet of lines ranging in size from 

four to eight inches.  The lines are all gravity feed with no public pump stations.  All wastewater 

generated from the collection system is conveyed for treatment to CMSA.  There are a total of 89 

service connections, with all but one serving residential uses.  Upon being annexed into RVSD, 

MPSMD had a fund balance of $315,301 that was transferred to RVSD with language in the 

annexation agreement restricting the use of those funds strictly to MPSMD.  Residential 

customers within MPSMD’s area paid an annual rate of $472 each, which totals $43,896 in total 

rate collections within the area.  This rate is significantly (approximately 54%) less than what the 

RVSD rate is for the service in the Ross Valley rate zone.  As such, for the four fiscal years 

leading up to the rate restructuring, an apportionment of the funds that were transferred from 

MPSMD to RVSD was used to subsidize the rate shortfall.  In total, $238,737 has been allocated 

to this rate subsidy.  An additional $111,492 of the transferred funds was allocated to the Pump 

Station 14 Rehabilitation Project as the Murray Park system flows into pump station 14 in order 

to get to the CMSA plant.  The Murray Park system represents 4.9% of the total flows received 

at pump station 14, and thereby was charged 4.9% of the total cost of the pump station 

rehabilitation, which was completed in FY 2023/24.  As of October 11, 2024, all of the 

transferred funds have been allocated to support the MPSMD. 

 

 
21 Marin LAFCo Resolution 19-08 



 

Marin LAFCo  42 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

After the preparation of a sewer rate study and a duly noticed Prop 218 process, the RVSD Board 

of Directors adopted Ordinance 102, updating the District’s sewer service rate schedule.  This 

rate schedule became effective on July 1, 2024.  At that time, the former MPSMD area became 

included in the Ross Valley rate zone for the District. 

8.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 
 

Board of Directors 
The Ross Valley Sanitary District is an independent special district receiving oversight and 

policy direction by way of a five-member Board of Directors that is elected to staggered four-

year terms by way of at-large elections within the service boundary.  All directors are required to 

be registered voters residing within the District’s jurisdictional boundary.  Two of the Board 

members are annually appointed to the Central Marin Sanitation Agency Commission, with the 

remaining Board members serving as alternates.  Based on data provided by the County 

Department of Elections which span from 1972 to 2022, Ross Valley Sanitary District had 14 

election cycles during that timeframe in which a formal election process was necessitated, 11 

seats were appointed in lieu of an election, and the District’s Board necessitated zero 

appointments to seats on the Board by the Marin County Board of Supervisors. 

  Table 8-3:  Ross Valley Sanitary District Board of Directors 

Member Position Term Expiration 

Mary Sylla President April 2028 

Doug Kelly Secretary April 2028 

Michael Boorstein Director July 2026 

Pamela Meigs Director July 2026 

Thomas Gaffney Director July 2026 

 

Administration 
The Board of Directors of Ross Valley Sanitary District appoints the District’s General Manager 

who leads and manages the District’s day-to-day operations.  The General Manager for Ross 

Valley Sanitary District is full-time and manages the other 35 FTE employees employed by the 

District.  The General Manager oversees the three operational departments of Engineering and 

Inspection, Administration, and Operations and Maintenance.  The General Manager also serves 

as the District Engineer.   

8.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
The Ross Valley Sanitary District maintains a high level of accountability and transparency in all 

its activities.  The District website provides documentation on board meeting agendas and 

minutes as well as financial reports, services, studies, sewer system management plan, 

permitting, contracts, and more.   

 

rvsd.org


 

Marin LAFCo  43 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Meeting and Agendas 

The Ross Valley Sanitary District Board of Directors meets regularly on the 3rd Wednesday of 

each month at 5:00 p.m. in the District Administrative Office at 1111 Andersen Drive in San 

Rafael.  Special meetings are held as needed to go over specific topics.  Meeting agendas and 

minutes can be found on the District’s website. 

Annual Budget Review 
The District’s budget, typically adopted no later than the June Board meeting each year, provides 

overall control of revenue and expenditures including appropriations on a line-item basis and the 

means of financing them.  The District’s budgetary financial planning consists of a two-fund 

system, planning for both operating and capital expenditures each year.  The General Manager 

presents financial reports to the Board every month to ensure budgetary compliance.   

8.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
Over the course of the study window (past 5 fiscal years of available audited financials), Ross 

Valley Sanitary District has maintained increases in total net position each year and seen an 

increase in unrestricted net position in that same time frame of approximately $6.2 million.  The 

District’s total annual revenues22 (operating and nonoperating) have outpaced operating 

expenditures in each of the five fiscal years by an annual average of $5,429,789.  These excess 

funds are primarily allocated toward the District’s capital improvement projects and maintaining 

the District’s target reserves. The average annual operating revenues for the District over the 5-

year period were $23,510,110, with a total increase of just over 26% in that span.   

The primary revenue sources for the District are sewer service charges (70%) and property taxes 

(25%) with permit and inspection fees, lease income by way of renting space within its 

administrative building to Comcast Corporation, miscellaneous revenues, and investment income 

supplementing the District’s total revenues at approximately 5%.  The primary annual operating 

expenses for Ross Valley Sanitary District are treatment costs (37%), Operating and 

Maintenance (26%), and General and Administrative (12%).     

Debt 
As of June 30, 2023, RVSD carried a total long-term debt amount of $94,345,794.  Below is a 

description of the borrowings comprising that amount: 

• 2023 State Revolving Fund Loan – In April of 2022, the District received approval 

through a loan program sponsored by the California State Water Resources Control Board 

for capital project financing in the amount of $1,708,256.  The proceeds of the loan were 

allocated to the refurbishment of existing wastewater collection and conveyance system 

infrastructure. 

• 2013 Revenue Bonds – In August of 2013, the District issued $17,780,000 of revenue 

bonds in order to both provide new money for wastewater capital projects and refund 

 
22 As the District views its operating purpose is to provide wastewater collection and conveyance services that are 
funded by sewer service charges, property tax and leasing revenues are classified as nonoperating within the 
District’s accounting policies. 

rvsd.org/agendacenter


 

Marin LAFCo  44 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

$9,103,322 of the District’s privately placed debt obligations.  As of June 30, 2023, the 

outstanding principal balance is $14,780,000. 

• 2014 Revenue Bonds – In November of 2015, the District issued $30,155,000 of revenue 

bonds in order to provide new money for wastewater capital projects.  As of June 30, 2023, 

the outstanding principal balance is $23,515,000. 

• 2018 Revenue Bonds – In January of 2018, the District issued $21,870,000 of revenue 

bonds in order to provide new money for wastewater capital projects.  As of June 30, 2023, 

the outstanding principal balance is $19,250,000. 

• 2019 Revenue Bonds – In July of 2019, the District issued $31,455,000 of revenue bonds 

in order to provide new money for wastewater capital projects as well as purchasing the 

building at 1111 Anderson Drive for the District administrative offices, and also for the 

completion of the remediation project at 2000 Larkspur Landing at the site of the District’s 

former treatment plant.  As of June 30, 2023, the outstanding principal balance is 

$27,715,000. 

The District plans a bond refunding in early 2025 for the 2013, 2014, and 2018 bonds, with an 

anticipated total savings of approximately $7 million over the life of the bonds. 

The District also provides a pension plan for employees and is part of the California Public 

Employees Retirement System (CalPERS).  CalPERS provides retirement, disability, and death 

benefits based on the employee’s years of service, age, and final compensation.  As of June 30, 

2023, the District’s Net Pension Liability was $8,636262.  As of the most recent CalPERS 

actuarial Valuation on June 30, 2023, the District’s pension-funded ratio was 70.1% which does 

not include the District’s Section 115 trust assets.  The District’s CalPERS Section 115 Trust 

holds irrevocable deposits for future pension contributions to achieve a Board policy funding 

ratio of at least 90%.  In addition to the pension plan, the District provides other post-

employment benefits (OPEB) to its retirees.  As of June 30, 2023, the District carried a net 

OPEB liability of $819,797.  The District currently has 47 employees, both active and inactive, 

in its OPEB plan. 

A breakdown of the past 5 years of operational revenues and expenses can be seen below in 

Table 8-4. 

Table 8-4:  Ross Valley Sanitary District Financial Information 

 

Operating 

Revenue 

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 Averages 

Sewer 

Service 

Charges 

$20,565,156 $21,963,689 $23,547,004 $24,478,887 $25,965,473 $23,304,041.80 

Permit and 

Inspection 

Fees 

$173,389 $138,587 $152,053 $156,473 $183,369 $160,774.20 

Other 

Operating 

$8,456 $39,111 $18,165 $63,386 $91,263 $44,076.20 

Total $20,747,0010 $22,141,387 $23,717,222 $24,698,746 $26,240,105 $23,508,892 



 

Marin LAFCo  45 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

 

Financial Audit 
The Ross Valley Sanitary District annually has its financial statements audited by an outside 

certified public accounting firm and currently contracts with Cropper Accountancy Corporation.  

The most recent audited financial statement was prepared for the fiscal year ending June 30, 

2023.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Operating 

Expenses 

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 Averages 

Treatment 

Costs 

$7,776,952 $8,026,987 $8,144,157 $8,462,641 $8,869,040 $8,255,955.40 

Operating and 

Maintenance 

$5,844,749 $6,128,753 $6,152,281 $6,884,268 $6,047,437 $6,211,497.60 

Engineering 

and 

Inspections 

$1,614,279 $1,443,706 $1,002,285 $1,137,982 $1,078,643 $1,255,379.00 

Lateral 

Replacement 

Grants 

$625,330 $515,929 $406,608 $237,500 $242,500 $405,573.40 

Provision for 

Uncollectable 

Accounts 

N/A N/A N/A $26,414 $4,729 $15,571.50 

General and 

Administrative 

$3,353,756 $3,638,021 $3,333,796 $3,733,204 $2,960,311 $3,403,817.60 

Depreciation 

and 

Amortization 

$3,058,862 $4,082,590 $4,613,779 $4,655,488 $4,469,692 $4,608,626.20 

Total $22,273,928 $23,835,986 $23,652,906  $25,137,497 $23,672,352 $24,156,420.70 



 

Marin LAFCo  46 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

9.0 SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 
 

9.1 OVERVIEW 
The San Rafael Sanitation District (SRSD) was formed in 194723 as a dependent special district 

under Section 4700 of the California State Health and Safety Code.  The District provides 

wastewater collection to the central and southern areas of the City of San Rafael, including the 

unincorporated areas of Country Club, Bayside Acres, and California Park. The District in effect 

covers the portion of San Rafael south of Puerto Suello Hill to the southerly city limit.  The 

jurisdictional boundary encompasses just over 12.9 square miles.  The District is one of three 

member agencies that comprise the Central Marin Sanitation Agency which is a joint powers 

authority (JPA).  The last municipal service review that included the San Rafael Sanitation 

District was conducted in 2017. 

Table 9-1: San Rafael Sanitation District Overview 

San Rafael Sanitation District 

Primary Contact: Doris Toy Phone: (415)-454-4001 

Mailing Address: 111 Morphew Street, San Rafael 

Formation Date: May 26, 1947 

Services Provided: Wastewater Collection 

Service Area: 8,194 acres Population Served: 43,466 

 

9.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
The primary service area of the San Rafael Sanitation District, the City of San Rafael, is an area 

that saw some of the earliest development within Marin County.  Established in December of 

1817, the Mission San Rafael Arcángel was founded as the 20th Spanish mission in what was 

then the Spanish province of Alta California.  It was constructed to provide treatment to the 

Central Valley Native Americans who had fallen ill at Mission Dolores in San Francisco.  Under 

the leadership of Father Luis Gil, who was fluent in several Native American languages, the 

mission quickly grew its residency to nearly 1,000 and gained its full mission status in 1822, just 

a month prior to Alta California declaring independence from Spain as part of Mexico.  Despite 

the mission flourishing in its early years, following the Mexican Secularization Act of 1833, the 

Mexican government took control of the California missions in 1834, and by 1844, Mission San 

Rafael had been abandoned. 

Following the American conquest of California, the area of San Rafael began to transition from a 

mission settlement to a growing agricultural community and regional commerce hub.  The 

community officially incorporated as a city in 1874 with an initial resident count of 840, marking 

the beginning of San Rafael’s development as an urban center.  The arrival of the San Francisco 

and North Pacific Railroad in 1879 significantly boosted the city’s growth and economic 

prospects, allowing for easier transportation of goods and people between San Rafael and San 

 
23 Marin County Board of Supervisors Resolution No. 938 



 

Marin LAFCo  47 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Francisco, as well as other areas of Northern California.  The newfound ease of travel made 

commuting to jobs in San Francisco possible and allowed thousands of San Franciscans to visit 

San Rafael on weekends.  By 1900, the population had surged to 3,879, an amount that 

represented over one-fourth of the total population in Marin County at the time.  By 1930, that 

total had increased to just over 8,000.  This rapid growth necessitated a more organized 

wastewater management, and in 1947 the County of Marin’s Boundary Change Commission 

approved the official service area of the District to include what was the City’s incorporated 

boundary at the time, as well as adjacent unincorporated lands to the east towards Bayside Acres 

and south to California Park.  At the time of its formation, the District owned and operated two 

smaller treatment plants. 

By 1960, the population within SRSD’s service area had ballooned to 20,460.  This growth, not 

just in SRSD’s service area but throughout the greater Bay Area at the time, began to raise 

significant concerns about the manner in which agencies were handling wastewater discharges.  

Resulting regulations such as the Clean Water Act of 1972 and the National Pollutant Discharge 

Elimination System (NPDES) added much-needed restrictions to help regulate the treatment of 

wastewater discharges into surface waters.  The new legislation simultaneously provided a 

funding mechanism for local agencies to receive monies to construct the new facilities that 

would be necessary to meet the updated regulations that required all discharges to meet enhanced 

standards.   

On October 15, 1979, SRSD joined three other neighboring agencies, the City of Larkspur, 

Sanitary District No. 1 of Marin County, and Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County, to form 

the Joint Powers Authority (JPA)of the Central Marin Sanitation Agency.  The JPA was created 

for the purpose of planning, constructing, and operating wastewater treatment and disposal 

services for its member agencies.  Soon after its formation, the newly formed Joint Powers 

Authority applied for grant funding for the construction of a new treatment plant facility.  Of 

what would eventually amount to a total construction cost of $84 million for the new facility, 

approximately 87.5% of the total cost was funded by federal and state clean water grants.  The 

new treatment plant, located on San Quentin Point, began operation in January of 1985 with an 

average dry weather flow capacity of 10 million gallons per day24 and a sustained peak 

secondary treatment capacity of 30 million gallons per day.   

On January 13, 1989, Marin LAFCo approved25 an application by SRSD for the annexation of 

the area of China Camp State Park.  The total annexation area added 1,160 acres to the District’s 

jurisdictional boundary.   

 
24 CMSA Facilities Master Plan Pg. 1-1 
25 Marin LAFCo Resolution No. 89-2 

https://www.cmsa.us/assets/documents/administrative/2017FacilitiesMasterPlan_FINAL.pdf


 

Marin LAFCo  48 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Figure 9- 1: San Rafael Sanitation District Jurisdictional Boundary and Sphere of Influence 

 

9.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
The SRSD jurisdictional boundary encompasses approximately 12.9 square miles of both 

incorporated and unincorporated Marin County.  The District’s service area includes three land 

use authorities overlapping the jurisdictional boundary.  The City of San Rafael accounts for a 

majority of the total acreage in the District at approximately 60%, while the unincorporated 

spaces within the District’s boundary, of which the County of Marin has general land use 

authority, primarily make up the remaining approximately 39% of the District’s jurisdictional 

area.  The unincorporated neighborhoods within the boundary include the Country Club 

neighborhood in the Central San Rafael basin east of Highway 101 off of Point San Pedro Road, 

the Bayside Acres neighborhood just to the east of the Country Club area, and the California 

Park neighborhood in the southern portion of the Central San Rafael basin west of Highway 101.  

The Town of San Anselmo comprises less than 1% of the District’s boundary, with 

approximately 25 parcels within the District. 

The District’s sphere of influence was established in November of 1984 as part of Marin 

LAFCo’s initial sphere of influence studies for special districts throughout Marin County.  The 



 

Marin LAFCo  49 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

initial sphere was coterminous with the District’s jurisdictional boundary.  At the time, the 

Commission gave the sphere the designation of “interim” to signify the belief that the District 

should be reorganized with the other members of CMSA as the Central Marin Sanitation District, 

combining the four members of CMSA into a single sanitation district with an appointed 

governing board. The sphere received its first amendment in February of 1989 to include the area 

of the recent annexation of China Camp State Park.  The sphere was subsequently amended in 

2006 following the San Rafael Area Municipal Service Review to be coterminous with the 

District’s boundaries with the inclusion of the area of Sun Valley.  This amendment included the 

Commission labeling this as an “interim sphere of influence” in order to signify its support of the 

ongoing exploration at the time of the consolidation of the collection agencies within CMSA.   

9.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
The San Rafael Sanitation District provides service to two of the eleven incorporated 

towns/cities in Marin County (San Rafael and San Anselmo) as well as the unincorporated 

neighborhoods of California Park, Country Club, and Bayside Acres.  The area comprising the 

District’s boundary is nearly coterminous with the areas that comprise ten U.S. Census Tracts. 26 

The current27 total combined population of these tracts is 43,466.  This amount is an increase of 

1,749 (4.2%) from the 2010 population total of 41,717. 

The remaining development potential within each of the planning areas within the District’s 

boundary (both incorporated and unincorporated), while relatively minimal based upon the 

number of remaining undeveloped parcels zoned for residential development, has experienced 

recent changes with the majority of Cities/Towns as well as Marin County itself having adopted 

updated housing elements that included planning for accommodations of the housing mandates 

from the State.  The Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) has designated a need for a 

total of 3,569 additional housing units in unincorporated Marin County by 2031 within the 

Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) plan.  This number is 907 units shy of what Marin 

County had deemed as the total buildout for unincorporated Marin County. There are currently 

no identified sites for RHNA-specific development within the unincorporated spaces in SRSD’s 

sphere of influence.  Meanwhile, the additional RHNA housing unit mandates within the City of 

San Rafael are 3,220.  In its recently updated Housing Element, the City of San Rafael has 

identified sites and projects that are suitable to accommodate 4,858 total units, with 1,957 of 

these already having been approved or proposed.  Of those 1,957, 677 are within the 

jurisdictional boundary of SRSD. 

The current projection in the hypothetical scenario that each of the member agencies (including 

RVSD) within the Central Marin Sanitation Agency were to be developed to their maximum 

buildout potential, the additional dry weather flow would be approximately 0.18 million gallons 

per day28.  Given its current average dry weather flows as well as the permitted allowances for 

flows, CMSA has the capacity to accommodate this level of growth.  As far as growth within 

 
26 U.S. Census Tracts:  1121, 1122.02, 1122.03, 1122.04, 1110.01, 1110.02, 1090.02, 1090.01, 1101, 1102 
27 2023 American Community Survey Data 
28 Marin Countywide Plan; 2023-2031 Housing Element; Pg. 115 

https://www.marincounty.org/-/media/files/departments/cd/housing/housing-element/2024-2032-he-docs/certified-housing-element/clean-version/20232031_marincountyhousingelement.pdf?la=en


 

Marin LAFCo  50 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

strictly SRSD, the District’s EDU levels, and annual wastewater flow totals have been relatively 

static over the course of the past 5 years.   

9.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 

Wastewater Collection 
San Rafael Sanitation District provides wastewater collection to all residents and businesses 

within its jurisdictional boundary. In total, the District’s sewer infrastructure is composed of 

approximately 134 miles of gravity sewer line and 13 miles of force main pipe with 

approximately 91% of all the gravity sewer pipes being 12” in diameter or less, while the 

majority (approximately 54%) of the force main pipes are greater than 12” in diameter.  The 

pipes throughout the District vary between vitrified clay (VCP), high-density polyethylene 

(HDPE), ductile iron (DI), cast iron (CIP), and polyvinyl chloride (PVC) among others.  There 

are a total of 32 pump stations within the District.  The District’s sewer service rates were last 

adjusted on June 21st, 202429, by way of the adoption of Ordinance No. 59.  The newly adopted 

rate schedule became effective on July 1, 2024, and was the first-rate increase by the District 

since 2017.   The adopted rate schedule increased the District’s rate for an Equivalent Dwelling 

Unit (EDU) for all customer classes from $860.63 to $963.91 in the first year, which is an 

increase of 12%. This amount will undergo an annual increase through FY 2026-27 to an amount 

of $1062.72 per EDU.  The most recent available data from the district shows an EDU total of 

19,334.  Over the course of the study window, the average total annual volume of wastewater 

flow from the District into CMSA is 1,588 million gallons.   

 

From 2020-2024, the District experienced a total of 50 sanitary sewer overflows.  These 

overflows equated to approximately 161,982 gallons, with approximately 97,904 of those gallons 

reaching the waters of the State.   

 

9.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 

Board of Directors 
SRSD’s governance authority is established under the County Sanitation District act of 1923 and 

codified under Public Health and Safety Code Sections 4700-4858.  This principal act empowers 

SRSD to provide a moderate range of municipal services upon approval by LAFCo.  As of the 

writing of this study, SRSD is authorized to provide only one municipal service, wastewater 

collection.  Any and all other latent powers enumerated under the principal act would need to be 

formally activated by LAFCo before SRSD would be allowed to initiate service.  Similarly, 

should it ever seek to divest itself of directly providing wastewater services, SRSD would also 

need to seek LAFCo approval. 

SRSD has been governed since its formation in 1947 as a dependent special district with three 

appointments to its Board of Directors with two made by the San Rafael City Council and the 

third by the County Board of Supervisors.  As the majority of District’s service area lies within 

 
 



 

Marin LAFCo  51 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

both Marin County Board of Supervisors Districts 1 and 2 and a small amount within District 4, 

the Marin County Supervisors that serve on the SRSD Board are appointees from one of those 

two majority voting districts.  As a member agency of the Central Marin Sanitation Agency, the 

District appoints two members to CMSA’s Board of Commissioners.  The SRSD Board meets on 

the 3rd Friday of each month at 9:00 a.m. at the San Rafael City Hall located at 1400 Fifth 

Avenue in San Rafael.  A current listing of the SRSD Board of Directors can be seen below in 

Table 9-2. 

 

Table 9-2:  San Rafael Sanitation District Board of Directors 

Member Position Term Expiration 

Kate Colin Chair December 2028 

Maribeth Bushey Director December 2026 

Katie Rice Director December 2024 

 

Administration 
SRSD appoints an at-will General manager to oversee all District operations.  The current 

District Manager, Doris Toy, was appointed by the Board in 2009 and is full-time.  The General 

manager oversees 16 other full-time employees, and this includes two senior management 

support positions:  Principal Civil Engineer and Operations and Maintenance manager.  SRSD 

contracts with the City of San Rafael for a number of staff support services including (but not 

limited to) information technology, payroll, and human resources.   

SRSD is currently in advanced discussions with the Central Marin Sanitation Agency towards a 

service agreement for CMSA to “provide all staffing, regulatory compliance, Board support 

coordination and services necessary for the proper management, administration, and operation of 

SRSD including all owned and operated SRSD assets.”  Due to the manner in which SRSD’s 

labor contract is currently structured, the District has experienced significant difficulty over 

recent years in recruiting and retaining employees.  This difficulty led the District to explore 

options to ensure a high level of service would be maintained throughout its service area.  Under 

the most recent iteration of the proposed service agreement between the two agencies, CMSA 

would agree to hire all of SRSD’s 17 current employees who would continue working in their 

current capacity within the SRSD service area.  Preliminarily, the agreement would be set up so 

that SRSD would fully reimburse CMSA for all services provided including all overhead costs 

for CMSA general services by way of monthly invoices provided to SRSD from CMSA.  The 

agreement also states that “The services provided to SRSD shall not result in increased costs to 

other JPA members”.  SRSD would also agree to remit payment to CMSA for any of the 

unfunded pension liabilities for the transferring employees prior to the employees' transfer to 

CMSA.  SRSD has enlisted the services of an independent consultant as well as CMSA has 

created an ad-hoc Service Contract Development Committee to continue to pursue this endeavor.  

To date, the Committee has held four public meetings to discuss the subject matter, fine-tune the 

proposed agreement, and continue to try to mitigate any possible disruptions that could arise.  



 

Marin LAFCo  52 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

The proposed agreement would hold an initial 5-year term.  The preliminary proposed org chart 

for what this agreement would entail in the initial phase can be seen below in Figure 9-2. 

Figure 9- 2: Draft CMSA Organization Chart 

 

9.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
The San Rafael Sanitation District maintains a high level of accountability and transparency in 

all its activities.  The District website is housed within the website for the City of San Rafael, and 

provides documentation on board meeting agendas and minutes as well as financial reports, 

services, sewer system management plan, permitting, projects, and more.   

Meeting and Agendas 

The SRSD Board of Directors meets regularly on the 3rd Friday of each month at 9:00 a.m. at the 

San Rafael City Hall located at 1400 Fifth Avenue in San Rafael. Special meetings are held as 

needed to go over specific topics.  Meeting agendas and minutes can be found on the District’s 

website. 

https://www.cityofsanrafael.org/departments/sanitation-district/
https://www.cityofsanrafael.org/sanitation-district-board-of-directors/?filter_categories%5b%5d=643


 

Marin LAFCo  53 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

9.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
Over the course of the study window (past 5 fiscal years of available audited financials), San 

Rafael Sanitation District has maintained increases in total net position each year which has been 

driven primarily by its increases in capital assets and net investment in its infrastructure.  In total, 

the District has seen a growth in net position 29% from FYE 2019 to FYE 2023.  The District 

has also realized a significant increase in unrestricted net position of approximately 56% in that 

same timeframe.  The District’s total revenues have outpaced operating expenditures in each of 

the five fiscal years.  These excess funds are primarily allocated toward the District’s capital 

improvement projects and maintaining the District’s target reserves. The average annual 

operating revenues for the District over the 5-year period were $16,849,471 and saw a total 

decline of approximately 1% in operating revenues over the course of the study window.  The 

recently enacted rate schedule will significantly bolster the District’s essentially stagnant 

operating revenues over the course of the next five years.  Conversely, the District’s 

nonoperating revenues saw an increase of approximately 53% over the course of the study 

window.  This was due in large part to an anomalous influx of nonoperating revenues in FYE 

2023 as investment returns from the Marin County Investment Pool experienced a large increase. 

The primary revenue sources for the District are sewer charges (91%) and property taxes (7%) 

with investment income and connection fees supplementing the District’s total revenues at 

approximately 2%.  The primary annual operating expenses for SRSD are sewage treatment 

(54.9%), sewage collection (26.2%), depreciation and amortization30 (16%), and general and 

administration (2.4%).   

The District’s capital improvement program (CIP) has been proactively working towards 

replacing the older pipes and rehabilitating pump stations, among other things, throughout the 

boundary.  The District adopted a policy in June of 2017 requiring transfers to separate reserve 

accounts to provide funding for planned capital improvement projects.  The transfers are based 

on average annual expenditures projected for the subsequent ten years.  One of the primary 

objectives related to the recently updated rate schedule was to increase the District’s amount of 

annual pipe replacement from 1.6 miles to 2.5 miles.  The District has created three separate 

capital improvement funds: the 80-Year Life-Cycle Program, the Pump Station and Force Main 

Capital Improvement Program, and the Equipment Replacement Program.  Each of these 

targeted reserves has seen an increase in fund balance, with the 80-Year Life Cycle Program 

totaling $20.6 million at the FYE 2023, the Pump Station and Force Main Program totaling $10.1 

million, and the Equipment Replacement Program totaling $2.2 million.  In FYE 2023, the 

District totaled $6.43 million in capital expenditures. 

 
30 Depreciation is shown as an operating expense in the financial statements in step with generally accepted 
governmental accounting standards, and as such impacts - and often negatively - gross profit or total margin.  
Depreciation takes into account the wear and tear on physical infrastructure, such as sewer lines, pumps, and 
other capital equipment.  Government accounting standards direct agencies to spread out the costs of replacing 
these assets over the long term, which generates the term depreciation or amortization.  The “charge” for using 
these assets during the period is a fraction of the original cost of the assets based on the expected life of the assets 
and presumably is rolled into the agencies’ fund balance at the end of the fiscal year and as part of the restricted 
reserve. 



 

Marin LAFCo  54 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

The District currently carries no long-term debt that has been reviewed by an independent 

auditor, however, as a member agency of CMSA it shares in the debt service of the joint power’s 

authority.  Additionally, The District’s staff is provided by the City of San Rafael under a 

contractual arrangement that requires the District to pay all related employee costs incurred by 

the City on its behalf.  Quarterly payments are made by the District to the City and include 

amounts sufficient to cover the City’s currently required contributions to employee benefit plans, 

including a portion for past service costs.  During fiscal year 2014-15, the District and the City 

agreed that SRSD was also responsible for unfunded obligations related to past service.  Under 

the agreement, this obligation will be funded and will correspond to the City’s required payments 

to fund its pension and post-employment health benefits.  As of June 30, 2023, the District’s 

portion of the unfunded obligations was $2,002,944. A breakdown of the past 5 years of 

operational revenues and expenses can be seen below in Table 9-3. 

 

Table 9-3:  San Rafael Sanitation District Total Revenues and Operating Expenditures Data 

 

 

 

 
31 There was a notable spike in connection fees in FYE 2019, primarily due to a one-time reimbursement from 
Caltrans for a sewer line relocation project. 

Revenue FY 2022-23 FY 2021-22 FY 2020-21 FY 2019-20 FY 2018-19 Averages 

Sewer 

Charges 

$16,638,611 $16,458,113 $16,945,721 $16,874,361 $16,964,083 $16,776,177.80 

Property 

Taxes 

$2,129,197 $2,086,682 $1,888,197 $1,833,137 $1,727,221 $1,932,886.80 

Aid from 

Governmental 

Agencies 

$5,531 $5,568 $5,609 $5,719 $5,907 $5,666.80 

Investment 

Income (loss) 

$1,328,202 ($406,535) $48,614 $876,369 $519,793 $473,288.60 

Miscellaneous 

Income 

$11,759 $0 $0 $489 $7,768 $4,003.20 

Connection 

Fees 

$175,481 $517,752 $277,752 $175,217 $1,433,87131 $516,014.60 

Total $20,288,781 $18,661,580 $19,165,893 $19,765,292 $20,658,643 $19,708,037.80 

Operating 

Expenses 

FY 2022-23 FY 2021-22 FY 2020-21 FY 2019-20 FY 2018-19 Averages 

Sewage 

Collection 

$2,850,158 $2,458,749 $3,923,907 $4,368,531 $3,923,907 $3,505,050.40 

Sewage 

Treatment 

$7,770,615 $7,657,698 $7,480,877 $6,996,412 $6,687,210 $7,318,562.40 

Depreciation 

and 

Amortization 

$2,443,272 $2,360,343 $2,075,305 $2,154,056 $1,889,198 $2,184,434.80 

General and 

Administration 

$477,882 $415,897 $310,816 $334,264 $100,942 $327,960.20 

Total $13,541,927 $12,892,687 $13,790,905 $13,853,263 $12,601,257 $13,336,007.80 



 

Marin LAFCo  55 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

 

Financial Audit 
The San Rafael Sanitation District annually has its financial statements audited and contracts 

with an outside certified public accounting firm, most recently Maze & Associates.  The most 

recent audited financial statement was prepared for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  56 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

10.0 SANITARY DISTRICT NO. 2 OF MARIN COUNTY 
 

10.1 OVERVIEW 
The Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County (SD2) was formed in 1901 as an independent 

special district under Section 6400 of the California State Health and Safety Code.  The District 

provides wastewater collection to the Town of Corte Madera as well as a portion of the Town of 

Tiburon along Paradise Drive, a small number of parcels in the City of Larkspur, the 

unincorporated Greenbrae area, and the unincorporated area of Paradise Cay.  The District is one 

of three member agencies that comprise the Central Marin Sanitation Agency which is a joint 

powers authority (JPA).  The District’s jurisdictional boundary encompasses just under 3.9 

square miles.  The last municipal service review that included Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin 

County was conducted in 2017. 

Table 10-1: Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County Overview 

Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County 

Primary Contact: R.J. Suokko Phone: (415)-927-5057 

Mailing Address: 300 Tamalpais Drive, Corte Madera 

Formation Date: January 21, 1901 

Services Provided: Wastewater Collection 

Service Area: 2,468 acres Population Served: ≈11,500 

 

10.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
The majority of SD2’s present-day service area's earliest motion towards development came in 

1834 when the area of land that was then known as the Rancho Corte Madera del Presidio was 

granted to the European settler, John Reed, but the Mexican Governor Jose Figueroa.  The total 

area of the land grant was 7,845 acres, and John Reed promptly shortened the name of his new 

holdings to Corte Madera, which translates to “wood cutting”.  Reed soon after completed the 

construction of a sawmill in order to create lumber from the local redwood trees to sell for the 

burgeoning construction within the City of San Francisco.  As more and more area was cleared, 

cattle grazing and other avenues of local farming became more prominent.  By the time of the 

State of California’s second official census in 1860, only a few dozen residents were calling the 

area home, with Marin County as a whole having a population of just over 3,000.   

The spur for the first real development of the Corte Madera area arrived with the completion of 

the North Pacific Coast Railroad in 1875.  This newfound access to travel that stretched through 

Marin County and continued north gave residents of San Francisco the ability to travel by ferry 

to Sausalito and then take the train to different locations within Marin.  This included tracks that 

ran directly along with is now Montecito Drive and the construction of a train station in 1885 

where Montecito is now intersected by Tamalpais Drive.  The area surrounding the train station 

slowly developed into a small commercial area that grew outward to accommodate both the 

area’s business owners as well as a growing number of laborers who now had daily access to 

work in San Francisco. 



 

Marin LAFCo  57 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

By 1900, the local population had grown to approximately 300 and there was a rapidly 

increasing need to coordinate the collection and disposal of the raw sewage flows from the 

downtown area that had formed around the train station.  SD2’s formation was petitioned by the 

local area landowners to the legislators for just this purpose.  The template for these proceedings 

had been laid locally just two years prior by the formation of the neighboring County Sanitary 

District No. 1 of Marin County.  Following this groundwork, a successful election was held, and 

the formation of County Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County was officially incorporated on 

January 21, 1901. 

In June of 1916, the Town of Corte Madera was officially incorporated and while the District 

and the Town remained separate legal entities, they worked collaboratively in such areas as the 

sharing of office space, equipment, and other facilities.  The two agencies remained separate 

until the late 1960s following the creation of the District Reorganization Act in 1965 as well as 

changes to the Municipal Organization Act.  These legislative changes allowed the District to be 

reorganized into a dependent subsidiary district32of the Town of Corte Madera on January 15, 

1969.  By April 1, 1969, the former employees of the District became employees of the Town.   

By 1970 there had been rapid population growth, with the Town of Corte Madera going from a 

population of 1,933 in 1950 to 8,464 in 1970.  This growth, not just in SD2’s service area but 

throughout the greater Bay Area at the time, began to raise significant concerns about the manner 

in which agencies were handling wastewater discharges.  Resulting regulations such as the Clean 

Water Act of 1972 and the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) added 

much-needed restrictions to help regulate the treatment of wastewater discharges into surface 

waters.  The new legislation simultaneously provided a funding mechanism for local agencies to 

receive monies to construct the new facilities that would be necessary to meet the updated 

regulations that required all discharges to meet enhanced standards.   

On October 15, 1979, SD2 joined three other neighboring agencies, the City of Larkspur, 

Sanitary District No. 1 of Marin County, and the San Rafael Sanitation District, to form the Joint 

Powers Authority (JPA)of the Central Marin Sanitation Agency.  The JPA was created for the 

purpose of planning, constructing, and operating wastewater treatment and disposal services for 

its member agencies.  Soon after its formation, the newly formed Joint Powers Authority applied 

for grant funding for the construction of a new treatment plant facility.  Of what would 

eventually amount to a total construction cost of $84 million for the new facility, approximately 

87.5% of the total cost was funded by federal and state clean water grants.  The new treatment 

plant, located on San Quentin Point, began operation in January of 1985 with an average dry 

weather flow capacity of 10 million gallons per day33 and a sustained peak secondary treatment 

capacity of 30 million gallons per day.   

On September 8, 2020, SD2 as well as the Town of Corte Madera entered into a settlement 

agreement and mutual release of claims with the environmental advocacy non-profit, California 

River Watch.  The agreement outlined a number of specific action items for the District to 

 
32 Marin LAFCo Resolution 68-21 
33 CMSA Facilities Master Plan Pg. 1-1 

https://www.cmsa.us/assets/documents/administrative/2017FacilitiesMasterPlan_FINAL.pdf


 

Marin LAFCo  58 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

accomplish prior to the agreement’s termination date in 2027.  Among other things, the 

agreement committed SD2 to complete a full gravity pipe condition assessment by September of 

202234 using closed-circuit television data that had been obtained within the previous 10 years.  

It required SD2 to invest up to $5 million over a 5-year period to repair significantly defective35 

gravity sewer lines.  Additionally, SD2 was required to conduct a desktop study of the force 

mains and pump stations that had not already been assessed, rehabilitated, repaired, or replaced 

within the prior 10 years.  The agreement required the updating of the District’s Sanitary Sewer 

Master Plan (SSMP) within 120 days of the effective date of the agreement.  The District’s 

current SSMP was most recently updated in March of 2024 and holds numerous specific projects 

that have been identified by the District in order to ensure the satisfaction of all of the items 

agreed to within the 2020 settlement in conjunction with the District’s capital improvement 

program.  

Figure 10- 1: Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County Jurisdictional Boundary and Sphere of Influence 

 

 
34 The District’ completed the inspection of its 232,082 linear feet of gravity mains by November of 2021.  The 
assessment showed approximately 9% of that system as having Structural Quick Score 5 defects. 
35 The qualification for “significantly defective” was defined as a Pipeline Assessment and Certification Program 
(PACP) structural rating grade 5.  The PACP rating system was developed by the National Association of Sewer 
Service Companies and is a nationally recognized sewer pipeline condition rating system for CCTV inspections. 



 

Marin LAFCo  59 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

10.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
The SD2 jurisdictional boundary encompasses approximately 3.85 square miles of both 

incorporated and unincorporated Marin County.  The District’s service area includes seven land 

use authorities overlapping the jurisdictional boundary.  The Town of Corte Madera accounts for 

a significant majority of the total acreage in the District.  The Town of Tiburon and the City of 

Larkspur comprise the remainder of the District’s incorporated jurisdictional lands. The 

unincorporated spaces within the District’s boundary, of which the County of Marin has general 

land use authority, make up the remaining approximately 20% of the District’s jurisdictional 

area. 

While not yet formally approved, through a collaborative effort between Sanitary District No 2., 

RVSD, and Marin LAFCo, a tentative agreement is in place pending approvals for a total of 7 

parcels that are currently within the jurisdictional boundary of SD2 to be transferred to RVSD 

due to RVSD being the agency that is providing service to those parcels.  Through the work of a 

multi-year dye testing project by SD2 staff, it was determined that these parcels were not 

receiving service from the jurisdiction in which they resided.  The collaborative effort between 

the three agencies has allowed for the development of a tax exchange agreement in order to 

reorganize the parcels into their proper jurisdiction.  The formal reorganization requires a sphere 

of influence update.  This update coincided with the timeline of this study, and as such the 

formal approval of this reorganization is tentatively planned for the early part of 2025.  In 

addition to this, the District has identified 3 parcels outside of its boundary along Paradise Drive 

as well as Ranch Road that it plans to submit an application for annexation.  Lastly, the 

Tamalpais Union High School District property that holds, among other structures, Redwood 

High School, will be annexed into SD2, along with three surrounding parcels adjacent to the 

property that will be transferred from RVSD to SD2. 

The District’s sphere of influence was established in 1982 as part of Marin LAFCo’s initial 

sphere of influence studies for special districts throughout Marin County.  The initial sphere 

included the totality of the District’s boundary as well as the Ring Mountain area that, at the 

time, was proposed for development off Taylor Road.  At the time, the Commission gave the 

sphere the designation of “interim” to signify the belief that the District should be reorganized 

with the other members of CMSA as the Central Marin Sanitation District, combining the four 

members of CMSA into a single sanitation district with an appointed governing board.  The 

sphere was subsequently amended in 2006 following the Ross Valley Area Municipal Service 

Review to be coterminous with the District’s boundaries.  This amendment included the 

Commission labeling this as an “interim sphere of influence” in order to signify its support of the 

ongoing exploration at the time of the consolidation of the collection agencies within CMSA.  

The most recent update of the sphere of influence occurred in 2017 and added all of the areas of 

244, 246, and 260 Summit Drive to the District’s sphere following a reorganization of four 

parcels between the District and RVSD. 

10.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
The Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County provides service to three of the eleven incorporated 

towns/cities in Marin County (Corte Madera, Larkspur, and Tiburon) as well as the 



 

Marin LAFCo  60 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

unincorporated community of Paradise Cay, and the Greenbrae Boardwalk area and Lucky Drive 

areas.  The area comprising the District’s boundary in the Paradise Cay area that is made up of 

unincorporated lands as well as the Town of Tiburon is nearly coterminous with U.S. Census 

Block Group 2 within Census Tract 1241.  As such, population estimates for the District will be 

projected using this area's population determinations.  The town of Corte Madera has a 2024 

population estimate from the California Department of Finance of 9,882, which is a 6.8% 

increase from the Town’s population totals from the 2010 Census total of 9,253.  Census Tract 

1241; Block Group 2 has an estimated current population of 1,284, which is an 11.7% increase 

from its population totals from the 2010 Census of 1,149. 

The remaining development potential within each of the planning areas within the District’s 

boundary (both incorporated and unincorporated), while relatively minimal based upon the 

number of remaining undeveloped parcels zoned for residential development, has experienced 

recent changes with the majority of Cities/Towns as well as Marin County itself having adopted 

updated housing elements that included planning for accommodations of the housing mandates 

from the State.  The Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) has designated a need for a 

total of 3,569 additional housing units in unincorporated Marin County by 2031 within the 

Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) plan.  This number is 907 units shy of what Marin 

County had deemed as the total buildout for unincorporated Marin County. There are currently 

no identified sites for RHNA-specific development within the unincorporated spaces in SD2’s 

sphere of influence.  Meanwhile, the additional RHNA housing unit mandates for each of the 

incorporated spaces within the District’s sphere of influence create a sum total of 81836 and are 

as follows: 

• Town of Tiburon37 – 93 

• Town of Corte Madera – 725 

The current projection in the hypothetical scenario that each of the member agencies (including 

RVSD) within the Central Marin Sanitation Agency were to be developed to their maximum 

buildout potential, the additional dry weather flow would be approximately 0.18 million gallons 

per day38.  Given its current average dry weather flows as well as the permitted allowances for 

flows, CMSA has the capacity to accommodate this level of growth.  As far as growth within 

strictly SD2, the District’s EDU levels, and annual wastewater flow totals have been relatively 

static over the course of the past 5 years.   

10.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 

Wastewater Collection 
Sanitary District No.2 of Marin County provides wastewater collection to all residents and 

businesses within its jurisdictional boundary with the exception of approximately six parcels that 

are currently known to be operating by way of a septic tank. In total, the District’s sewer 

infrastructure is composed of approximately 45 miles of gravity sewer line and 4 miles of force 

 
36 ABAG Final RHNA Plan 
37 4576 Paradise Drive 
38 Marin Countywide Plan; 2023-2031 Housing Element; Pg. 115 

https://abag.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-12/Final_RHNA_Allocation_Report_2023-2031-approved_0.pdf
https://www.townoftiburon.org/DocumentCenter/View/4135/4-Housing?bidId=
https://www.marincounty.org/-/media/files/departments/cd/housing/housing-element/2024-2032-he-docs/certified-housing-element/clean-version/20232031_marincountyhousingelement.pdf?la=en


 

Marin LAFCo  61 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

main pipe with approximately 91% of all the gravity sewer pipes being 12” in diameter or less, 

while the majority (approximately 54%) of the force main pipes are greater than 12” in diameter.  

The pipes throughout the District vary between vitrified clay (VCP), high-density polyethylene 

(HDPE), ductile iron (DI), cast iron (CIP), and polyvinyl chloride (PVC) among others.  There 

are 4 major pump stations owned and operated by the district, as well as 15 other stations that are 

classified as minor. The District contracts with the Central Marin Sanitation Agency for the 

operation and maintenance of its pump stations as well as limited maintenance to the District’s 

force mains.  The District’s sewer service rates were last adjusted on May 21st, 202439, by way of 

the adoption of Ordinance No. 49.  Following the adoption of the District’s Sanitary Sewer 

Master Plan in March of 2024 which outlined the necessary funding to ensure the District’s 

continued operation, an independent consultant was contracted to produce a rate study report.  

This report developed a five-year rate schedule which the District adopted.   The adopted rate 

increase was the first increase for the District since FY 2009-10.  The updated rate schedule went 

into effect on July 1, 2024, and increased the District’s rate for a Sewer Equivalent Unit (SEU) 

for all customer classes from $498 to $697, which is an increase of 39%. This amount will 

undergo an annual increase through FY 2028-29 to an amount of $1,233.02 per SEU.  The most 

recent available data from the district shows an SEU total of 6,155.   

 

10.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 

Board of Directors 
The Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County receives oversight and policy direction as a 

subsidiary District to the Town of Corte Madera from the Corte Madera Town Council Members 

as District Board Members.  The District’s business matters are incorporated as part of the 

Town’s regular meeting schedule, albeit as a separate entity within the same meeting space/day.  

All directors are required to be registered voters residing within the District’s jurisdictional 

boundary.  One of the Board members is annually appointed to the Central Marin Sanitation 

Agency Commission. 

 Table 10-2:  Sanitary District No. 2 Board of Directors 

Member Position Term Expiration 

Eli Beckman President November 2026 

Pat Ravasio Vice-President November 2026 

Fred Casissa Director November 2024 

Charles Lee Director November 2024 

Rosa Thomas Director November 2026 

 

Administration 
The Director of Public Works for the Town of Corte Madera serves as the District Manager for 

SD2 as a subsidiary district of the Town.  Service activities directly performed by SD2 are done 

so by way of the Corte Madera Public Works Department staff, or through contractual 

 
39 Resolution No. 04/2024 



 

Marin LAFCo  62 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

agreements for services with both the Ross Valley Sanitary District and the Central Marin 

Sanitation Agency. 

10.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
The Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County maintains a high level of accountability and 

transparency in all its activities.  The District website is housed within the website for the Town 

of Corte Madera and provides documentation on board meeting agendas and minutes as well as 

financial reports, services, studies, sewer system management plan, permitting, contracts, and 

more.   

Meeting and Agendas 

The SD2 Board of Directors meets regularly on the 1st and 3rd Tuesday of each month at 6:45 

p.m. or upon conclusion of the Corte Madera Town Council Meeting.  Meetings are held at the 

Town Hall Council Chambers at 300 Tamalpais Drive in Corte Madera.  Special meetings are 

held as needed to go over specific topics.  Meeting agendas and minutes can be found on the 

District’s website. 

Annual Budget Review 
The District’s budget, typically adopted no later than the June Board meeting each year in 

alignment with the budget process for the Town of Corte Madera, provides overall control of 

revenue and expenditures including appropriations on a line-item basis and the means of 

financing them.  The District’s budgetary financial planning consists of a two-fund system, 

planning for both operating and capital expenditures each year.  The District Manager presents 

financial reports to the Board every month to ensure budgetary compliance.   

10.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
Over the course of the study window (past 5 fiscal years of available audited financials), Sanitary 

District No. 2 of Marin County has maintained increases in total net position each year which has 

been driven primarily by its increases in capital assets and net investment in capital assets.  The 

District’s total revenues have outpaced operating expenditures in each of the five fiscal years.  

These excess funds are primarily allocated toward the District’s capital improvement projects 

and maintaining the District’s target reserves. The average annual operating revenues for the 

District over the 5-year period were $3,083,119 and saw a total decline of approximately 5% in 

operating revenues over the course of the study window.  The recently enacted rate schedule will 

significantly bolster the District’s essentially stagnant operating revenues over the course of the 

next five years.  Conversely, the District’s nonoperating revenues saw an increase of 

approximately 40% over the course of the study window.   

 

The primary revenue sources for the District are property taxes (55%) and sewer user fees (40%) 

with investment income and miscellaneous revenues supplementing the District’s total revenues 

at approximately 4%.  The primary annual operating expenses for SD2 are collection 

maintenance (26%), treatment and disposal (23%), and depreciation (20%).  The District’s 

https://www.cortemadera.gov/391/Sanitary-District-No-2
https://www.cortemadera.gov/Archive.aspx?AMID=65&Type=&ADID=


 

Marin LAFCo  63 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

capital improvement program (CIP) has been proactively working towards replacing the older 

pipes and rehabilitating pump stations, among other things, throughout the boundary.  This 

aggressive infrastructure focus by the District has resulted in the depletion of its unrestricted 

fund balance by approximately 59% during the previous five years.  Despite this, the District still 

maintains a healthy unrestricted fund balance of over $5.6 million in addition to the District’s 

$2.5 million emergency reserve.  In its continued efforts to proactively improve the condition of 

the District’s infrastructure throughout its boundary, on October 15, 2024, the District’s Board 

approved an amendment to the approved budget for FY 2024-25.  The amendment to the budget 

allowed for the following updates: 

• Add proceeds of Certificates of Participation in the amount of $10,000,000 

• Add Carryover Capital Expenditures for Meadowsweet Trunk Sewer Rehabilitation 

Project for $240,000. 

• Add Carryover Capital Expenditures for 2023 Madera Gardens Sewer Rehabilitation 

Project for $16,525 

• Add Other Capital Expenditures in the amount of $7,915,000 

• Add Debt Service Payment in the amount of $380,757. 

While during the FY 2024-25 budget review and adoption process, the District’s staff and Board 

were of the plan to issue Certificates of Participation (COP) in order to finance capital projects, 

the District did not finalize a bidder until late September40, thereby necessitating the budget 

adjustment to add the funds to the current fiscal year.  In addition, this influx of funds will also 

increase the District’s planned capital expenditures in FY 2024-25 from $4,875,000 to 

$13,046,525 

The District currently carries no long-term debt that has been reviewed by an independent 

auditor, however, as a member agency of CMSA it shares in the debt service of the joint powers 

authority.  This will change at the end of the current fiscal year as impacted by the issuance of 

the COPs. A breakdown of the past 5 years of operational revenues and expenses41 can be seen 

below in Table 10-3. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
40 On September 25, 2024, SD2 sold Certificates of Participation to Morgan Stanley in the total amount of 
$10,000,000. 
41 In FYE 2022, the District’s independent auditor updated the manner in which it calculated the annual revenues 
and expenses by including the CMSA Debt Service in expenses, whereas it had previously been deducted from 
nonoperating revenues.  The firm also began including utilities and pump station maintenance as standalone line 
items. 



 

Marin LAFCo  64 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Table 10-3:  Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County Total Revenues and Operating Expenditures Data 

 

 

Financial Audit 
The Sanitary District No. 2 of Marin County annually has its financial statements audited and 

contracts with an outside certified public accounting firm, The Pun Group.  The most recent 

audited financial statement was prepared for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revenue FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 Averages 
Property Taxes $3,410,344 $3,523,798 $3,719,195 $3,981,260 $4,239,909 $3,774,901.20 

Sewer User Fees $3,050,716 $2,977,371 $3,207,792 $2,841,560 $2,891,162 $2,993,720.20 

Investment 

Earnings 

$297,857 $240,239 $64,016 $36,804 $169,542 $161,691.60 

Other $94,592 $85,222 $127,068 $122,351 $67,542 $99,355.00 

Total $6,853,509 $6,826,630 $7,118,071 $6,981,975 $7,367,939 $7,029,624.80 

Operating 

Expenses 

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 Average 

Administration 

and General 

$241,169 $360,970 $457,767 $262,425 $394,462 $343,358.60 

Collection 

Maintenance 

$1,176,876 $1,951,027 $1,791,645 $1,222,452 $1,569,734 $1,542,346.80 

Pump Station 

Maintenance 

   $362,515 $451,256 $406,885.50 

CMSA Debt 

Service 

   $668,608 $668,157 $668,382.50 

Utilities    $177,396 $249,316 $213,356.00 

Treatment and 

Disposal 

$972,624 $993,458 $1,030,384 $1,127,450 $1,245,679 $1,073,919.00 

Depreciation $1,127,580 $1,134,300 $1,124,939 $931,929 $1,356,405 $1,135,030.60 

Total $3,518,249 $4,439,755 $4,401,735 $4,752,775 $5,935,009 $4,609,504.60 



 

Marin LAFCo  65 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

11.0 SAN QUENTIN VILLAGE SEWER MAINTENANCE 

DISTRICT 
 

11.1 OVERVIEW 
The San Quentin Village Sewer Maintenance District (SQVSMD) was formed in 1962 as a 

dependent special district under Section 4860 of the California State Health and Safety Code.  

The District is organized as a limited-purpose agency municipal operation statutorily limited to 

providing wastewater collection to the community of San Quentin Village, a small 

unincorporated area that is directly adjacent to the San Quentin Rehabilitation Center.  The 

District’s jurisdictional boundary encompasses .012 square miles.  The last municipal service 

review that included the San Quentin Village Sewer Maintenance District was conducted in 

2017. 

Table 11- 1: San Quentin Village Sewer Maintenance District Overview 

San Quentin Village Sewer Maintenance District 

Primary Contact: Christopher Blunk Phone: (415)-499-6528 

Mailing Address: 3501 Civic Center Drive STE 304, San Rafael, CA 

Formation Date: May 1962 

Services Provided: Wastewater Collection 

Service Area: 8.22 acres Population Served: 110 

 

11.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
The area of Point San Quentin was originally a small apportionment of the 8,877-acre Mexican 

land grant known as Rancho Punta de Quentin.  The land was given in 1840 by Governor Juan B 

Alvarado to John Cooper, and also encompassed what is now the Towns of Ross and San 

Anselmo, as well as the community of Kentfield.  In 1850, Benjamin Rush Buckelew purchased 

the Rancho Punta de Quentin from Cooper with the intention of creating the country’s first major 

west-coast port city.  When the new city failed to materialize, Buckelew moved his sawmill from 

the Larkspur area to Point San Quentin used as space for making lumber for the rapidly 

increasing construction in San Francisco.   

In 1852, the California State Legislature appointed a committee to investigate sites for the 

establishment of a state prison.  The committee ultimately decided on the San Quentin site and 

on July 7, 1852, Buckelew sold 20 acres to the State of California for $10,000.  At the time, the 

State was utilizing a large ship, the Waban, as the first state prison.  In the latter part of 1852, the 

Waban was anchored offshore with approximately 40 incarcerated inmates.  During the day, the 

workers were transported to land in order to quarry stone and make bricks to construct the first 

prison cells.  The construction of the prison was completed in 1854 and originally featured 48 

windowless cells.  Initially, the prison was under private management, with individuals awarded 

contracts to run the facility.  After a few years that were fraught with abuse of this arrangement, 

the State of California took over in 1860.   



 

Marin LAFCo  66 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

The area immediately surrounding the prison developed a few temporary structures in the late 

1850s to accommodate prison staff members.  It wasn’t until the 1870s that the construction of 

permanent residences ultimately replaced the temporary housing.  By the end of the 1940s, over 

two dozen residences had been constructed into what was referred to as San Quentin Village 

housing approximately 50 people.  In 1962, the Marin County Board of Supervisors approved the 

formation of the San Quentin Village Sewer Maintenance District as a means for landowners to 

tax themselves for the purposes of constructing and operating a community wastewater 

collection system.  The initial collection system’s construction was completed in 1965 with the 

Marin County Department of Public Works overseeing all operational and maintenance 

activities.  Just prior to the completion of the construction in 1964, SQVSMD entered into a 

contract with the State of California to direct wastewater flows directly into the adjacent State 

Prison’s collection system for access to the subsequent treatment and disposal from the nearest 

wastewater treatment plant at Larkspur Landing. 

In May of 2012, SQVSMD entered into an agreement with the Central Marin Sanitation Agency 

to provide operation and maintenance of the SQVSMD collection system and pump station.    

Figure 11- 1: San Quentin Village Sewer Maintenance District Service Area 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  67 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

11.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
The SQVSMD jurisdictional boundary encompasses approximately .012 square miles and covers 

eight total acres.  The jurisdictional boundary is entirely within the land use authority of the 

County of Marin and comprises the unincorporated community of San Quentin Village.  The 

District is made up of 41 assessor parcels on both sides of Main Street from the eastern end of 

the residential properties to approximately 260 feet to the west of the intersection of Main Street 

and McKenzie Street. 

The Commission has not established a sphere of influence designation for SQVSMD.  It appears 

this is the result of an earlier determination that SQVSMD falls outside of the Commission’s 

authority.  Commission staff has revisited this matter as part of this study and concludes that 

SQVSMD and, more specifically, sewer maintenance districts formed under Public Health and 

Safety Code Section 4860-4927 are subject to LAFCo.  As such, a sphere designation should 

ultimately be assigned to the District. 

11.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
SQVSMD’s resident population within its jurisdictional boundary is independently estimated by 

the Commission at 110 as of the term of this study.   This projection is based on a calculation of 

the number of housing units multiplied by 2.45 which is the current average in Marin County for 

residents per housing unit.  This calculation is necessitated as the District resides within two 

separate U.S. Census tracts that make up significantly larger areas.  Of the 45 units, 33 are 

single-family and 12 are multi-family.  The 41 developable assessor parcels in the District are 

fully built out, leaving no current possibility for any significant future growth within the 

District’s boundary.   

11.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 

Wastewater Collection 
San Quentin Village Sewer Maintenance District provides wastewater collection to all 41 of the 

assessor parcels within its jurisdictional boundary.  In total, the District’s sewer infrastructure is 

composed of approximately 1,500 feet of gravity sewer lines and one force main, 12 manholes, 

and one pump station.  The pump station pushes the collected wastewater through a force main 

to a gravity sewer that flows into the State-owned gravity sewer system on the site of the San 

Quentin Rehabilitation Center (SQRC).  The District’s wastewater flow discharges into the 

SQRC collection system where it is pumped to the Central Marin Sanitation Agency for 

treatment and disposal.  Due to the wastewater flow from the District being directly incorporated 

into the SQRC collection system, SQVSMD does not independently track wastewater flow totals 

generated within its jurisdictional boundary.  The District contracts with the Central Marin 

Sanitation Agency for the operation and maintenance of its collection system and pump station. 

 

The District has had no instances of any sanitary sewer overflows in the course of this study 

window (past 5 years).  Since no further significant development in San Quentin Village is 

projected, the major sewer system planning consists of ensuring that the collection system is 

properly maintained and that deteriorated lines are repaired or replaced.  The District reports that 



 

Marin LAFCo  68 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

there are currently a total of 37 service connections within the District.  In FY 2023-24, those 37 

connections created a wastewater collection flow equivalent of 45 equivalent dwelling units 

(EDU).  The current sewer service rate is $472 per EDU.  Property owners receiving service 

from SQVSMD are assessed this annual fee which is included on their property tax bill.  Rate 

changes are made by the Board of Supervisors.  There have been no rate changes at any point 

within the study window. 

 

Staff in the past was involved in discussions between the County and RVSD about the possible 

reorganization that would end with the SQVSMD being annexed into RVSD.  While those 

discussions have stalled it was discovered that Caltrans has a maintenance yard between 

SQVSMD and I 580 on the bay side of Main Street.  This maintenance yard currently connects 

into the SQVSMD system to transport its wastewater to the CMSA treatment plant.  It would 

appear that neither SQVSMD nor Caltrans pay for treatment that is performed by CMSA but 

rather the prison seems to pay for the treatment of these groups.  

11.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 
 

Board of Directors 
The governance for SQVSMD is dependently provided by the County of Marin through its five-

member Board of Supervisors that are elected by supervisorial district to staggered four-year 

terms.  SQVSMD-related matters are considered, as needed, during regular meetings held by the 

Board of Supervisors. 

Table 11- 2: Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Member Position Term Expiration 

Dennis Rodoni President January 2, 2025 

Mary Sackett Vice-President January 2, 2027 

Eric Lucan 2nd Vice-President January 2, 2027 

Katie Rice Supervisor January 2, 2025 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters Supervisor January 2, 2027 

 

Administration 
The Marin County Board of Supervisors assigns the Director of Public Works to serve as the 

SQVSMD District Engineer.  Key duties of the Public Works Department performed on behalf 

of SQVSMD include proposing an annual budget, recommending changes to the fee schedule, 

and collaborating with CMSA to oversee capital improvements.  The day-to-day operation of 

SQVSMD and its collection system is managed contractually by CMSA. 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  69 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

11.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 

Meeting and Agendas 

The Board of Supervisors meeting agendas, minutes, and recordings can be viewed on the Marin 

County website.  Board documents such as resolutions and ordinances can also be found on the 

Board of Supervisors page of Marin County’s website. 

Annual Budget Review 
The District’s budget, typically adopted no later than the June Board meeting each year in 

alignment with the budget process for the County of Marin, provides overall control of revenue 

and expenditures including appropriations on a line-item basis and the means of financing them.    

The Public Works Director presents financial reports to the Board as necessary to ensure 

budgetary compliance.   

11.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
Revenues for the District are generated almost entirely from the taxes assessed in each 

customer’s property tax roll.  For the course of the study window, total annual revenues have 

averaged $49,140.  Annual expenses consist primarily of minor maintenance and repairs as well 

as planned infrastructure upgrades/rehabilitation and the cost of the contract with CMSA.  The 

average annual expenses over the course of the study window was $40,626.  As of the FYE June 

30, 2023, the District maintained a fund balance of $301,656. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.marincounty.gov/departments/board/board-supervisors-meetings


 

Marin LAFCo  70 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

12.0 LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
 

12.1 OVERVIEW 
The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (LGVSD) was formed in 1954 as an independent 

special district under Section 6400 of the California State Health and Safety Code.  The District 

provides wastewater collection to the City of San Rafael that is north of Puerto Suello Hill in 

primarily the Terra Linda community area of the City, as well as to the unincorporated 

communities of Santa Venetia, Los Ranchitos, and Marinwood stretching through the area of 

Lucas Valley.  LGVSD’s current service area includes the tributary areas to Miller Creek and 

Gallinas Creek.  The District’s jurisdictional boundary encompasses just under 9.6 square miles.  

The last municipal service review that included the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District was 

conducted in 2017. 

Table 12- 1: Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Overview 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Primary Contact: Curtis Paxton Phone: (415)-472-1734 

Mailing Address: 101 Lucas Valley Road Suite 300, San Rafael 

Formation Date: April 6, 1954 

Services Provided: Wastewater Collection, Recycled Water, Solid Waste Collection 

Service Area: 6,058 acres Population Served: 29,120 

 

12.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District’s service area’s earliest development began in 1844 in 

the form of cattle ranchers who established themselves in the locale through a Mexican land 

grant to one of Marin County’s first western settlers, Timothy Murphy.  The grant contained 

three distinct ranchos – San Pedro, Santa Margarita, and Las Gallinas – totaling approximately 

21,000 acres and running from east to west from what is present-day Point San Pedro to Big 

Rock Ridge in Lucas Valley.  The land was maintained as cattle ranches until Murphy’s death in 

the early 1850s.  The land was bequeathed to Murphy’s nephew, John Lucas, who quickly began 

dividing and selling lots to interested outside parties.  One of the larger lot sales was to a 

Portuguese settler named Manuel T. Freitas whose family established a large homestead that is 

now present-day Terra Linda.   

The division and sale of lots progressively led to an increase in residential and commercial 

development throughout the area.  On the southeastern end of the rancho, the area of what is 

present-day Santa Venetia produced two significant goldmines in the hills that operated until 

1884 and 1889 respectively.  The area of Santa Venetia, which would later serve as LGVSD’s 

initial service area, was developed on marshland that was filled in 1914.  The area was originally 

planned for development to be modeled after Venice, Italy, with proposals including canals and 

gondolas.  These development plans were ended due to the economic decline following World 

War I, and the area remained largely undeveloped through the early 1900s.  Following the end of 

World War II, the same subdivision map that had been created for the earlier development 



 

Marin LAFCo  71 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

proposal in the area was utilized to construct the Gallinas Village.  Development around this area 

continued throughout the 1940s and into the early 1950s, however, the infill that had been used 

to create the area came under such duress that the County of Marin had to halt the approvals of 

new construction permits in lieu of establishing a community wastewater system. 

The formation of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District came to fruition following the petition 

by landowners in Santa Venetia who were faced with the inability to create new developments in 

the area due to the halting of permit approvals as well as area residents who were faced with a 

serious health problem from failing septic tanks and resulting pollution of Gallinas Creek.  The 

petition was heard and approved by the County of Marin’s Boundary Change Commission and 

following a successful vote of local landowners, the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District was 

formed on April 6, 1954.  A note of interest within the formation proceedings was that a 

significant premise of the formation was a desire of the local landowners to remain independent 

of the neighboring City of San Rafael, and the dependent wastewater district that it had formed 

just a few years earlier in 1947.   

LGVSD completed the construction of its first wastewater treatment facility in 1955, and in 

1958, completed a significant expansion to accommodate the continued growth throughout the 

Gallinas Valley.  The District annexed the area of Terra Linda in November of 196542, followed 

soon after by the areas of San Rafael Meadows, Marinwood, and Lucas Valley, among others.  

By 1972, a majority of the unincorporated area of Terra Linda had been developed and was 

ultimately annexed that year by the City of San Rafael.  LGVSD completed a second major 

upgrade to its treatment facility in this same year as much of the new growth within the service 

area shifted primarily to the east of U.S. Highway 101.  The District completed a third major 

expansion of the treatment facility in 1984.  With a continually shrinking capacity due to 

continued growth, in 1985 the District purchased and developed 383 acres of land for wastewater 

disposal adjacent to its wastewater treatment facility.  The project included a 20-acre wildlife 

marsh, 40 acres of storage ponds, a 10-acre saltwater marsh, 20 acres of irrigated landscaping, 

and 200 acres of irrigated pasture.  As part of the reclamation project, LGVSD dedicated three 

and one-half miles of public easements along the shore of the storage ponds and around the 

saltwater marsh. 

In 1989, LGVSD entered into an agreement with the Marin Municipal Water District (MMWD) 

to provide a joint agency effort to treat the District’s secondary treated wastewater through the 

tertiary phase and then distribute the treated wastewater throughout the District to make it 

available for landscape irrigation and for other purposes.  MMWD distributes the treated 

wastewater through a dedicated distribution system (“purple pipes”) to irrigate golf courses, 

landscaping at office and apartment buildings, and along freeways, streets, and parks.  This 

treated water is distributed throughout Marinwood, Terra Linda, and down to North San Pedro 

Road.   

Since 1955, LGVSD has provided solid waste (garbage/refuse/recycling) services through the 

District’s franchise service provider, Marin Sanitary Service to the entire North San Rafael area, 

 
42 Marin LAFCo Resolution 65-02 



 

Marin LAFCo  72 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

both incorporated and unincorporated.  In April 2004, the City of San Rafael acted to assume 

responsibility for the collection of all refuse within the City’s boundaries including north San 

Rafael in order for the entire city to pay the same rates and receive the same level of service.  

Following this act, LGVSD’s provision of solid waste collection within its service area was 

reserved to just the unincorporated areas outside of the City of San Rafael’s jurisdictional 

boundary.   

Also in 2004, the District installed an 81-kilowatt photovoltaic system to provide green power 

for its reclamation area.  The District followed this act in 2006 with the installation of an 850,000 

kWh/year photovoltaic system to power its treatment plant facilities with green power.   

In 2011, LGVSD entered into an agreement with the North Marin Water District (NMWD) to 

provide fully treated recycled water supplies for distribution in the Novato area and surrounding 

communities.   

In 2019, the District began a major multi-year expansion to its treatment plant which would 

ultimately increase the plant’s capacity to 3.2 million gallons per day.  The upgrade also included 

the rebuilding and expansion of the District’s recycled water production facility, which enabled 

the production capacity of approximately 5 million gallons of recycled water per day.  The new 

recycled water facility has been online since March 2021. 

Figure 12- 1: Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Jurisdictional Boundary and Sphere of Influence 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  73 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

12.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District’s jurisdictional boundary encompasses approximately 

9.6 square miles of both incorporated and unincorporated Marin County.  The District’s service 

area includes three land use authorities that overlay the District’s jurisdictional boundary.  The 

County of Marin accounts for approximately 63% of all LGVSD lands and includes the 

communities of Santa Venetia and Marinwood as well as the Los Ranchito and Lucas Valley 

neighborhoods.  The City of San Rafael comprises approximately 36% of the District’s service 

area and generally encompasses the City’s Terra Linda area.  The remaining 1% of the 

jurisdictional boundary falls under the land use authority of the City of Novato and is specific to 

the Marin Valley Mobile Country Club and an adjacent open space property.  In total, the 

District encompasses 10,443 assessor parcels, providing sewer service to 9,730 parcels. 

The District’s sphere of influence was established July 14, 1983, as part of Marin LAFCo’s 

initial sphere of influence studies for special districts throughout Marin County.  The sphere was 

established as the full jurisdictional boundary of the District as well as the non-jurisdictional 

lands along Lucas Valley Drive that encompass the Miller Creek tributary, the area of the Terra 

Linda-Sleepy Hollow Divide, and the unincorporated St. Vincent area.  The sphere was 

subsequently amended in 2006 following the San Rafael Area Municipal Service Review to 

remove the area of the Terra Linda-Sleepy Hollow Divide as this area had been designated as 

public open space with no opportunity for future service needs.  The most recent update of the 

sphere of influence occurred in April of 201643 during the reorganization of one parcel from the 

San Rafael Sanitation District was annexed into LGVSD.   

12.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District provides service to two of the eleven incorporated 

towns/cities in Marin County (San Rafael, Novato) as well as the two census-designated places 

of Santa Venetia and Marinwood/Lucas Valley. The District also provides service to the 

unincorporated Los Ranchito neighborhood.  While the communities of Marinwood and Lucas 

Valley may have local distinctions separating one from the other, the US Census Bureau 

recognizes both of these spaces as a single census-designated place for population data.  The 

District’s boundaries are nearly coterminous with the inhabited spaces within six U.S. Census 

tracts44.  The current combined population within these tracts is estimated to be 30,56745.  This 

total is an increase of 4.96% from the 2010 U.S. Census population total for the area of 29,120, 

which equates to an annual growth rate over this period of approximately 0.35%. 

The remaining development potential within each of the planning areas within the District’s 

boundary (both incorporated and unincorporated), while relatively minimal based upon the 

number of remaining undeveloped parcels zoned for residential development, has experienced 

recent changes with the majority of Cities/Towns as well as Marin County itself having adopted 

updated housing elements that included planning for accommodations of the housing mandates 

 
43 Marin LAFCo Resolution 2016-03; 91 Glenside Way Annexation 
44 U.S. Census Tracts: 1081, 1082.02, 1082.01, 1060.01, 1060.02, 1070 
45 Population estimates are a combination of data provided by the State of California Department of Finance as 
well as the American Community Survey. 



 

Marin LAFCo  74 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

from the State.  The Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) has designated a need for a 

total of 3,569 additional housing units in unincorporated Marin County by 2031 within the 

Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) plan.  This number is 907 units shy of what Marin 

County had deemed as the total buildout for unincorporated Marin County.  Of those 3,569 units, 

1,16046 have identified sites for development within the unincorporated spaces in Las Gallinas 

Valley Sanitary District’s sphere of influence.  Meanwhile, the additional RHNA sites that have 

been identified in/by the City of San Rafael that lie within the sphere of influence of the District 

would create an additional 1,8174748 units 

The current projection in the hypothetical scenario that each of the identified sites for RHNA 

development within LGVSD were to be developed to their maximum buildout potential, the 

additional dry weather flow would be approximately 0.18 million gallons per day49 from the 

unincorporated spaces and 0.20 million gallons per day from the City of San Rafael.  Given its 

current average dry weather flows as well as the permitted allowances for flows, LGVSD has the 

capacity to accommodate this level of growth.  The District’s total number of sewer customers 

have been essentially stagnant over the past 10 years50, with a total residential customer sanitary 

unit count of 12,629 in 2014 and 12,491 in 2023.  In that same time frame, the District 

maintained an average daily wastewater flow to the treatment facility of 2.52 million51 gallons.  

12.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 

Wastewater Collection/Treatment 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District provides wastewater collection to the vast majority of 

residents and businesses within its jurisdictional boundary.  The District has a total of 15,745 

sewer service customers, which includes commercial customers class count based on their 

Equivalent Sanitary Unit which fluctuates based on prior year water use.  In total, the District’s 

sewer infrastructure is composed of approximately 105 miles of mainline and trunk line and 6.72 

miles of force main.  The average age of the collection system dates between 40 to 50 years with 

an expected lifespan of up to 80 years.  The pipes throughout the District vary between vitrified 

clay (VCP), high-density polyethylene (HDPE), ductile iron (DI), cast iron (CIP), and polyvinyl 

chloride (PVC) among others.  The area has a total of 28 pump stations throughout the District’s 

boundary that lead to an advanced secondary-level treatment facility.  The treatment plant 

experienced a significant upgrade in 2008, followed by another upgrade that started in 2019 and 

is considered the largest single capital improvement project in the District’s history.  The $68 

million upgrade, completed in 2023, increased the plant’s secondary treatment capacity from 8 to 

 
46 Marin Countywide Plan; 2023-2031 Housing Element; Pg. 210 
47 San Rafael Housing Element; 2023-2031 
48 This amount is inclusive of all 1,422 planned units in both of the 2 phases of the Northgate Town Square 
redevelopment proposal.  The initial phase consists of the construction of 907 units and, pending the still needed 
approval, would be the only phase that would be completed within the current Housing Element cycle.  Both the 
City and the Developer have already identified that the second phase of the development proposal would require 
a sewer line upsizing as part of the project. 
49 Marin Countywide Plan; 2023-2031 Housing Element; Pg. 115 
50 LGVSD ACFR 2023; Pg 60 
51 LGVSD ACFR 2023; Pg 68 

https://www.marincounty.org/-/media/files/departments/cd/housing/housing-element/2024-2032-he-docs/certified-housing-element/clean-version/20232031_marincountyhousingelement.pdf?la=en
https://storage.googleapis.com/proudcity/sanrafaelca/uploads/2024/02/FullDocument-SanRafaelHousingElement-Adopted051523-wFinalMods060723-min.pdf
https://www.marincounty.org/-/media/files/departments/cd/housing/housing-element/2024-2032-he-docs/certified-housing-element/clean-version/20232031_marincountyhousingelement.pdf?la=en
https://www.lgvsd.org/files/edb34f485/LGVSD+ACFR+2023+-+FINAL.pdf
https://www.lgvsd.org/files/edb34f485/LGVSD+ACFR+2023+-+FINAL.pdf


 

Marin LAFCo  75 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

18 million gallons per day and increased the District’s recycled water production capacity from 

1.8 million gallons per day to 5 million gallons per day. The treatment plant is also equipped 

with a 588kW solar photovoltaic system that supplies solar energy to help power the treatment 

plant.  The solar photovoltaic system is offline for safety reasons but the District plans to replace 

the system as part of a capital project.  In addition to the solar energy generation system, the 

District also has constructed and utilizes a closed-loop biogas energy recovery system.  This 

system allows for the recovery of 100% of the methane produced from the anaerobic digestion of 

wastewater sludge at the treatment facility and conditions it for onsite combined heat and power 

generation. This process helps lower energy costs for the District by, on average, $53,000 over a 

12-month period52, as well as furthering the District’s environmental goals by increasing the 

amount of its operation that is powered by renewable energy. 

 

The District’s sewer service rates were last adjusted in FY 2023/24 following a rate review by an 

independent consultant and a full Prop 218 process.   The increase from FY 2022/23 to 2023/24 

was a total of 11% and raised the annual sewer service charge for a single-family home to 

$1,233.  This rate is scheduled to increase by 10% annually for each of the following three fiscal 

years, through FY 2026/27.  The approved rate schedule supports the District’s operations and 

maintenance as well as a robust capital improvement program.  The District operates on a 7-year 

capital improvement program, with the current iteration spanning FY 2024/25 through FY 

2030/31.  As it currently stands, the total amount forecasted for projects within the capital 

improvement program is $172,611,432.53 

   

Over the course of the past five years of publicly available data (2018-2022), the District has 

experienced 12 sanitary sewer overflows54 totaling approximately 35,604 gallons.   

 

Recycled Water 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has played a part in the distribution of recycled water in 

Marin County since 1977, when the District leased land to the Marin Municipal Water District 

(MMWD) for the construction of Marin County’s first recycled water treatment facility.  This 

facility would receive a significant upgrade in 1998 that expanded its capacity from producing 

1.0 to 2.0 million gallons daily.  On April 1, 2017, LGVSD entered into an agreement with 

MMWD to decommission MMWD’s older facility and partner in the construction of a new 

recycled water treatment facility.  The current agreement between the two agencies grants 

MMWD access to 1.87 million gallons per day of recycled water through 2047.  The 

decommissioning of the plant and construction of the new plant caused the non-potable recycled 

water distribution to be interrupted in 2019 and 2020, however, during this time the water 

demands by the recycled water system were met with potable water.  The upgraded plant has a 

treatment capacity of approximately 5 million gallons daily.  This recycled water service is 

confined to the Terra Linda, Marinwood, Smith Ranch, Santa Venetia, and Marin County Civic 

 
52 California Energy Commission Final Project Report 
53 LGVSD Adopted Budget Book FY 2024/25; Pg 30 
54 LGVSD ACFR 2023; Pg 70 

https://www.energy.ca.gov/sites/default/files/2024-05/CEC-500-2024-050.pdf
https://www.lgvsd.org/files/9e1ed1f6c/LGVSD+Adopted+Budget+Book+FY+2024-2025.pdf
https://www.lgvsd.org/files/edb34f485/LGVSD+ACFR+2023+-+FINAL.pdf


 

Marin LAFCo  76 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Center areas.  The water is distributed by way of three pump stations at Freitas Parkway, 

Channing Way, and Quail Hill through approximately 25 miles of pipeline.  The treatment 

facility operates seven months per year on average during the dryer seasons to coincide with the 

seasonal demand for recycled water.  In FY 2023, LGVSD provided recycled water for 218 

MMWD service connections, for a total average of approximately 638 acre-feet annually. 

 

In 2012, LGVSD completed the construction of a purple pipeline approximately 2.5 miles long 

to distribute recycled water to the community of Novato.  In partnership with the North Marin 

Water District (NMWD), LGVSD provides recycled water for irrigation to the Hamilton Field 

area of southern Novato.  In FY 2022/23, the District produced 43.25 million gallons to NMWD. 

 

In 2023, LGVSD was named California’s “Recycled Water Agency of the Year” by the 

California WateReuse Association. 

 

Solid Waste 
Since 1955, LGVSD has provided solid waste (garbage/refuse/recycling) services through 

contract with the District’s franchise service provider, Marin Sanitary Service, to the entire North 

San Rafael area within the District’s boundaries.  In April 2004, the City of San Rafael Acted to 

assume responsibility for the collection of all refuse within the city boundaries including north 

San Rafael in order for the entire city to pay the same rates and receive the same level of service.  

The City’s action was also intended to equalize franchise fees paid by private waste haulers for 

the maintenance of streets throughout the City.  Following this action and continuing today, 

LGVSD provides solid waste removal services to the unincorporated areas within its 

jurisdictional boundaries.  As of January 1, 2023, residential customers pay a monthly service fee 

of $43.93 for a 32-gallon cart. 

12.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 
 

Board of Directors 
The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District receives oversight and policy direction by way of a 

five-member Board of Directors that is elected to staggered four-year terms by way of at-large 

elections within the service boundary.  All directors are required to be registered voters residing 

within the District’s jurisdictional boundary.  Based on data provided by the County Department 

of Elections which span from 1972 to 2022, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District had 19 election 

cycles during that timeframe in which a formal election process was necessitated, 9 seats were 

appointed in lieu of an election, and the District’s Board necessitated zero appointments to seats 

on the Board by the Marin County Board of Supervisors. 

 

 



 

Marin LAFCo  77 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

Table 12- 2: Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Board of Directors 

Member Position Term Expiration 

Craig Murray President December 2024 

Gary Robards Vice-President December 2024 

Crystal Yezman Director December 2026 

Megan Clark Director December 2026 

Barry Nitzberg Director December 2024 

 

Administration 
The Board of Directors of Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District appoints the District’s General 

Manager who leads and manages the District’s day-to-day operations.  The General Manager for 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District is full-time and manages the other 31 FTE employees 

employed by the District.     

12.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District maintains a high level of accountability and 

transparency in all its activities.  The District website provides documentation on board meeting 

agendas and minutes as well as financial reports, services, studies, sewer system management 

plan, permitting, contracts, and more.   

Meeting and Agendas 

The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Board of Directors meets regularly on the 1st and 3rd 

Thursday of each month at 4:00 p.m. in the District Administrative Office at 101 Lucas Valley 

Road, Suite 300 in San Rafael.  Special meetings are held as needed to go over specific topics.  

Meeting agendas and minutes can be found on the District’s website. 

Annual Budget Review 
The District’s budget, typically adopted no later than the June Board meeting each year, provides 

overall control of revenue and expenditures including appropriations on a line-item basis and the 

means of financing them.  The annual budget proposal is prepared by the General Manager and 

Administrative Services Manager.  The Administrative Services Manager presents financial 

reports to the Board every quarter to ensure budgetary compliance.   

12.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
Over the course of the study window (past 5 fiscal years of available audited financials), Las 

Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has maintained increases in total net position each year, with a 

total increase in net position during that time of just over 30%, indicating a consistent addition 

by the District to its asset base and concerted effort at a reduction in liabilities.  Simultaneously, 

the District has seen a fluctuation in unrestricted net position that has ultimately resulted in a 

total increase over the 5 years of approximately 9%.  The District’s total annual operating 

lgvsd.org
https://www.lgvsd.org/board-meetings


 

Marin LAFCo  78 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

revenues55 have outpaced operating expenditures in each of the five fiscal years by an annual 

average of 13.8%.  These excess funds are primarily allocated toward the District’s capital 

improvement projects and maintaining the District’s target reserves. The average annual 

operating revenues for the District over the 5-year period were $15,590,930, with a total increase 

of just over 21% in that span.  Overall, LGVSD demonstrates strong financial health over the 

study window.  The consistent growth in net position, steady increase in revenues outpacing 

expenses, decreasing debt ratio, and significant investment in capital assets all point to a well-

managed and financially sound organization.  The District appears to be balancing the need for 

infrastructure investment with maintaining financial stability and flexibility. 

The primary revenue sources for the District are sewer use charges (89%) and property taxes 

(8%) with franchise fees, recycled water fees, and interest income supplementing the majority of 

the remaining 3% annually.  The primary annual operating expenses for Las Gallinas Valley 

Sanitary District are sewage treatment (27%), sewage collection and pump stations (20%), and 

general and administrative (17%), and depreciation56 (25%).     

Debt 
As of June 30, 2023, LGVSD carried a total long-term debt amount of $51,766,054 with a debt 

ratio of 0.36.  Below is a description of the borrowings comprising that amount as of June 30, 

2023: 

• Loan Payable 2011 – $2,279,755 

• State Revolving Fund Loan 2012 - $2,254,080 

• Loan Payable 2019 – $10,623,025 

• Revenue Bonds 2005 – $2,068,800 

• Revenue Bonds 2017 – $32,265,000 

The District also provides a pension plan for employees and is part of the California Public 

Employees Retirement System (CalPERS).  CalPERS provides retirement, disability, and death 

benefits based on the employee’s years of service, age, and final compensation.  As of June 30, 

2023, the District’s Unfunded Actuarial Liability was $5,412,284.  As of the most recent 

CalPERS actuarial Valuation on June 30, 2023, the District’s pension-funded ratio was 71.8% In 

addition to the pension plan, the District provides other post-employment benefits (OPEB) to its 

retirees.  As of June 30, 2023, the District carried a net OPEB liability of $899,028.  A 

 
55 As the District views its operating purpose is to provide wastewater collection and treatment services that are 
funded by sewer service charges, property tax and franchise fees are classified as nonoperating within the 
District’s accounting policies. 
56 Depreciation is shown as an operating expense in the financial statements in step with generally accepted 
governmental accounting standards, and as such impacts - and often negatively - gross profit or total margin.  
Depreciation takes into account the wear and tear on physical infrastructure, such as sewer lines, pumps, and 
other capital equipment.  Government accounting standards direct agencies to spread out the costs of replacing 
these assets over the long term, which generates the term depreciation or amortization.  The “charge” for using 
these assets during the period is a fraction of the original cost of the assets based on the expected life of the assets 
and presumably is rolled into the agencies’ fund balance at the end of the fiscal year and as part of the restricted 
reserve. 



 

Marin LAFCo  79 Central Marin Wastewater Study  

Public Draft  December 2024 

breakdown of the past 5 years of operational revenues and expenses can be seen below in Table 

12-3. 

 

Table 12- 3: Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Financial Information 

 

 

Financial Audit 
The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District annually has its financial statements audited and 

contracts with an outside certified public accounting firm, Nigro &Nigro.  The most recent 

audited financial statement was prepared for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. 

 

Operating 

Revenue 

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 Averages 

Sewer Use 

Charges 

$14,228,877 14,831,995 $15,284,365 $15,491,846 $16,999,751 $15,3367,367.00 

Recycled 

Water Fees 

$63,463 $67,288 $123,155 $27,345 $127,742 $81,798.60 

Other $42,905 $65,401 $614,272 $6,175 $67,675 $159,286.40 

Total $14,335,245.00 $14,964,684.00 $16,021,792.00 $15,525,366.00 $17,195,168.00 $15,608,451.00 

Operating 

Expenses 

FY 2018-19 FY 2019-20 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 Average 

Sewage 

Collection and 

Pump Stations 

$1,162,234 $1,272,839 $1,570,736 $1,941,906 $2,741,055 $1,737,754.00 

Sewage 

Treatment 

$1,934,173 $4,269,850 $2,865,940 $3,211,152 $3,671,060 $3,190,435.00 

Sewage and 

Solid Waste 

Disposal 

$197,680 $616,172 $506,939 $435,226 $712,974 $493,798.20 

Laboratory $318,732 $359,635 $498,183 $506,403 $534,204 $443,431.40 

Engineering $469,826 $616,435 $874,206 $982,986 $937,443 $776,179.20 

Recycled 

Water 

$181,058 $115,532 $106,416 $62,460 $102,306 $113,554.40 

General and 

Administrative 

$1,773,711 $2,890,950 $2,582,892 $2,898,595 $2,290,957 $2,487,421.00 

Depreciation $2,654,616 $2,896,926 $3,044,656 $3,127,040 $3,619,251 $3,068,497.80 

Totals $8,692,030.00 $13,038,339.00 $12,049,968.00 $13,165,768.00 $14,609,250.00 $12,311,071.00 



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   

 

m 

Barbara Coler, Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Vacant, Alternate  
City/Town 

 

Lew Kious, Regular 
Almonte Sanitary District 
 

Craig Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

Cathryn Hilliard, Alternate 
Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

Larry Chu, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Roger Smith, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Vice-Chair  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  

County of Marin 

 

 

         AGENDA 

REPORT  

December 12, 2024 

Executive Officer Report – Section A 

TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 

 

FROM: Jason Fried, Executive Officer    

SUBJECT: Budget Update for FY 2024-2025 

 

Background  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) adopted a budget for FY 2024-2025 

totaling $668,227.00.  From July 1, 2024, through November 30, 2024, LAFCo has spent 

$226,706.25.  This report covers 5 months, which is about 42% of the year.  At this point we 

have already spent 33.9% of our budget this year.  You will note two line items are higher 

than the expected amount for where we are for being three months into the new FY.  Two line 

items, Membership and Dues (30) and General Insurance (15), consist of bills that have large 

sums that get paid at the start of the fiscal year in the case of line item 15 and are mostly paid 

for in the case of line item 30.   

 

All agency contributions have now been collected by the County.  Staff does note that 

Quickbooks is currently showing we are still $647.20 short on what was collected.  Staff will 

work with our bookkeeper and County staff to determine where that amount is.    

      

 

Attachment:   

1. FY 2024-2025 Budget Reports 

 

 



Jul '24 - Jun 25 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

410 · Prior Year Carryover 0.00 80,500.00 -80,500.00 0.0%
400 · Agency Contributions 587,079.80 587,727.00 -647.20 99.9%

Total Income 587,079.80 668,227.00 -81,147.20 87.9%

Expense
Services and Supplies

05 · Commissioner Per Diems 2,844.94 10,000.00 -7,155.06 28.4%
10 · Conferences 2,007.11 11,000.00 -8,992.89 18.2%
15 · General Insurance 6,118.24 6,500.00 -381.76 94.1%
20 · IT & Communications Services 5,853.98 23,000.00 -17,146.02 25.5%
25 · Legal Services 5,975.20 37,500.00 -31,524.80 15.9%
30 · Memberships & Dues 7,168.00 8,500.00 -1,332.00 84.3%
35 · Misc Services 843.02 3,000.00 -2,156.98 28.1%
40 · Office Equipment Purchases 0.00 4,139.00 -4,139.00 0.0%
45 · Office Lease/Rent 15,370.00 36,888.00 -21,518.00 41.7%
50 · Office Supplies & Postage 748.06 4,000.00 -3,251.94 18.7%
55 · Professional Services 10,994.50 32,000.00 -21,005.50 34.4%
60 · Publications/Notices 0.00 2,000.00 -2,000.00 0.0%
70 · Training 0.00 1,700.00 -1,700.00 0.0%
75 · Travel - Mileage 0.00 3,500.00 -3,500.00 0.0%

Total Services and Supplies 57,923.05 183,727.00 -125,803.95 31.5%

Salary and Benefit Costs
100 · Salaries 138,321.17 387,000.00 -248,678.83 35.7%

120 · County of Marin - Group Health 11,287.00 38,000.00 -26,713.00 29.7%

130 · MCERA / Pension 19,175.03 53,500.00 -34,324.97 35.8%

140 · Retiree Health 0.00 6,000.00 -6,000.00 0.0%

Total Salary and Benefit Costs 168,783.20 484,500.00 -315,716.80 34.8%

Total Expense 226,706.25 668,227.00 -441,520.75 33.9%

Net Ordinary Income 360,373.55 0.00 360,373.55 100.0%

Other Income/Expense
Other Income

900 · Interest Earnings 5,990.65
910 · Fees for Services 12,395.46

Total Other Income 18,386.11

Net Other Income 18,386.11

Net Income 378,759.66 0.00 378,759.66 100.0%

1:00 PM Marin Local Agency Formation Commission
11/26/24 FY25 BUDGET REPORT
Accrual Basis July 2024 through June 2025

Page 1



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   

 

m 

Barbara Coler, Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Vacant, Alternate  
City/Town 

 

Lew Kious, Regular 
Almonte Sanitary District 
 

Craig Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

Cathryn Hilliard, Alternate 
Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

Larry Chu, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Roger Smith, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Vice-Chair  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  

County of Marin 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT  

December 12th, 2024 

EO Item B (EO Report) 

 

TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 

FROM: Claire Devereux, Clerk/Jr. Policy Analyst   

SUBJECT: Current and Pending Proposals 

 

Background  

 

The Commission is invited to discuss the item and provide direction to staff on any related 

matter as needed for future discussion and/or action. 

 

File #1386 – This application was heard on today’s agenda please reference item 4. 

 

File #1387 – This application was heard on today’s agenda please reference item 5. 

 

File #1388 – This application will be on February’s Agenda as we await needed changes to the 

map and legal descriptions. 

 

 

The following applications are still pending, and we are awaiting an update to the SOI that 

will take place in the upcoming MSR. 

 

File 1378 through file 1381 were created on July 1st, 2024.  These applications are part of a bigger 

boundary correction project with Sanitary District 2. Please see Items 4 through 7. 

 

 
Attachment 

1. Chart of Current and Pending Proposals 

 

 

 



Current and Pending Proposals

LAFCo File # Status Proposal Description Government Agency Latest Update

1386 Processing Annexation of 335 Highland Ave. into 

San Rafael Sanitary District

Landowner (Ronald Lamson) requesting approval to annex one parcel, 

approximately .97 acres, so they can get off septic and onto the sewer. The 

parcel has a situes address of 335 Highland Ave. and APN: 15-241-12

San Rafael Sanitary On todays agenda. See item 4.

1387 Processing Annexation of 260 Highland Ave. into 

San Rafael Sanitary District

Landowner (Margreat Piersol) requesting approval to annex one parcel, 

approximately 1.49 acres, so they can get off septic and onto the sewer. The 

parcel has a situes address of 260 Highland Ave. and APN: 016- 021-64 

San Rafael Sanitary On todays agenda. See item 5.

1388 Processing Annexation of the State of California 

Firing Range into Ross Valley Sanitary 

District

The State of California is request approval to annex one parcel, approximately 

____ acres, so they can get off septic and onto the sewer. The parcel has no 

situes address but on APN of 018-152-12

Ross Valley Sanitary 

District

Awaiting updates to map and legal

1382 Pending Reorganization of Redwood Highschool 

and Adjacent Parcels

Agency (Sanitary District 2) requesting approval to reorganize parcels 

including Redwood Highschool and seveveral adjacent parcels, so they can be 

placed into the correct district boundaries. 

Sanitary District 2 

and Ross Valley 

Sanitary District

Will be on February or April 

Agenda conditional on Completion 

of the next MSR and SOI Update

1381 Pending Reorganization of 7 Sunrise, Larkspur 

from Ross Valley Sanitary District and 

into Sanitary District 2.

Agency (Sanitary District 2) requesting approval to reorganize one parcel of 

approximately .26 acres, so they can be placed into the correct district 

boundaries. The application has a situs address of 7 Sunrise Ln and APN 021-

154-08.

Sanitary District 2 

and Ross Valley 

Sanitary District

Will be on February or April 

Agenda conditional on Completion 

of the next MSR and SOI Update

1380 Pending Annexation of 5124 Paradise Dr, Corte 

Madera, 5044 Paradise Dr. and 4985 

Ranch Rd, Tiburon into Sanitary 

District 2.

Agency (Sanitary District 2) requesting approval to annex three parcels of 

approximately 3.09 acres, so they can be placed into the correct district 

boundaries. The application has a situs address of 5124 Paradise Dr, 5124 

Paradise Dr. and 4985 Ranch Rd. with APN's 026-231-53, 038-022-63, 038-

022-67, 038-022-68, 038-022-69, 038-022-70, 038-052-02

Sanitary District 2 Will be on February or April 

Agenda conditional on Completion 

of the next MSR and SOI Update

1379 Pending Reorganization of 90 Edison 127 

Pepper Ave from Sanitary District 2 to 

Ross Valley SD and Annexation of 100 

Edison into Ross Valley SD

Agency (Sanitary District 2) requesting approval to reorganize three parcels of 

approximately 2.94 acres, so they can be placed into the correct district 

boundaries. The application has situs addresses of 90 & 100 Edison and 127 

Pepper Ave with APN's 025-011-33, 021-142-50, and 021-231-21 

Sanitary District 2 

and Ross Valley 

Sanitary District.

Will be on February or April 

Agenda conditional on Completion 

of the next MSR and SOI Update

1378 Pending Reorganization of 115,119,121 & 123 

Elm Ave, Larkspur from Sanitary 

District 2 into Ross Valley Sanitary 

District.

Agency (Sanitary District 2) requesting approval to reorganize three parcels of 

approximately 1.967 acres, so they can be placed into the correct district 

boundaries. The application has situs addresses of115,119,121 & 123 Elm Ave, 

Larkspur with APN'024-062-47, 024-062-51, 024-062-53, 024-062-52.

Sanitary District 2 

and Ross Valley 

Sanitary District.

Will be on February or April 

Agenda conditional on Completion 

of the next MSR and SOI Update

1383 Approved Out of Service Agreement between 

Tamalpais CSD, Homestead Valley SD 

and Almonte SD.

Tamalpais CSD is requesting approval of an Out of Service Agreement 

between Homestead Valley SD and Almonte SD to allow them to provide 

sanitary services to several parcels within Tam CSD's boundaries. 

Tamalpais CSD, 

Homestead Valley SD 

and Almonte SD

Approved by Executive Officer 

based on Government Code section 

56133(e) (1). EO Approved on 

8/5/2024

1384 Approved Annexation of 2 Hansen Rd. to Novato 

Sanitary District

Landowner (Annie Ernst) requesting approval to annex one parcel, 

approximately .403 acres, so they can obtain permanent connection after 

receiving an emergency OSA earlier this year. The parcel has a situes address 

of 2 Hansen Rd. and APN: 146-061-14.

Novato Sanitary 

District

Approved on 8/8/24

1385 Approved Out of Service Agreement between 

Inverness Public Utility District (IPUD) 

and North Marin Water District 

(NMWD)

On September 11th, 2024, NMWD and IPUD jointly submitted an OSA in 

which water services will be provided by IPUD within the boundaries of 

NMWD,

Inverness Public 

Utility District and 

North Marin Water 

District

Approved by Executive Officer 

based on Government Code section 

56133(e) (1). EO Approved on 

9/24/2024



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   

 

m 

Barbara Coler, Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Vacant, Alternate  
City/Town 

 

Lew Kious, Regular 
Almonte Sanitary District 
 

Craig Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

Cathryn Hilliard, Alternate 
Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

Larry Chu, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Roger Smith, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Vice-Chair  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  

County of Marin 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT  

December 12th, 2024 

Executive Officer Report C 

 

TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 

 

FROM: Jason Fried, Executive Officer 

Jeren Batchelder-Seibel, Deputy Executive Officer 

Claire Devereux, Clerk/Jr. Policy Analyst 

   

SUBJECT: Marin LAFCo Work Plan 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Background  

 

The Commission is invited to discuss the item and provide direction to staff on any related 

matter as needed for future discussion and/or action. 

 

Updates from the last meeting are highlighted in Orange.  

 

The following significant changes were made to the chart:   

 

1. Staff has now released for bid an RFP to help all parties understand the issue that needs to 

be reviewed for an annexation of the City of Belvedere into Tiburon Fire Protection 

District.  

2. Now that we have a better understanding of what is occurring and after discussion with our 

Legal Counsel it was determined that the transfer of the City of Sausalito wastewater 

collection system to Sausalito Marin City SD does not necessarily need to get LAFCo 

approval.  Staff has moved this item to completed.  Staff will always make themselves 

available to member agencies to answer any questions they have but at this time will not 

be working on this any further. 

3. LAFCo and NMWD held their first meeting with the City of Petaluma.  The City has an 

Urban Growth Boundary that limits what services it can provide outside its boundaries.  

Staff, NMWD, and the City are working to address those issues first to make sure a transfer 

can occur.      

4. As is reported earlier in the agenda, the Central Marin Wastewater Study public draft was 

released on Wednesday, November 27th.  Public comment will remain open until mid-

January.  In preparation for the start of the next round of MSRs, a letter has been sent to all 

LAFCo agencies outlining the agency groupings and order of the next round of studies.   

 
Attachment 

1. Marin LAFCo Work Plan 



Central Marin Wastewater Study Jeren MSR for agencies of CMSA, LGVSD, and SQVSMD. Public draft released on Wednesday, November 27th.

Next Round of MSR Jeren The Central Marin Wastewater Study is the final MSR in the current round and 
staff has been honing a plan for what the content and document structure for 
the next round of MSRs should look like in order to continue to produce 
digestible studies that both meet the requirements of state government code 
as well as  providing the residents and agencies within Marin County with 
useful information.

Letter sent to all LAFCo agencies outlining the agency groupings 
within each of the next round of MSRs.

Countywide Fire Study Jeren/Claire Perform a phased review of fire services in Marin County.  Based on commission approval staff has now started researching 
and writing the report. Claire has rough drafts for approximately 
10 fire agencies and an additional overview section in the works.

Large Scale GIS Topology Fix Jeren/Claire Over the course of the past couple of decades, adjustments to GIS mapping 
layers for multiple jurisdictional boundaries has created thousands of 
topological inconsistencies within those mapping layers.  These 
inconsistencies have led to some ambiguities on jurisdictional boundaries 
throughout the county and with the upcoming election, correcting these 
inconsistencies has become a priority for Marin County.  Staff is working 
collaboratively with with County of Marin GIS specialists to correct 
approximately 16,000 topological issues within 19 jurisdictions and, in the 
process, ensuring that both Marin LAFCo and Marin County present the same 
data sets to the public upon completion. 

As County staff continues to make topology edits, those edits are 
submitted to Marin LAFCo staff and reviewed by staff and Marin 
LAFCo's GIS consultant.  Targeting half of LAFCo agency 
boundaries to be completed by year's end.

Property Tax Review For Special 
Districts

Jason/Claire This is a low level item for staff to work on.  Currently when parcels are 
annexed into a district they get zero of the current ad valorem so staff will 
research if there are options, without changing the Master Tax Exchange 
Agreement, for district to get additional revenue to cover the cost of service 
that they get from current parcels from the 1% ad valorem.

Staff has started some early research on this, based on other 
items this may get completed in 2025.

Marin RCD and Stinson Beach 
Fire boundaries

Jason As noted in West Marin MSR both agencies want to look at their current 
boundaries and make some adjustments.

Staff will work with both agencies in helping them with any 
changes they look to do.

Digital Library Claire Staff has learned how to make current documents ADA compliant and is 
looking to add more information to the website for applications and 
resolutions to make it easier for the public to access documents from us.

Working on as time permits. Currently working on remediating 
documents already posted on the website (i.e. minutes, agendas 
and packets). Between the June and August meeting streamline 
has introduced a remediation checking feature, this brough to 
light many small errors within remediated documents and un-
remediated documents. With this new feature Claire has been 
going back fixing remediated documents to ensure they are fully 
compliant.

Staff currently working on



Strawberry Recreation District 
Reorganization of Dredging 
Services

Jason Staff identified in Tiburon Peninsula MSR that SRD has dredging services that 
are an activity that State Government Code does not explicitly give to a 
recreation district.  SRD and the County, with LAFCo help, are working to see if 
a CSA can be created to cover those services.

Unfortunately the County has informed LAFCo that it is no 
longer willing to help create a CSA to take these responsibilities 
over for SRD.  Staff will need to do some research to see what 
other options may be available to solve this issue. 

Tiburon Fire Protection District 
OSA with Belvedere

Jason As identified in the Tiburon Peninsula MSR, the City of Belvedere currently has 
an OSA with the TFPD to cover services.  In the MSR staff suggests that TFPD 
boundaries should be extended to cover Belvedere.

RFP is out for bid.  The RFP committee should be making a 
recommendation for consulant in January.  That 
recommendation will be presented to the Commission in 
Febuary.

NMWD Boundary Changes Jason In the Multiple Region MSR it was identified that IPUD customers were never 
removed from NMWD jurisdiction when IPUD took over water service from a 
private water company.  The goal is to remove IPUD from the boundary of 
NMWD.  In addition there are several parcels in the Marshal area that are 
within NMWD boundary but have no connections into the NMWD boundary.  
NMWD is asking to remove those parcels from it boundary.

NMWD has indicated it should be submitting an application in 
early 2025.

NMWD OSA Review Jason NMWD back in the late 1970's through the 1980's requested and received 
approval for Out of Service Agreements for several parcels in Sonoma County 
that were too far removed from NMWD boundary to be annexed into the 
district so LAFCo gave approval for OSAs to NMWD to service the properties 
since the main water line that brings water to the district passed by these 
parcels.  Since then the City of Petaluma water system has expanded and is 
now near some of these parcels.  NMWD and Marin LAFCo want to see if given 
the expansion of the Petaluma system since these approvals were given if it 
makes more sense now for the City to take on some of these customers. 

Staff and NMWD has met with the City of Petaluma staff.  Some 
items were identifited for review.  All side agreed to meet again 
in January or Feburary to discuss what came from the items 
needing review.

Ross Valley Fire  Jason As identified in the Upper Ross Valley MSR currently fire services are provided 
by a JPA in the region.  There is a desire to see if there is a different model that 
would work for the area.

Staff is ready and able to assist if requested by them.

Flood Zone 10 Jason When doing the West Marin MSR it was noted that FZ10 was created to deal 
with an event that occurred in the area.  It was given a pot of funds that are 
mostly spent.  As noted in the MSR the zone does not have a funding source so  
the Flood District, with help form its CAB, should determine if there is work 
that the local community is willing to fund. 

Staff has been asked to attend meeting and help advise on best 
practices for changing boundaries.

Flood Zone 3 Jason As noted in Golden Gate MSR there are some issues within the FZ.  While not 
directly LAFCo related staff may be needed to help be a neutral advisor on 
dealing with these issues.

Staff will monitor this issue as it moves through review process 
and will assist as requested. 

Countywide Police Study TBD TBD Once fire study is complete this will be revisited

Items being monitored by LAFCo staff but not currently working on or Items waiting for something else to occur first



Boundary Fixes Jason/Claire Staff has been working with SD2 around fixing issues with its boundary where 
parcels that are receiving services from them but not currently in the district.  
We should be getting a formal application about this in early 2024.  As that 
process wraps up staff will be reaching out to other agencies to work with 
them on seeing if they have boundary issues as well.

We have the needed information but need to wait for the 
current Central Marin Wastewater MSR to be completed so we 
can fix the SOI in the area. 

Dillon Beach Sewer Jason Staff has been invited by both the County and NMWD to advise on the possible 
creation of a new  sewer system for the residents of Dillon Beach Village which 
would require annexation of the area into NMWD

Early planning meetings are occurring and staff is attending as 
needed.  Receiving additional analysis during multi-regional 
MSR.

San Rafael Sanitary District Jason SRSD is currently looking at other staffing models that would have them 
possibly lead to another agency overseeing its day to day operations with a 
possible long term goal of consolidation of itself with another agency.

Staff attended the July CMSA meeting to address an intertest by 
one of its members agency on LAFCo ability to do review of 
staffing issues.  Staff will attend any future meeting as requested 
by our member agencies.

Paradise Drive n/a As identified in the Tiburon Peninsula MSR, Paradise Drive goes through areas 
that are both incorporated and unincorporated as multiple unincorporated 
islands exist along it.  The road itself does not reflect the parcels around it as far 
as which jurisdiction it is in.

Not currently working on

SQVSMD consolidation with 
RVSD

n/a Based on the Central Marin Wastewater MSR, work with district staff on the 
possibility of consolidating services with RVSD.

Not currently working on

San Rafael Area Fire Working 
group

n/a Based on San Rafael Area MSR the concept of merging fire services was 
mentioned.  This working group will determine if it is possible and in the best 
interest of the public and all agencies providing services.

Not currently working on

Angel Island Fire Service n/a There are two different, but similar, issues around fire services.  One is, while 
Angel Island falls into CSA 31 service area, Tiburon FPD actually provides those 
services but does not get reimbursed for those services.  Second is the Town of 
Tiburon pays to the State Parks an annual fee to cover fire protection cost but 
the Town offers no fire protection services. 

Not currently working on

Unincorporated Islands n/a Work to remove unincorporated islands throughout Marin County Not currently working on

Future Shared Staffing between 
the 4 single-service SASM 
districts

n/a Facilitate shared services discussions amongst the 4 single-service SASM special 
districts in preparation for possible future opportunities when current 
management level staff members depart.

Not currently working on

OSA Confirmation between 
TCSD, HVSD, and ASD

Jeren/Jason Work with Tamalpais CSD to retrieve necessary documentation on parcels 
within its district receiving service from HVSD and Almonte showing the 
needed criteria for exemption from an outside service agreement.

Tamalpais CSD  has submitted the needed information and based 
on LAFCo Policy 4.9 (B) the Executive Officer has determined this 
item falls under 56133(e) which allows for this OSA to occur.

Items that had been worked on where staff has stopped work because they are not likely to happen at this time.

Items Completed



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   

 

m 

Barbara Coler, Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Vacant, Alternate  
City/Town 

 

Lew Kious, Regular 
Almonte Sanitary District 
 

Craig Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

Cathryn Hilliard, Alternate 
Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

Larry Chu, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Roger Smith, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Vice-Chair  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  

County of Marin 

 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT  

December 12th, 2024 

Executive Officer Report D 

 

TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 

 

FROM: Jason Fried, Executive Officer 

   

SUBJECT: CALAFCO Update 

 

Background  

 

Normally this report will be a quick verbal report but since the last meeting both San Diego and Orange 

County LAFCo each sent letters to CALAFCO stating that they are looking to leave CALAFCO.  San 

Bernardino LAFCo has also sent a letter stating they will be leaving CALAFCO.  Staff is currently talking 

with other LAFCos about this and will report out at the meeting any information it finds out.  There is a 

CALAFCO board meeting currently scheduled in January that staff will attend.  Staff will report out at the 

February Commission meeting what occurred along with any staff suggestions for possible next steps as it 

pertains to CALAFCO.  

 

In addition, in October CALAFCO had its annual conference and staff will report to the Commission of 

the larger items from the meeting. 

 

 

No formal action is needed. 

 

 

Attachment: 

1. Letters from San Diego, Orange County, and San Bernardino LAFCo to CALAFCO 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
      
     
     
     

 
 
 

 
 

Administration 
Keene Simonds, Executive Officer 
2550 Fifth Avenue, Suite 725 
San Diego, California 92103 
T  619.321.3380 
E lafco@sdcounty.ca.gov 
www.sdlafco.org  
 

Joel Anderson 
County of San Diego 
 

Jim Desmond 
County of San Diego  
 

Nora Vargas, Alt. 
County of San Diego   

 

San Diego County  
Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

Vice Chair Barry Willis  
Alpine Fire Protection  
 

Jo MacKenzie  
Vista Irrigation  
 

   David Drake, Alt. 
   Rincon del Diablo 

 

Kristi Becker 
City of Solana Beach 
 

Dane White 
City of Escondido  
 

John McCann Alt.  
City of Chula Vista  
 

Harry Mathis  
General Public  
 

Brigette Browning, Alt.  
General Public  
 
 

Chair Stephen Whitburn 
City of San Diego  
 

Marni von Wilpert, Alt.  
City of San Diego  
 

 
 
 
 
 

October 22, 2024 
 
 
Delivered by Electronic Mail  
René LaRoche, Executive Director 
California Association of LAFCOs 
rlaroche@calafco.org  
 
 
SUBJECT:  FY26 CALAFCO Dues and Related Concerns  
 
 
Dear René: 
 
This letter serves as a courtesy to advise San Diego LAFCO will revisit its membership status 
with CALAFCO as part of the upcoming 2025-2026 budget process.  San Diego remains 
committed to CALAFCO’s mission “to promote efficient and sustainable government 
services based on local community values through legislative advocacy and education.”  San 
Diego – however – is respectfully concerned with CALAFCO’s direction and recent decisions 
that seemingly deprioritize – directly and indirectly – these core mission values.  Examples 
include the unknown scale and influence of outside parties (consultants and attorneys) in 
CALAFCO decision-making as well as the insulated process leading to the elimination of 
the Legislative Committee.   The deemphasis of the CALAFCO Executive Officer position 
and the related dismissal of the practitioner perspective in the Board’s decision-making 
process is equally concerning.  It is our understanding the CALAFCO Board will hold a 
strategic planning retreat in early 2025.   We hope the retreat is scheduled (location and 
time) and noticed to maximize all 58 LAFCOs’ ability to participate – including allowance for 
video attendance – and the above concerns are discussed in some meaningful way.    
 
Sincerely,  

 
 
 
 
 

Keene Simonds  
Executive Officer 
 
cc:   Commissioners 

Priscilla Mumpower, Assistant Executive Officer 
       Steve Lucas, CALAFCO Executive Officer  

mailto:rlaroche@calafco.org


 

Orange County Local Agency Formation Commission | oclafco.org 

 

REGULAR MEMBERS 
 

CHAIR 

Donald P. Wagner 
County Member 
 

VICE CHAIR 

Wendy Bucknum 
City Member 

 

IMMEDIATE PAST CHAIR 

Douglass Davert  
Special District Member 
 

James Fisler 
Special District Member 
 

Derek J. McGregor 
Public Member 
 

Bruce Whitaker 
City Member 
 

VACANT 
County Member 
 
 

ALTERNATES 
 

Kathryn Freshley 
Special District Member 
 

Carol Moore 
City Member 
 

Lou Penrose 
Public Member 

 

VACANT 
County Member 
 
 

STAFF 
 

Carolyn Emery 
Executive Officer 

 

Scott Smith 
General Counsel 
 

2677 North Main Street | Suite 1050 
Santa Ana, CA  92705 

Phone: 714.640.5100 | Fax: 714.640.5139 

November 1, 2024 

 
Rene LaRoche, Executive Director 

California Association of LAFCOs 

Sent by email to:  rlaroche@calafco.org 
 

 

SUBJECT: Review of CALAFCO Membership Status for FY 25/26 

 
Dear Rene: 

 

This letter serves as a courtesy to inform that Orange County LAFCO will 
revisit its membership status with CALAFCO in part to our 2025-2026 budget 

process that begins mid-January 2025 and upcoming workshop and 

conference participation.  As a CALAFCO member for several decades, OC 

LAFCO acknowledges the importance of CALAFCO’s mission, particularly the 
value the association brings to the membership through legislative advocacy 

and education.  As these areas are central to our Commission’s interests and 

benefits as a member, OC LAFCO is respectfully concerned with the recent 
decision-making of the Board, along with the perceived organizational 

direction of CALAFCO.  Specific examples of our concern include the lack of 

transparency and membership engagement involving restructuring of the 

legislative platform, inconsistent and potentially disadvantageous actions 
relative to a legislative proposal vetted and approved through the process 

established by CALAFCO, and the seemingly prioritization of external group 

interests over LAFCO practitioners.  Additionally, and of equal concern for OC 

LAFCO, are the absence of collaboration amongst the Executive Officers and 
the CALAFCO Executive Director and the lack of responsiveness from the 

Executive Director to inquiries from OC LAFCO staff and Board Director 

McGregor.   
 

It is our hope that CALAFCO receives the concerns expressed herein with 

deliberate attention, and we further encourage the Board to have a 

meaningful discussion of these concerns at your next regular board meeting, 
followed by actions to address the current state of affairs. 

 

Sincerely, 
 

 

 

Carolyn Emery 
Executive Officer 

 
cc: Commissioners 
 CALAFCO Southern Region Board Members 
 Steve Lucas, CALAFCO Executive Officer 

mailto:rlaroche@calafco.org


LAFCO 

November 22, 2024 

Rene LaRoche, Executive Director 
CALAFCO 
1451 River Park Drive, Suite 185 
Sacramento, CA 95815-4520 

Dear Ms. LaRoche: 

This letter is to inform you that the Local Agency Formation 
Commission for San Bernardino County (San Bernardino LAFCO) is 
giving notice to CALAFCO that it will not be renewing its membership 
starting July 1, 2025. 

On November 20, 2024, San Bernardino LAFCO-by unanimous 
vote-decided not to renew its membership to CALAFCO starting 
Fiscal Year 2025-26. This notice is being provided now in order to 
inform CALAFCO of San Bernardino LAFCO's future non-payment of 
its required dues. 

Prior to July 1, 2025, as a current CALAFCO member in good 
standing, San Bernardino LAFCO intends to fully participate in 
CALAFCO Board of Directors meetings, its Legislative Committee 
meetings (if said Committee meetings will convene this fiscal year), 
and its upcoming 2025 Staff Workshop in Temecula. 

If you have any questions concerning the information outlined above, 
please do not hesitate to contact me at (909) 388-0480. 

Sincerely, 

Executive Officer 

cc: Gay Jones, Chair, CALAFCO Board 
Southern Region LAFCOs 

November 22, 2024

Ren￩ LaRoche, Executive Director CALAFCO  1451 
River Park Drive, Suite 185 Sacramento, CA 
95815-4520

Dear Ms. LaRoche:

This letter is to inform you that the Local Agency Formation Commission for San Bernardino County 
(San Bernardino LAFCO) is giving notice to CALAFCO that it will not be renewing its membership 
starting July 1, 2025.

On November 20, 2024, San Bernardino LAFCO�by unanimous vote�decided 
not to renew its membership to CALAFCO starting Fiscal Year 2025-26. 
This notice is being provided now in order to inform CALAFCO of San 
Bernardino LAFCO'�s future non-payment of its required dues.

Prior to July 1, 2025, as a current CALAFCO member in good standing, San Bernardino 
LAFCO intends to fully participate in CALAFCO Board of Directors 
meetings, its Legislative Committee meetings (if said Committee meetings 
will convene this fiscal year), and its upcoming 2025 Staff Workshop 
in Temecula.

If you have any questions concerning the information outlined above, please do 
not hesitate to contact me at (909) 388-0480.

Sincerely,

cc:  Gay Jones, Chair, CALAFCO 
Board Southern Region 
LAFCOs



 
  

 

Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
Regional Service Planning | Subdivision of the State of California 

  

Administrative Office 
Jason Fried, Executive Officer 
1401 Los Gamos Drive, Suite 220 
San Rafael, California 94903 
T:  415-448-5877   E: staff@marinlafco.org  
www.marinlafco.org   

 

m 

Barbara Coler, Chair 
Town of Fairfax  
 

Steve Burdo, Regular 
Town of San Anselmo 
 

Vacant, Alternate  
City/Town 

 

Lew Kious, Regular 
Almonte Sanitary District 
 

Craig Murray, Regular  
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

Cathryn Hilliard, Alternate 
Southern Marin Fire Protection District 

Larry Chu, Regular 
Public Member  
 

Roger Smith, Alternate 
Public Member 

 

Dennis Rodoni, Vice-Chair  
County of Marin  
 

Eric Lucan, Regular 
County of Marin  
 

Stephanie Moulton-Peters, Alternate  

County of Marin 

 

 

 

AGENDA REPORT  

December 12th, 2024 

Executive Officer Report E  

 

TO:  Local Agency Formation Commission 

 

FROM: Jason Fried, Executive Officer 

   

SUBJECT: Deputy Executive Officer Job Description  

 

Background  

 

In 2022 Jeren Batchelder-Seibel was promoted to Deputy Executive Officer. At the October meeting, it 

was mentioned that we have never formally done a Job Description for the DEO position. The 

Commission asked staff to correct this situation. Attached is the Job Description for the DEO position. The 

salary range represents the current position, but the staff intends to bring to the Commission an update to 

the salary schedule as part of next year’s budget process.  

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment: 

1. DEO Job Description 

 

 

 

 

 



Marin LAFCo Deputy Executive Officer 

 

SALARY RANGE 
$98,612.80-$137,945.85 Annually 

DEFINITION: 

Under the direction of the LAFCo Executive Officer, performs complex professional work in 
support of LAFCo’s statutory activities and on a variety of projects involving: research, 
data collection, and other related tasks in support of the Local Agency Formation 
Commission (LAFCo) of Marin County; responsible for a variety of specialized studies 

involving data collection and analysis, report preparation and public contact; administers and 
supervises day-to-day activities, duties, and responsibilities of LAFCo programs; and acts as the 
LAFCo Executive Officer in their absence or as otherwise directed. 

 

DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS: 

 

The LAFCo Deputy Executive Officer is a single-position management classification 

employee who performs all duties necessary for the proper and efficient management of LAFCo 

as determined by State Law, Marin LAFCo, and the Executive Officer.  In the absence of the 

Executive Officer, the Deputy Executive Officer acts as the acting Executive Officer. 

 

Responsibilities include developing and implementing policies and procedures for 

assigned programs, budget administration and reporting, and program evaluation. 

Incumbents serve as a professional-level resource for organizational, managerial, and 

operational analyses and studies. Performance of the work requires the use of 

considerable independence, initiative, and discretion within established guidelines. The 

incumbent possesses specialized knowledge, including urban and regional planning, land 

development, and environmental regulations. 

The LAFCo Deputy Executive Officer differs from the LAFCo Executive Officer as the LAFCo 

Executive Officer has overall responsibility for all functions and activities of the LAFCo 

program under policy direction from the Commission. 

 

TYPICAL TASKS: 

• Serves as assistant to the LAFCo Executive Officer and acts in place of the LAFCo 

Executive Officer in his or her absence. 

• Participate in the development and implementation of administrative functions including 

goals, budget, objectives, policies, fee schedules, and priorities for assigned programs; 

recommend and administer policies and procedures. 

• Ensures compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), 

reviews proposals for adequacy of environmental review documents; reviews and 

prepares comments on initial studies, negative declarations, and EIRs prepared 

by other agencies; conducts initial studies, prepares and supervises the preparation 

of negative declarations and other environmental documents where LAFCo is the Lead 

Agency. 

• Conducts analysis on a variety of special projects involving research, data 
collection, and other tasks related to the operation of Marin County LAFCo; 
performs a variety of responsible and specialized technical services involving 

administrative, planning, financial, legislative, and data analysis. 

• Manages and conducts special studies involving inter-jurisdictional or inter-agency 
coordination, most of which is of a complex, controversial, and politically sensitive 
nature. 

• Is responsible for the full scope of the research, analysis, writing, and presentation of 
Marin LAFCo’s municipal service reviews and sphere of influence updates. 



• Proofreads and edits all official Marin LAFCo documents. 

• Monitors and evaluates local agencies, their service capabilities, and proposals for 
changes of organization or jurisdictional boundaries. 

• Reviews and analyzes proposals filed with LAFCo, makes recommendations, and 
prepares and presents staff reports to Commission or LAFCo Executive Officer in written or 
oral form. 

• Researches, analyzes, and interprets information and data necessary to meet State 
law requirements and Marin County LAFCo policies and objectives. 

• Manages contracts and consultants related to special studies. 

• Performs routine and complex geographic information systems (GIS) research, analysis, and map 

creation.  Ensures that all GIS information related to Marin LAFCo is accurate and up to date. 

• Makes verbal presentations and manages public participation/outreach 
processes relating to pending LAFCo proposals, studies, policies, and 
procedures; Interprets and explains governmental regulations, policies, and 
procedures to the public, governmental agencies, subordinate staff, and 
consultants. 

• Executes the terms and conditions of LAFCo documents in accordance with 
determinations of LAFCo. 

• Assists with Administrative functions, including the development of LAFCo budget, fee 
schedules, surveys, policies, procedure manuals, accepting of applications, and 
notifications of public hearings. 

• Maintains, revises, and interprets the LAFCo policies, procedures, and maps. 

• Keeps abreast of new trends and developments related to LAFCo activities, rules, and 

regulations. 

• Reviews and researches legislative topics; advises management on the impact of 
new and proposed state and local legislation that pertains to LAFCo. 

• Acts as a liaison between the Commission, the public, other governmental 
agencies, and organizations. 

• Assists the Executive Officer in implementing Commission directions, policies, and 
procedures, and in developing, tracking, and managing the annual work program. 

• Assists the Executive Officer in the selection and hiring of staff and ensures the 
orientation, training, and development of program staff; directs and evaluates the work 
of subordinate staff and consultants. 

• Participates in LAFCo- related organizations and professional associations; 
Participates and represents LAFCo on various committees and organizations. 

• Respond to and resolve difficult and sensitive public inquiries and complaints; 
interpret and explain statutes, policies, and procedures to the public, other agencies, 
staff, and consultants. 

• Performs other related duties as required. 

 

EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS: 

 

Sufficient training, education and experience that demonstrate the ability to perform the above 
tasks and possession of the knowledge and abilities listed below. 

 

Four or more years of progressively responsible professional experience performing public 

sector planning, policy, and program analysis.  LAFCo work experience or working in a 

professional capacity in city or county planning, or public administration is highly desirable. 

 
A Master's degree in Public Administration or City and Regional Planning may be 
substituted for two (2) years of the required experience. A Master's degree in a closely related 



field (i.e. Business Administration) may be substituted for one (1) year of the required 
experience. 

 

Possession of a valid California Driver's License prior to appointment. 

 

Knowledge of: 

 

• Local Agency Formation Commission laws, practices, and procedures. 

• Statutory purposes of LAFCo and state and local regulations relating to LAFCo; 
Principles and practices of public administration, urban and regional land planning, and 
effective supervision and training; 

• Public administration and management principles, including budget preparation and 
control and effective supervision and training; 

• Federal, State, and local laws and regulations relating to the organization, financing, and 
functions of cities and special districts; 

• Research, analysis, and statistical methods applicable to management analysis; 
Communication techniques required for gathering, evaluating and informing; 

• State, local laws, and guidelines relating to environmental protection; Map reading. 

• Computer applications used in city and regional planning, including Geographical 
Information Systems Software. 

 

Ability to: 

• Reason logically and creatively and utilize a variety of analytical techniques to 
resolve complex and specialized problems. 

• Communicate and present concise, logical oral and written reports; Understand, interpret, 
and apply laws, policies, and procedures; 

• Plan, organize, and conduct work assignments under minimum direction or 
independently and meet deadlines; 

• Collect, interpret, and evaluate data of a complex and specialized nature; Write clear 
and concise reports; 

• Manage and coordinate large projects and studies; 

• Gain and maintain the confidence and cooperation of those contacted during the course 
of work, especially in sensitive relationships with representatives of departmental 
and other outside groups; 

• Supervise, train, and evaluate the work of subordinate staff and consultants; 

• Define problem areas; develop and evaluate alternatives; 

• Represent LAFCo and or act as LAFCo spokesperson. 

 

Desirable Work Style and Personal Traits: 

 

• Possess a high degree of integrity, be facilitative rather than confrontational in nature, 

work well with peers and supervisors as well as with difficult and sensitive organizational 

issues. 

• Possess a commitment to very high ethical standards and quality public services; 

• An active listener, supportive team builder; has strong interpersonal and 

communication skills, and demonstrates an energetic work style; 

• Embraces  challenges, i s   objective,  open- minded,  accountable,  and  is 

comfortable working in a complex political environment; 

• Able to establish and maintain cooperative and effective working relationships with a 

variety of representatives of public and private organizations, members of boards and 

commissions, legislative representatives, and the public; 



• Able to interact well and comfortably with individuals of diverse backgrounds; 

•  Able to approach challenges with confidence, and maintain positive, productive and ethical 

interaction with peers, the public, the Commission and elected officials, and; 

• Maintain a professional appearance. 

 


	December '24 Agenda Packet.pdf
	December 2024 Agenda.pdf
	CALL TO ORDER BY CHAIR
	ROLL CALL BY CLERK
	AGENDA REVIEW
	PUBLIC OPEN TIME
	CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS (discussion and possible action)
	PUBLIC HEARING
	BUSINESS ITEMS (discussion and possible action)  Business Items involve administrative, budgetary, legislative, or personnel matters and may or may not be subject to public hearings.
	EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT
	COMMISSIONER ANNOUNCEMENTS AND REQUESTS
	ADJOURNMENT TO NEXT MEETING

	Item 1 -  December '24 Minutes Memo.pdf
	AGENDA REPORT
	Background
	Discussion
	Staff Recommendation for Action
	Procedures for Consideration


	Item 1b - Oct '24 Minutes.pdf
	Item 2 - Ratification of Payments.pdf
	Item 2a - attachment.pdf
	Item 3 - 2025 Calendar.pdf
	AGENDA REPORT
	Procedures for Consideration


	Item 4 - 1386 Staff Memo.pdf
	Item 4b - Delayed Dual.pdf
	Item 4c - 1386 Application.pdf
	Item 4e - 1386 Sct. 56668.pdf
	Item 5 - 1387 Staff Memo.pdf
	Item 5b - Delayed Dual Annexation Agreement.pdf
	Item 5b - Map and Legal.pdf
	Item 5b - Resolution 24-11-c1.pdf
	RESOLUTION 24-11
	“Annexation of 260 Highland Ave., San Rafael (016- 021-64 ) into San Rafael Sanitary District. (LAFCo File #1387)


	Item 5e - 1386 Sct. 56668.pdf
	Item 6 - MSR Memo.pdf
	Item 6a - MSR PUBLIC DRAFT R.pdf
	EO A -Budget  Staff Report.pdf
	Background

	EO Aa - attachment.pdf
	EO B - C&P Memo.pdf
	EO Bb - C&P Chart 12-12-24.pdf
	EO C - Workplan Memo.pdf
	EO Cb - Workplan Chart 8-8-24.pdf
	EO D- CALAFCO Staff Report.pdf
	EO Da - Attachment 1.pdf
	EO Da - Attachment 2.pdf
	EO Da - Attachment 3.pdf
	EO E - DEO Staff Report.pdf
	EO Ea - Deputy Executive Officer JD.pdf
	SALARY RANGE
	DEFINITION:
	DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS:
	TYPICAL TASKS:
	EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS:
	Knowledge of:
	Ability to:
	Desirable Work Style and Personal Traits:



	Item 4b - Resolution 24-10.pdf
	RESOLUTION 24-10
	“Annexation of 335 Highland Ave. (APN 015-241-12 ) into San Rafael Sanitary District. (LAFCo File #1386)”


	December '24 Agenda Packet.pdf
	NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING AND AGENDA Marin Local Agency Formation Commission   
	PUBLIC ACCESS AND PUBLIC COMMENT INSTRUCTIONS  FOR HYBRID ATTENDEES 
	SPOKEN PUBLIC COMMENTS FOR HYBRID ATTENDEES: 
	CALL TO ORDER BY CHAIR   
	ROLL CALL BY CLERK 
	AGENDA REVIEW 
	PUBLIC OPEN TIME 
	CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS (discussion and possible action)     
	PUBLIC HEARING 
	BUSINESS ITEMS (discussion and possible action)  
	EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT 
	COMMISSIONER ANNOUNCEMENTS AND REQUESTS 
	ADJOURNMENT TO NEXT MEETING 
	AGENDA REPORT 
	Background 
	Discussion 
	Staff Recommendation for Action 
	Procedures for Consideration

	DRAFT NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING MINUTES   
	Marin Local Agency Formation Commission  
	CALL TO ORDER  
	ROLL CALL BY COMMISSION CLERK 
	AGENDA REVIEW  
	CLOSED SESSION   
	PUBLIC OPEN TIME 
	CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS   

	BUSINESS ITEMS  
	EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT (discussion and possible action) 
	AGENDA REPORT 
	Background 
	Staff Recommendation for Action 
	Procedures for Consideration

	Marin Local Agency Formation CommissionExpenses by Vendor DetailOctober through November 2024
	Marin Local Agency Formation CommissionExpenses by Vendor DetailOctober through November 2024
	Marin Local Agency Formation CommissionExpenses by Vendor DetailOctober through November 2024
	AGENDA REPORT 
	Background  
	Procedures for Consideration
	Staff Recommendation for Action

	AGENDA REPORT
	Background 
	Staff Recommendation for Action 

	MARIN LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION RESOLUTION 24-10 
	Resolution Approving the Annexation of 335 Highland Ave. into San Rafael Sanitary District with Waiver of Notice, Hearing, and Protest Proceedings and finding it Exempt from CEQA pursuant to state CEQA guideline Section 15319 
	“Annexation of 335 Highland Ave. (APN 015-241-12 ) into San Rafael Sanitary District. (LAFCo File #1386)” 


	CINQUINI & PASSARINO, INC. Professional Land Surveyors 1360 No. Dutton Avenue, Suite 150 Santa Rosa, CA 95401 (707) 542-6268 Job #10643-24  
	Exhibit “B”  
	Lamson Annexation San Rafael Sanitation District LAFCo File No. 1386  

	AGREEMENT REGARDING ANNEXATION OF REAL PROPERTY TO MARIN LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION
	AGENDA REPORT 
	Background 
	Staff Recommendation for Action 

	MARIN LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION RESOLUTION 24-11 
	Resolution Approving Annexation of 260 Highland Ave., San Rafael into San Rafael Sanitary District with Waiver of Notice, Hearing, and Protest Proceedings and finding it Exempt from CEQA pursuant to state CEQA guideline Section 15319 
	“Annexation of 260 Highland Ave., San Rafael (016- 021-64 ) into San Rafael Sanitary District. (LAFCo File #1387) 


	GEOGRAPHIC DESCRIPTION
	260 HIGHLAND AVENUE ANNEXATION  TO SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT (FILE 1387) Lands of Peirsol, APN 016-021-64 and a portion of Highland Avenue

	AGENDA REPORT 
	Background 
	Staff Recommendation for Action 

	Marin Local Agency Formation Commission 
	Municipal Service Review Central Marin Wastewater Study  

	PREFACE 
	Context  
	Commissioners, Staff, Municipal Service Review Preparers  
	Commissioners 
	Staff 
	MSR Preparers 


	List of Figures 
	1.0 INTRODUCTION
	1.1 ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITY OF LAFCO 
	Planning Responsibilities

	1.2 MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEWS
	1.3 MARIN LAFCO COMPOSITION
	2.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	2.1 AFFECTED PUBLIC AGENCIES
	2.2 PLANS, POLICIES, STUDIES 

	2.3 AGENCY AND PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
	2.4 WRITTEN DETERMINATIONS 
	3.0 DETERMINATIONS 
	4.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
	5.0 REGIONAL SETTING 
	6.0 CENTRAL MARIN SANITATION AGENCY
	6.1 OVERVIEW

	6.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
	6.3 SERVICE AREA 
	6.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
	6.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 
	Wastewater Collection and Treatment 

	6.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE
	Board of Commissioners 
	Administration 

	6.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY
	Meeting and Agendas

	6.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
	Debt

	7.0 MURRAY PARK SEWER MAINTENANCE DISTRICT
	7.1 OVERVIEW

	8.0 ROSS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
	8.1 OVERVIEW
	8.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 

	8.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
	8.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
	8.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 
	Wastewater Collection 
	Murray Park Sewer Maintenance District 

	8.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE
	Board of Directors 
	Administration 

	8.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY
	Meeting and Agendas
	Annual Budget Review 

	8.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
	Debt
	Financial Audit

	9.0 SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT 
	9.1 OVERVIEW 

	9.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
	9.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE
	9.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 
	Wastewater Collection 

	9.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE
	Board of Directors 
	Administration 

	9.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY
	Meeting and Agendas

	9.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
	Financial Audit

	10.0 SANITARY DISTRICT NO. 2 OF MARIN COUNTY 
	10.1 OVERVIEW

	10.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
	10.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE
	10.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
	10.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 
	Wastewater Collection 

	10.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 
	Board of Directors 

	10.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY 
	Meeting and Agendas 
	Annual Budget Review 

	10.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
	Financial Audit

	11.0 SAN QUENTIN VILLAGE SEWER MAINTENANCE DISTRICT 
	11.1 OVERVIEW
	11.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 

	11.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE
	11.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
	11.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 
	Wastewater Collection 

	11.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE
	Board of Directors 
	Administration 

	11.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY
	Meeting and Agendas
	Annual Budget Review 

	11.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
	12.0 LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
	12.1 OVERVIEW

	12.2 FORMATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
	12.3 DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 
	12.4 GROWTH AND POPULATION 
	12.5 MUNICIPAL SERVICES 
	Wastewater Collection/Treatment 

	Recycled Water 
	Solid Waste 

	12.6 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE
	Board of Directors 
	Administration 

	12.7 ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY
	Meeting and Agendas
	Annual Budget Review 

	12.8 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW  
	Debt 
	Financial Audit

	         AGENDA REPORT 
	Background 
	Attachment:  

	Marin Local Agency Formation CommissionFY25 BUDGET REPORTJuly 2024 through June 2025
	AGENDA REPORT 
	Background 
	Attachment


	LAFCo File #StatusProposalDescription Government AgencyLatest Update1386ProcessingAnnexation of 335 Highland Ave. into San Rafael Sanitary DistrictLandowner (Ronald Lamson) requesting approval to annex one parcel, approximately .97 acres, so they can get off septic and onto the sewer. The parcel has a situes address of 335 Highland Ave. and APN: 15-241-12San Rafael SanitaryOn todays agenda. See item 4.1387ProcessingAnnexation of 260 Highland Ave. into San Rafael Sanitary DistrictLandowner (Margreat Piersol) requesting approval to annex one parcel, approximately 1.49 acres, so they can get off septic and onto the sewer. The parcel has a situes address of 260 Highland Ave. and APN: 016- 021-64 San Rafael SanitaryOn todays agenda. See item 5.1388ProcessingAnnexation of the State of California Firing Range into Ross Valley Sanitary DistrictThe State of California is request approval to annex one parcel, approximately ____ acres, so they can get off septic and onto the sewer. The parcel has no situes address but on APN of 018-152-12Ross Valley Sanitary DistrictAwaiting updates to map and legal1382PendingReorganization of Redwood Highschool and Adjacent ParcelsAgency (Sanitary District 2) requesting approval to reorganize parcels including Redwood Highschool and seveveral adjacent parcels, so they can be placed into the correct district boundaries. Sanitary District 2 and Ross Valley Sanitary DistrictWill be on February or April Agenda conditional on Completion of the next MSR and SOI Update1381PendingReorganization of 7 Sunrise, Larkspur from Ross Valley Sanitary District and into Sanitary District 2.Agency (Sanitary District 2) requesting approval to reorganize one parcel of approximately .26 acres, so they can be placed into the correct district boundaries. The application has a situs address of 7 Sunrise Ln and APN 021-154-08.Sanitary District 2 and Ross Valley Sanitary DistrictWill be on February or April Agenda conditional on Completion of the next MSR and SOI Update1380PendingAnnexation of 5124 Paradise Dr, Corte Madera, 5044 Paradise Dr. and 4985 Ranch Rd, Tiburon into Sanitary District 2.Agency (Sanitary District 2) requesting approval to annex three parcels of approximately 3.09 acres, so they can be placed into the correct district boundaries. The application has a situs address of 5124 Paradise Dr, 5124 Paradise Dr. and 4985 Ranch Rd. with APN's 026-231-53, 038-022-63, 038-022-67, 038-022-68, 038-022-69, 038-022-70, 038-052-02Sanitary District 2Will be on February or April Agenda conditional on Completion of the next MSR and SOI Update1379PendingReorganization of 90 Edison 127 Pepper Ave from Sanitary District 2 to Ross Valley SD and Annexation of 100 Edison into Ross Valley SDAgency (Sanitary District 2) requesting approval to reorganize three parcels of approximately 2.94 acres, so they can be placed into the correct district boundaries. The application has situs addresses of 90 & 100 Edison and 127 Pepper Ave with APN's 025-011-33, 021-142-50, and 021-231-21 Sanitary District 2 and Ross Valley Sanitary District.Will be on February or April Agenda conditional on Completion of the next MSR and SOI Update1378PendingReorganization of 115,119,121 & 123 Elm Ave, Larkspur from Sanitary District 2 into Ross Valley Sanitary District.Agency (Sanitary District 2) requesting approval to reorganize three parcels of approximately 1.967 acres, so they can be placed into the correct district boundaries. The application has situs addresses of115,119,121 & 123 Elm Ave, Larkspur with APN'024-062-47, 024-062-51, 024-062-53, 024-062-52.Sanitary District 2 and Ross Valley Sanitary District.Will be on February or April Agenda conditional on Completion of the next MSR and SOI Update1383ApprovedOut of Service Agreement between Tamalpais CSD, Homestead Valley SD and Almonte SD.Tamalpais CSD is requesting approval of an Out of Service Agreement between Homestead Valley SD and Almonte SD to allow them to provide sanitary services to several parcels within Tam CSD's boundaries. Tamalpais CSD, Homestead Valley SD and Almonte SDApproved by Executive Officer based on Government Code section 56133(e) (1). EO Approved on 8/5/20241384ApprovedAnnexation of 2 Hansen Rd. to Novato Sanitary DistrictLandowner (Annie Ernst) requesting approval to annex one parcel, approximately .403 acres, so they can obtain permanent connection after receiving an emergency OSA earlier this year. The parcel has a situes address of 2 Hansen Rd. and APN: 146-061-14.Novato Sanitary DistrictApproved on 8/8/241385ApprovedOut of Service Agreement between Inverness Public Utility District (IPUD) and North Marin Water District (NMWD)On September 11th, 2024, NMWD and IPUD jointly submitted an OSA in which water services will be provided by IPUD within the boundaries of NMWD,Inverness Public Utility District and North Marin Water DistrictApproved by Executive Officer based on Government Code section 56133(e) (1). EO Approved on 9/24/2024
	AGENDA REPORT 
	Background 

	AGENDA REPORT 
	Background 

	SUBJECT:  FY26 CALAFCO Dues and Related Concerns   
	SUBJECT: Review of CALAFCO Membership Status for FY 25/26
	AGENDA REPORT 
	Background 

	Marin LAFCo Deputy Executive Officer
	SALARY RANGE
	DEFINITION: 
	DISTINGUISHING CHARACTERISTICS: 
	TYPICAL TASKS: 


	EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS: 
	Knowledge of:
	Ability to:
	Desirable Work Style and Personal Traits:





